NCE REPORT 07-001



Review of Existing and Future Potential Treatments for Reducing Underwater Sound from Oil and Gas Industry Activities

Jesse Spence Ray Fischer Mike Bahtiarian Leo Boroditsky Nathan Jones Ron Dempsey

December 31, 2007

<u>Prepared for</u>: Joint Industry Programme on E&P Sound and Marine Life 209-215 Blackfriars Road, London SE1 8NL, UK

<u>Prepared by</u>: NOISE CONTROL ENGINEERING, Inc. 799 Middlesex Turnpike Billerica, MA 01821 978-670-5339 978-667-7047 (fax) nonoise@noise-control.com http://www.noise-control.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES	III
LIST OF TABLES	IV
0.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1.0 INTRODUCTION	7
2.0 METHODOLOGY	8
3.0 SOURCES	
3.1 SOURCE LIST	
3.2 Source Details	
3.2.1 Seismic Surveys	
3.2.2 Pile Driving	
3.2.3 Explosives	
3.2.4 Vessels	
3.2.4.1 Propeller and Thruster Noise	
3.2.4.2 Machinery Noise	
<u>3.2.4.3 Sea-connected Systems</u>	
3.2.5 Dredges	
3.2.6 Post Trenching	
3.2.7 Underwater Hand Tools	
3.2.8 Drilling and Production Platforms	
3.2.8.2 Semisubmersible Platforms	
3.2.8.3 Drillships	
<u>3.2.8.4 FPSO</u>	
3.2.8.5 Deep Water Floating Platforms	
3.2.8.6 Gravel Islands	
3.2.8.7 Caissons	
3.2.9 Hovercraft	31
3.2.10 Aircraft	
3.2.11 Pipelines	
4.0 TREATMENTS	
4.1 Seismic Source Treatments	
4.2 PILE DRIVING TREATMENTS	
4.3 TREATMENTS FOR EXPLOSIVES	
4.4 VESSEL TREATMENTS	41
4.4.1 Propeller and Thruster Treatments	41
4.4.2 Machinery Treatments	44
4.4.3 Sea Connected System Treatments	46
4.5 DREDGE TREATMENTS	
4.6 Post Trenching Treatments	48
4.7 HAND TOOL TREATMENTS	48
4.8 DRILLING AND PRODUCTION PLATFORM TREATMENTS	
4.8.1 Treatments for Free Standing Platforms, Including Fixed Platforms and Gravel Islands	50
4.8.2 Treatments for Floating Structures, Including Semisubmersibles, Drillships, and FPSOs, and	
Platforms	
4.9 HOVERCRAFT TREATMENTS	52
4.10 AIRCRAFT TREATMENTS	52
4.11 Pipeline Treatments	53

REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A – COMPILED LIST OF UNDERWATER NOISE TREATMENTS	69
SECTION SE – SEISMIC EXPLORATION TREATMENTS	
SECTION PD – PILE DRIVING TREATMENTS	
SECTION EX – TREATMENTS FOR EXPLOSIVES	110
SECTION PT – PROPELLER AND THRUSTER TREATMENTS	
SECTION MV – MACHINERY VIBRATION TREATMENTS	149
SECTION MA – MACHINERY AIRBORNE AND SECONDARY STRUCTUREBORNE TREATMENTS	161
SECTION FB – FLUIDBORNE TREATMENTS	
SECTION HC – HOVERCRAFT TREATMENTS	
SECTION AC – AIRCRAFT TREATMENTS	175
APPENDIX B – WORKSHOP ANNOUNCEMENT	
APPENDIX C – DESCRIPTIONS OF VARIOUS METRICS	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1: CUTAWAY DIAGRAM OF AN AIR GUN	12
FIGURE 2: COMPARISON OF UNDERWATER NOISE FROM VARIOUS VESSELS	
FIGURE 3: SKETCH OF APPROXIMATE UNDERWATER NOISE SPECTRUM FROM CAVITATING	
PROPELLERS	17
FIGURE 4: EXAMPLE OF NON-UNIFORM FLOW INTO PROPELLER.	18
FIGURE 5: EXAMPLE PRESSURE DISTRIBUTION OVER PROPELLER BLADE BACK & FACE	
FIGURE 6: HYPOTHETICAL EXAMPLE OF UNDERWATER RADIATED NOISE VS. PROPELLER RPM	
FOR TWO VESSELS WITH DIFFERENT CAVITATION INCEPTION SPEEDS	
FIGURE 7: DIAGRAM ILLUSTRATING THREE SIGNIFICANT PATHS OF UNDERWATER NOISE	
GENERATION FROM MACHINERY	22
FIGURE 8: EXAMPLES OF DIFFERENT DREDGE TYPES	22
FIGURE 9: DIAGRAM SHOWING CONCEPTS OF DIRECT TRANSMISSION AIRBORNE-TO-	
UNDERWATER SOUND.	32
FIGURE SE1: PICTURE OF AIRGUN SILENCER	72
FIGURE SE2A(1): PICTURE OF COMBUSTION DRIVEN PISTON 'LACS'	
FIGURE SE2A(2): DIAGRAM OF COMBUSTION DRIVEN PISTON 'LACS'	
FIGURE SE2A(3): TYPICAL OUTPUT OF LACS	
FIGURE SE2B(1): PICTURE OF ELECTRICALLY DRIVEN MARINE VIBRATOR	
FIGURE SE2B(2): DIAGRAM OF ELECTRICALLY DRIVEN MARINE VIBRATOR	
FIGURE SE2C: EXAMPLE OF TUNABLE PIPE ORGAN	
FIGURE SE2C: EARWINE OF VORABLET IN E OROARV	
DATA COLLECTION	
FIGURE SE6: DIAGRAM OF AIR CURTAIN BARRIER	
FIGURE SE7: EXAMPLE OF A SHEAR WAVE GENERATOR	
FIGURE PD1A(1): EXAMPLES OF BUBBLE CURTAIN RINGS	
FIGURE PD1A(2): BUBBLE CURTAIN 'TREE'	
FIGURE PD1B: CONFINED BUBBLE CURTAIN	
FIGURE PD2: EXAMPLE H-PILE	
FIGURE PD3: EXAMPLES OF PILE CAPS	
FIGURE PD4: EXAMPLES OF INTERNALLY LINED BARRIER	
FIGURE PD7: SUCTION PILE EXAMPLES	
FIGURE PD8: PRESS-IN PILING MACHINE.	
FIGURE PD9: DRILLED, CAST-IN-PLACE PROCESS	
FIGURE EX1: EXAMPLES OF SHAPED CHARGE	
FIGURE EX2: CONCEPT OF RADIAL HOLLOW CHARGE	
FIGURE EX3: CONCEPT OF SHOCK WAVE FOCUSING CHARGE	
FIGURE EX8: BOREHOLE CAPPING CONCEPT	
FIGURE EX9(1): EXAMPLES OF DIAMOND WIRE CUTTERS	
FIGURE EX9(1). EXAMPLES OF DIAMOND WIRE COTTERS	
FIGURE PT2A: EXAMPLE OF DUCTED PROPELLER	
FIGURE PT2A: EXAMPLE OF DUCTED PROPELLER FIGURE PT2B: COMPARISON OF CONVENTIONAL AND FORWARD-SKEW PROPELLER BLADES	
FIGURE PT26: COMPARISON OF CONVENTIONAL AND FORWARD-SREW PROPELLER BLADES FIGURE PT2C: DIAGRAM OF RING PROPELLER	
FIGURE PT2C: DIAGRAM OF KING PROFELLER FIGURE PT3: COMBINATION DROP / TUNNEL THRUSTER	
FIGURE PT4(1): Z-DRIVE PROPULSION SYSTEM FIGURE PT4(2): AZIPOD PROPULSION SYSTEM	.130
FIGURE PT6: EPS THRUSTER FIGURE PT7: VOITH SCHNEIDER PROPULSION SYSTEM	
FIGURE PT11: DIAGRAM OF PROPELLER BUBBLE EMISSION	
FIGURE PT12: DIAGRAM OF VARIOUS BUBBLE EMISSION SYSTEMS	
FIGURE PT13: ANTI-SINGING EDGE	
FIGURE PT14: EXAMPLE OF FOULED THRUSTER	
FIGURE MV1A(1): EXAMPLES OF RESILIENT MOUNTS FOR MACHINERY	
FIGURE MV1A(2): DIAGRAM OF MOUNTING CONCEPT	.151

FIGURE MA1: TYPICAL EXHAUST SILENCER	
FIGURE MA4: BARRIER EFFECTIVENESS	
FIGURE FB1(1): FLEXIBLE HOSE IN DOGLEG CONFIGURATION	168
FIGURE FB1(2): EXAMPLE OF DOUBLE ARCH PIECE	169
FIGURE FB2A: IN-LINE PULSATION DAMPER	170
FIGURE FB2B: PARALLEL PULSATION DAMPER	171
FIGURE AC1: HUSH KIT EXAMPLE	176
FIGURE AC3: DIAGRAM OF NOTAR CONCEPT	178

LIST OF TABLES

Acknowledgements

The project described in this report was funded by the Joint Industry Programme on E&P Sound and Marine Life (JIP) through Contract JIP22 06/18. Noise Control Engineering (NCE) would like to thank the members of the JIP and the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers (OGP) for their support of this work, and specifically Dr. Bill Streever (BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc.), Project Manager, for his guidance.

NCE would also like to thank everyone who participated in the workshop that was held as part of this work, particularly those who gave presentations (listed in Appendix B), and those who provided valuable information and assistance in identifying treatments or supplying supplementary / explanatory information. This includes the following individuals (in alphabetical order by last name):

Jens Abrahamsen, Naxys AS Bjørn Askeland, University of Bergen Kyle Baker, NOAA National Marine Fisheries Mary Jo Barkaszi, The GeoCet Group Neal Brown, Neal Brown and Associates, Inc. Scott Carr, Jasco Research Michael Carter, Giken America Corp. Ross Chapman, Earth and Ocean Sciences Department, University of Victoria, British Columbia, Canada Joke Coen, Anadarko Petroleum Corporation Julie Crocker, NOAA Protected Resources Division Zoe Crutchfield, Joint Nature Conservation Committee Jeffrey Denton, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior Hal Dreyer, Gunderboom, Inc. William Ellison, Marine Acoustics, Inc. Peter Gerstoft, Marine Physical Laboratory, University of California, San Diego James Hall, ExxonMobil Upstream Research Company Terri Jordan, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Kristen Koyama, NOAA Protected Resources Division Jim Laughlin, Washington State Department of Transportation Klaus Lucke, Forschungs- und Technologiezentrum Westkueste, University of Kiel Tom McGee, University of Mississippi Center for Marine Resources and Environmental Technology John Micketts, Gunderboom Inc. Kyle Monkelien, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior Jeremy Nedwell, Subacoustech Ltd. Mark Riemers, SPT Offshore Carol Roden, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior Warren Ross, ExxonMobil Upstream Research Co. Richard Seaborne, BP Exploration (Azerbaijan) Inc. Pete Sloan, Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior Brandon Southall, NOAA Fisheries Acoustics Program Rune Tenghamn, PGS Marine Geophysical

Sarah Tsoflias, International Association of Geophysical Contractors David White, University of Western Australia, School of Civil and Resource Engineering

Lastly, NCE would like to thank Dr. Neal Brown for his review and editorial comments of propeller noise generation and treatments for this report.

0.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Noise Control Engineering, Inc. (NCE) has been contracted by the Joint Industry Programme on E&P Sound and Marine Life (JIP) to compile, assess, and summarize information on technologies capable of reducing underwater sounds created by oil and gas industry activities. The purpose of this study is to investigate current and future potential treatment options for all sources of underwater sound, including sources associated with exploration, construction, transport, drilling, and production. Information was collected from various sources including technical and trade journal articles, contacts with representatives of companies that produce or develop noise control products and technologies, contacts with members of academia, and information provided directly by members of JIP and the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers (OGP). Additional information was collected through a workshop, organized and hosted by NCE and held on June 4-5, 2007, where members of JIP/OGP, the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), US Minerals Management Service (MMS), the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and members of industry and academia discussed the research results that had been attained thus far as well as additional methods for reducing underwater noise.

In order to effectively identify treatments for reducing noise from any noise source, the mechanisms of noise creation must be known. For some sources such as air gun shots in open water, the mechanisms are largely straight-forward. However for other sources such as vessels and drilling platforms, multiple potential noise makers and noise paths are possible and the most pertinent mechanisms must be identified before effective treatments can be implemented. Because of this fact, this work was divided into two tasks: 1) identification of specific sources (or 'noise makers'), sound generation mechanisms, and noise paths that are most significant for a given activity, and 2) identification of possible treatments for those sources / mechanisms / paths.

The following is a brief summary of the methods of noise creation for various oil and gas industry activities and the treatments or alternative methods that have been identified as part of this work. Note that some treatments currently exist and could be implemented today. Other treatments still require further research in order to become viable commercial solutions, but hold potential for being useful methods of reducing underwater sound. Note that this report was written with the intention of presenting possible sound reduction options to those who may decide underwater noise reduction is needed for a given activity or those who must meet specific underwater noise requirements (either now or in the future). The identification of treatments for specific sources should not imply that any particular treatment is required.

• Seismic Exploration – Current seismic exploration techniques commonly use air guns to generate sound in the water. Air guns radiate sound directly into the water through the rapid expansion of compressed air. This creates a short duration impulse with high peak amplitude; spectral content can extend to many thousands of Hertz (Hz). The useful frequency range for seismic exploration is typically 5-100 Hz, and as such air guns (and other seismic sources) produce 'extra' sound at frequencies that may be of concern to animals. Only one attempt to reduce noise from air guns was found – an "air gun silencer". This treatment showed a maximum of 6 dB of attenuation at frequencies above 700 Hz for 50 bar air guns. The silencer uses an acoustically absorbent foam rubber that is oriented radially around the air gun. This treatment is currently a 'proof of concept' design and would require

future research to become a viable solution. Similar, modified approaches may be possible that yield greater effectiveness and could be made into a commercial product. Several alternatives to conventional seismic sources have been identified. Electro-mechanical and petrol-driven acoustic projectors have been prototyped and show large reductions (30-65+ dB) in sound level above 100 Hz. Sound reduction at frequencies below 100 Hz is also possible through the use of alternative source signals and advanced cross-correlation processing procedures (published data shows a reduction on the order of 15 dB below 100 Hz). These systems are currently in development and may be commercially available in a few years. Tunable pipe organ seismic sources have also been used as replacements for existing sources, but are so far limited to higher frequency output (above 200 Hz). Other possible replacements for current seismic exploration methods include techniques that use sound from passing vessels, background sound of the ocean, and background seismic sounds instead of air guns or other conventional seismic sources. These techniques require longer acquisition times than the conventional survey, and may not be well suited for exploration of new areas. However, these techniques may work well in Life-of-Field applications where the area of interest has already been established, and would reduce or remove the need for mobilization of additional surveys of a given area. Electromagnetic surveys, shear wave generators, and air curtains have also been investigated.

- **Pile Driving** Underwater noise from pile driving is believed to be dominated by radiation from the pile itself, although flanking paths through the ground have been identified as possible secondary influences. Other flanking paths may include transmission through barges where equipment is located and direct transmission from airborne noise created during hammer impacts. It is believed that vibratory piling methods create lower noise levels on average than impact methods by 10-20 dB, although a cost increase on the order of 2-3x for equipment can be expected. Suction piles present one of the largest opportunities to greatly reduce noise while potentially increasing installation speed. Noise from suction pile installation is expected to be very low since the only noise source is a suction pump located above water. Suction piles can be used in both deep and shallow waters. Press-in piling machines use static forces to drive piles into place, thus removing impulsive sound sources. They have been used in many environmentally sensitive applications due to their low noise design, including on beaches during turtle migration season. Press-in piling machines are semi-automated, and can minimize or even improve production speed. These machines can be used in a wide range of applications, and installations can be performed in shallow and deep waters. Bubble curtains of various types have been used in many shallow water applications with reductions in peak level and energy metrics ranging from 5-20+ dB. Other sound-blocking treatments include physical barriers and dewatered cofferdams, and have similar effectiveness. For practical reasons, these treatments are limited to shallow waters. Pile caps have also been used with good results, although the effect on piling efficiency needs to be studied further. Drilled, cast in place piles may be a low-noise option to replace current piling methods, but further research is needed.
- **Explosives** Explosives radiate sound (and shock waves) directly into the water. Primary attempts at mitigation have focused around the use of bubble curtains as described above. Physical barriers can also be used in a similar manner. Again, these treatments are limited to shallow water but good results have been attained. Alternative explosives such as shaped

charges, radial hollow charges, and shock-wave focusing techniques hold potential for making modest to large reductions in sound levels, although more data is needed. Shaped charges are currently being used and are preferred by some due to their focused, 'clean' cutting ability. Reductions in peak level on the order of 4 dB have been measured, with energy reductions on the order of 10 dB. Acoustic data on radial hollow charges and shock-wave focusing could not be found. Blasting mats similar to what is currently used on land may also be an option for sound reduction, but no data are currently available regarding effectiveness. When boreholes are used to remove obstacles, the hole should be capped with an inert material such as crushed rock; this can provide significant reductions in peak sound pressure. Slow burn rate explosives produce impulses that are much longer in duration and with slower rise times than conventional explosives; fewer fish mortalities have been observed when slow-burn explosives are used. Cutting tools are an alternative to explosives that can greatly reduce sound levels. Noise levels are estimated to be on the order of 80 dB lower when using cutting methods vs. explosives, and high level impulsive sounds are removed. However the time required for these techniques is longer than for explosives use.

Vessels (Propellers and Thrusters) – Underwater noise from vessels is often dominated by propeller and thruster cavitation, particularly when operating at full speed or when positioning thrusters are operating. Many options for reducing noise from propellers and thrusters currently exist and have been implemented on a large number of commercial vessels to-date. Good propeller design, including large diameter, slow turning props, as well as blade shapes optimized to flow conditions, increased skew, and hull modifications to improve flow conditions are effective ways to reduce underwater noise. These modifications can potentially increase propulsion performance on some vessels, although decreases in performance are also possible. Ducted propellers and thrusters can also be designed to have significantly lower noise levels, particularly when outfitted with unconventional 'forwardskew' blades. Drop thrusters, Z-drives, and podded propulsion systems can be effective at reducing underwater sound by moving the thruster or propeller to locations with better flow conditions. Waterjets are excellent alternatives for high speed craft normally operating between 30 and 45 knots – propulsion efficiency is higher than for conventional open propellers, and noise can also be significantly reduced due to vastly increased cavitation inception speeds. Voith Schneider and rim drive propulsion systems, as well as alternative rudder designs, can reduce underwater noise and are evaluated in this report. Foul release coatings have been shown to provide some attenuation at certain frequencies, although this reduction is dependent on the operating conditions and increases in noise can occur. Propellers made from composite materials may also provide noise reductions due to the different shape options that are possible compared with conventional metal propellers. Various air bubble injection systems have been employed on some craft with large sound reductions at higher frequencies (above 500 Hz); however these systems are often plagued with issues of marine growth and can easily clog if not properly maintained. Special modifications to the trailing edge of propeller blades have been shown to eliminate 'singing propeller' problems. Lastly, the importance of regular maintenance is stressed in order to identify problems such as bent or broken blades or marine growth that can drastically increase noise and reduce propulsion efficiency.

- **Vessels (Machinery Noise)** Machinery induced noise on vessels becomes dominant below cavitation inception speeds (8-12 knots on many commercial vessels) and can be significant at frequencies below 200 Hz even at full speed. As is the case with propellers and thrusters, treatments for machinery induced noise have been implemented on many commercial vessels and are readily available. Vibration from large machinery such as power generation and propulsion equipment are likely to be the most significant sources / paths of underwater sound, with possible additional contributions from large pumps and compressors. Airborne and "secondary structureborne" noise paths can also be important in some cases. Selection of inherently quiet machinery is the best option for noise reduction as this results in essentially no impacts on weight or space. Resilient mounting of machinery is a relatively low cost method of achieving significant reductions in underwater noise caused by machinery vibration. Options for mounting of individual items or multiple items on a common "floating deck" have been established and are commonly used in practice. Various damping methods are also available for added noise reduction from structureborne and secondary structureborne paths. Air bubble layers located along the underside of the hull have been used to reduce noise from all paths and multiple sources on many vessels; as noted above for propeller and thruster noise, these systems can become fouled if not properly maintained. Hull decoupling materials have also been used for similar purposes. Cladding treatments in machinery spaces such as fiberglass or mineral wool can be used to reduce airborne and secondary structureborne effects. Machinery enclosures can also be used for the same purpose, and have a slight improvement in effectiveness; however implementation generally requires greater engineering efforts and spatial impacts. Sea connected systems ("fluidborne paths") can also create detectable noise levels on vessels, although this is usually a concern only for very quiet vessels. Various flexible piping options exist to reduce noise from the fluidborne path, as well as multiple pulsation damper options.
- **Dredges** Underwater noise from dredges is believed to be largely due to on-board machinery or propellers and thrusters (when present and operating). The limited available data indicates that noise produced at the dredging head is less significant than other machinery sources. As a result, treatments for dredges are similar to those described for vessels, although the specific machinery items requiring treatment will likely include items specific to dredging operations (i.e. dredging pumps). Additional data is necessary to better quantify the contributions from the dredge head relative to other sources.
- **Post Trenching** Extremely limited information was found regarding underwater noise levels for post trenching, and no treatments were identified specifically for post trenching machines. It is believed that since trenching machines are towed by vessels, vessel noise is likely to be the dominant source of noise. As such, application of vessel treatments would be appropriate here. Additional information is needed in order to make a more informed determination of significant noise makers and treatments.
- Hand Tools Noise measurements of underwater hand tools were found in one reference; some tools such as the Cox Bolt Gun can reportedly produce peak sound levels on the order of those seen during pile driving. No attempts to reduce underwater sound from these sources were identified. Some limited suggestions on noise reduction are provided in this report. Additional study is needed in order to provide more accurate recommendations.

• **Platforms** – Noise from production and drilling platforms is often dominated by vessel noise. As such, vessels supporting these platforms should be treated individually. In some cases it may be possible to develop methods that allow vessels to moor or otherwise secure themselves to platforms or other structures so that they can turn off their thrusters (which is the dominant source of noise). Such approaches should obviously be employed only when practical and when safety issues can be effectively resolved.

Noise levels from platforms vary depending on the platform type. When vessel contributions are removed, drillships have the highest source levels, followed by semisubmersibles, FPSOs, and other floating platforms. Fixed platforms have lower underwater radiated noise levels than floating platforms, and gravel islands appear to have the lowest source levels of any oil and gas industry activity. Underwater levels from platforms containing positioning thrusters are highest when thrusters are operating. Thruster treatments described for vessels are applicable here. It is suggested that platforms be moored whenever possible to avoid thruster use.

Little information has been published as to which sources and paths are most significant in creating underwater noise from platforms. Given the available information, it is believed that vibration from large power generation equipment is likely to be a dominant cause of underwater noise for all platform types. Other large equipment items such as turbines, compressors, and large pumps (e.g. mud pumps) may also play a significant role in certain circumstances, particularly when they are hard mounted directly to the supporting structure. Vibration treatments described for vessels such as use of low-vibration equipment and resilient mounting can also be applied here. The significance of airborne and secondary structureborne paths will depend on the specific platform type and construction, but these paths are believed to be more significant for floating platforms. Airborne noise paths through hull plating can be important on platforms where equipment is located below the waterline. Direct airborne transmission into the water can also be a secondary source of noise for equipment located near the edge of platforms or supported over open gratings with a line-of sight path to the water. Some airborne and secondary structureborne treatments described for vessels are applicable here, such as cladding treatments and enclosures. Identification of significant equipment items and selection of treatments will depend heavily on the equipment type, its location in the platform, and the desired noise goals.

It is noted that some radiation from drill string casings may occur as a result of the various activities that take place within the casings. However, published data of measurements taken at various aspects around a drillship indicate this radiation may not be significant when compared to other paths. Additional study is required in order to better quantify the significance of this path. It is indicated in the literature that noise generated by the drill head itself does not appear to be a significant source of noise.

• **Hovercraft** – Underwater noise from hovercraft was found to be caused primarily from the propulsion fan, although contributions from the lift fans are also possible. Underwater noise is created through direct airborne transmission to the water. Therefore treatments that reduce airborne noise will also reduce underwater noise. Modifications to the fan blades and inflow

/ outflow characteristics have been identified as most practical. It is noted that hovercraft produce underwater sound levels that are much lower than for conventional vessels; use of hovercraft instead of conventional vessels may be an appropriate form of noise control for some applications.

- Aircraft Aircraft, including jet airplanes, propeller planes, and helicopters, also produce underwater noise through direct airborne transmission. The major sources for jet planes include the jet engines themselves, while propellers and rotors are usually dominant for prop planes and helicopters, respectively. Propeller and helicopter motors appear to be secondary for conventional designs. "Hush kits" are available for jet engines and can reduce noise upwards of 10 dB at some frequencies. Similar to hovercraft fans and ship propellers, modifications to propeller and rotor geometry can result in reduced airborne and underwater noise. Newer aircraft are expected to be quieter than those manufactured 10 20+ years ago due to increased noise restrictions and regulations imposed at airports. These regulations focus on human hearing, so the primary reductions in noise are at frequencies that are most pertinent to humans. NoTAR ("No Tail Rotor") designs for helicopter have been proposed as a possible method to reduce noise; 0-7 dB reductions in overall level have been reported.
- **Pipelines** No studies of pipeline noise or treatments were identified in the literature, and its significance relative to other sources was not found. It is suggested that pipeline noise may be caused by pump(s) attached to the pipeline, and therefore flexible connections and/or pulsation dampers may be effective treatments. Turbulence in the fluid may also cause noise and would need to be assessed on a case-by-case basis. Possible causes of turbulence are high flow velocities past a bend, orifice, etc. Additional study is needed.

A complete annotated table of treatments identified as part of this work is provided in Appendix A.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Noise Control Engineering, Inc. (NCE) has been contracted by the Joint Industry Programme on E&P Sound and Marine Life¹ (JIP) to compile, assess, and summarize information on technologies capable of reducing underwater sounds from oil and gas industry activities. The goal of this work is to create a reasonably comprehensive database of currently available and future potential treatments that can reduce the underwater radiated sound from all oil and gas industry activities. JIP's interest in funding this work is to be able to identify methods of limiting the anthropogenic sound created by oil and gas industry activities in order to reduce the effects of these sounds on marine life.

When quantifying reductions in sound level from a given treatment, there are many metrics that can be used. Some of these metrics include long-term overall average level, sound levels at specific frequencies (applied both to short and long duration sounds), impulse peak amplitude (positive and negative peaks), impulse rise time, energy metrics, and even particle velocity. Each of these metrics can be important in a given context. For example, the negative impulsive pressure peak level, impulsive rise time, or total length of an impulse may be important when determining fish mortality, while long term sound levels over certain frequency bands may be important for determining whale avoidance criteria. Some of these metrics overlap, and there is not necessarily a consensus on which metrics are best suited for prediction of a given effect. To account for these issues, this report attempts to identify reductions (or increases) in sound using as many metrics are pertinent to their particular application. Detailed descriptions of the metrics used in this report are provided in Appendix C.

When describing the effectiveness of a given treatment, this report generally provides changes in sound pressure level or energy in either decibels (dB) or absolute level. These values could also be expressed as changes in an 'affected radius' for a given sound source or level (i.e. a reduction in sound produced by a source would reduce the radius at which that source produces a given level). Since much of the literature uses the former approach, this method was adopted for this report as well. This also removes many of the complications associated with path effects that can vary for different locations and situations

This report is not intended to evaluate the potential impact of a given noise reduction on marine life, nor establish particular noise goals. Furthermore, the information and statements in this paper should not imply an obligation to use any particular abatement method. The treatments described in this report are provided as a reference for any group or individual who determines underwater noise reductions are necessary (either now or in the future), or is tasked with achieving a certain noise goal for a given activity. Methods of reducing impacts or noise exposure to marine life such as acoustic deterrent systems, gradual increase of acoustic energy (e.g. ramp-up methods currently used for seismic surveys), and visual or acoustic detection of marine life are not discussed here. This work does not attempt to characterize 'source levels' from oil and gas industry activities (which is the subject of another JIP funded project), except to give a general rank to help focus research efforts (see Section 2).

¹ www.soundandmarinelife.org

This report is divided into four sections, plus appendices. Section 2 provides general information on the methodology used to perform this study. Section 3 describes the sources identified for this study as well as notes on specific noise generation mechanisms and pertinent noise paths. Section 4 provides notes on specific treatments for each source type. An annotated table of treatments identified in this study is provided in Appendix A. Appendix B is a copy of the announcement for the Workshop that was held as part of these efforts, and includes a listing of presenters. Appendix C provides a description of the various metrics that are referenced in this report.

2.0 METHODOLOGY

This section describes the general approach used by NCE to research and create a database of treatments for underwater sound. Information was collected from various sources of information including technical and trade journal articles, contacts with representatives of companies that produce, own, or are developing noise control products and technologies, contacts with members of academia, and data provided directly by members of JIP and the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers (OGP). Additional information was collected through a workshop, organized and hosted by NCE and held on June 4-5, 2007, attended by members of JIP/OGP, the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), US Minerals Management Service (MMS), the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and members of industry and academia. Methods for reducing underwater sound that had been uncovered in the research leading up to the workshop were presented to the attendees, both by NCE and by others with direct experience in a particular approach. These techniques were discussed amongst the group, and comments and new ideas were presented. Information and conclusions that resulted from these presentations and discussions have been implemented in this report. Such information is noted in this report as coming from the "Workshop" without further reference. Appendix B provides the workshop schedule which includes a list of speakers.

In order to effectively identify treatments for reducing noise from any noise source, the mechanisms of noise creation must be known. As a result, it was necessary to perform this study in two parts: 1) identification of sound sources, including pertinent sound radiation mechanisms, and 2) treatment identification. To initiate the study, a list of oil and gas industry activities and acoustic sources was developed, and a rough estimate of the underwater acoustic 'source level' and affected radius were determined based on published literature and available information². The sources were then ranked in order of importance based on this information. Sources that tend to create higher noise levels or are detectable at larger distances were ranked as more significant, taking into account duration of noise events. This ranking was used to focus research efforts into identifying treatments for those sources that are most significant with regards to the creation of underwater noise.

As part of this task, NCE attempted to identify pertinent 'noise makers' that may be part of a particular source or activity - a diesel engine providing power to a drilling platform, for example - as well as relevant noise paths that lead to underwater sound. This information is imperative if effective and cost efficient treatments are to be identified and developed. If more than one

 $^{^2}$ Detailed sound level identification is not the focus of this study, but is rather the focus of a separate JIP funded study. Absolute source level information is not provided in this report.

possible noise maker or path was possible from a given source type, then these were also ranked in order of significance. Greater research efforts were given to higher ranked sources / radiation mechanisms.

The second part of the study involved identifying specific treatments of sources and noise paths. Information on treatment effectiveness as well as details on treatment implementation, costs, environmental impacts, and other non-acoustical impacts such as changes to space or weight, was collected from the literature, vendors, and other sources when available. As was discussed in Section 1, many metrics are used in the literature to describe a reduction (or increase) in sound level. NCE has included as many of these metrics as possible with the purpose of allowing the reader to determine which metric is most beneficial for their application. In the process of identifying feasible and useful treatments, NCE pursued those treatments that either showed proven results or significant potential for underwater noise reduction. If a treatment was found to not be feasible or have limited application, further investigations were reduced.

3.0 SOURCES

This section provides details of the sources investigated for this study. Section 3.1 provides a complete source list with a 'significance ranking' assigned by NCE (see Section 2). Section 3.2 provides details on the mechanisms for underwater noise generation for each source. (Treatment information is provided in Section 4 and Appendix A.)

3.1 Source List

Table 1 provides a list of the sources that were investigated in this study. Also included are the approximate frequency ranges affected by each source and the associated ranking given by NCE. Rank values range from 1 to 5, with 1 being most significant. As was stated in Section 2, this ranking was based on the approximate overall source level for the source type, the affected or detectable range from the source, and duration or prominence of sounds.

It is important to point out that the total range of overall sound levels for all sources covers a span of over 150 dB, so it is necessary to have each rank value cover a wide range of source levels. For example, explosives are ranked in category 1, but even within the explosives group there is a wide range of possible source levels, spanning 20 dB or more in overall level, depending on the size of the explosive and other factors. Another example is vessel noise, which can range by 30 dB or more depending on the specific vessel type and operating condition. This table is not meant to show equality between the various types of sources as much as it is a tool that was used by NCE to broadly group sources and focus research efforts. Source level characterization is not the goal of this report, but is the subject of a separately funded JIP effort.

Category	Source Type	Frequency Range	Rank (1-5)
SEISMIC EXPLORATION	Explosives	Broadband components from low frequencies (<10 Hz) to 10s of kHz. Highest at frequencies < 1000 Hz	1
	Air Gun	Primary components <120 Hz Broadband components up to 20+ kHz	1
CONSTRUCTION In	Impact Pile Driving	Broadband components from low frequencies (<10 Hz) to 10s of kHz. Highest at frequencies < 1000 Hz	1
	Explosives	Broadband components from low frequencies (<10 Hz) to 10s of kHz. Highest at frequencies < 1000 Hz	1
	Dredges	20 – 6000+ Hz (Higher with propulsion)	2-3*
	Post Trenching / Jetting	N/A	N/A
	Underwater Hand Tools	100 to 1000+ Hz	2-5*
VESSELS	Tankers		1
	OSV/PSV	Broadband components	1-2
	Tug/Tow Boats (work boats)	10 Hz to 100,000 Hz possible. Highest levels / tones at frequencies	1-2
	Crew Boats	below 1000 Hz	1-2
	Pipe Laying Vessels		1-2
	Icebreakers		1-2
	Hovercraft	Peaks at propulsion and lift fan blade rate & harmonics. Broadband components 10 Hz to 10,000+ Hz.	4
PRODUCTION / DRILLING	FPSO	N/A (Assumed similar to Drillships)	3**
	Drillships	Single Hz to several kHz minimum, 10s of kHz with thrusters	2
	Semisubmersibles	Dominant frequencies < 100 Hz, Some higher frequency components, 10s of kHz with thrusters	2-3
	Deep Water Floating Platforms	N/A (Assumed Similar to Semisubmersibles)	3**
	Fixed Platforms (Jack- Up, Steel, Gravity Base)	Dominant frequencies < 100 Hz, Some higher frequency components	4
	Caissons	10 - 1000 + Hz	3
	Gravel Islands	< 200 Hz	5
	Pipelines	N/A	N/A
AIRCRAFT	Fixed Wing (Jet)	10-8000 Hz	3
	Fixed Wing (Propeller)	50-1600 Hz	3
	Helicopters	10-800 Hz	3

*Rank depends on specific source. See details in Section 3.2

**Source level information was not available. Rank is estimated based on expected levels.

The sources ranked as being most significant are air guns, explosives, pile driving, and vessels (excluding hovercraft). Air guns, explosives, and pile driving sources produce impulsive sounds

with high peak levels, as well as short rise-times and impulse durations. These sources create broadband sounds that extend to many kHz. Broadly speaking, explosives used for decommissioning or construction produce the highest peak sound levels of any of these sources, although the sound events are relatively infrequent (a few blasts a day). Air gun and pile driving impulses typically repeat every second to several seconds over the course of one or more days. Vessels create sound levels with amplitudes that are lower than these other sources, but they are ranked highly due to their prominence and their shear numbers in all non-terrestrial oil and gas related activities. For example, it is often the case that vessel noise dominates the measured sound from all drilling and production platforms (Richardson, 1995; McCauley, 1998; Greene, 1987), and the ocean's low frequency background sound is associated with noise from vessels (Urick, 1967).

3.2 Source Details

This section provides details on the identified mechanisms that create underwater sound for each source in Table 1. This includes paths of sound transmission and identification of specific 'noise makers' within a source, such as a generator on a platform. It is noted that for some sources in Table 1, studies of specific sound generation mechanisms are not available. Causes of underwater noise are sometimes inferred from available measurements, known physical laws governing sound radiation, and past experience. Such inferences are noted in this report.

3.2.1 Seismic Surveys

Conventional approaches to marine seismic surveys include the use of a high-level impulsive sound source. The most common and widely used examples of such sources are air guns, although explosives, "sparkers," and other impulsive sources are also used. This section focuses largely on air guns, although many of the treatments for seismic exploration discussed in Section 4.1 apply to seismic surveys as a whole.

Air guns create an impulsive sound via a rapid release of compressed air in a metal cylinder. A diagram of this mechanism is provided in Figure 1. The impulse is largely broadband in nature, and can have frequency components that extend at least to 20,000 Hz (Goold, 1998). Frequencies that are used for seismic exploration are commonly in the 5-100 Hz range, and thus a significant amount of the acoustic energy produced by air guns is not used during seismic surveying.

Air guns by themselves are essentially omnidirectional (Duncan, 2000). In practice, some directionality exists from a single air gun due to reflections at the ocean surface. Air gun arrays are used to provide additional directionality, which is dependent on the size of the array. Caldwell (2000) shows a 20 dB difference between the overall level measured directly below an array vs. the overall level measured horizontally (although not at the water surface where pressure always vanishes)³. Directionality can be important in controlling unwanted sound from air guns in the sense that sound may be propagated in lateral directions where it is not necessarily useful for seismic exploration.

³ Note that there is another JIP study is undertaking 3D characterization of sounds around an airgun array.

While some underwater sound may exist from vessels used to deploy air guns and air gun arrays, the amplitude of this sound is certainly secondary to the air gun itself.



FIGURE 1: Cutaway Diagram of an Air Gun (Bolt Technology Corporation)

Left side shows internal parts of a typical air gun. Right side shows release of compressed air in lower chamber into surroundings after piston is raised. Rapid release of compressed air creates impulsive sound.

3.2.2 Pile Driving

Underwater noise from impact pile driving is impulsive in nature. The impulse spectrum is broadband and can have components well into the kHz range (for example, see Laughlin, 2005b; Laughlin 2007). Low frequencies (<200 Hz) typically dominate the overall levels from impact pile driving.

While no direct study of sound generation mechanisms from pile driving was found, it is believed that the predominant underwater sound generation mechanism for pile driving is through excitation of, and radiation from, the pile itself. Excitation of the pile occurs when the driving hammer strikes the pile. Vibrations are carried through the length of the pile (and reflects back along the pile at its ends), and these vibrations radiate noise into the surrounding water. This assumption results from measurements of treatment effectiveness where the pile is shielded from the surrounding ocean (see Section 4.2).

There is also an indication that some sound may be propagated and radiated through the ocean floor (Laughlin, 2006a; Reyff, 2004). Laughlin (2006b) measured underwater noise from piling operations that took place outside the high water mark; noise was monitored in a nearby creek. Underwater levels were lower than would be expected from a direct measurement of a pile located in the water, but were not insignificant. It is assumed that some ground conditions and substrates are more susceptible to ground-flanking than others; additional study would be needed in order to quantify this effect. Flanking paths may also exist through barges that support pile driving equipment (Wursig, 2000) and through airborne flanking from the impact of the hammer on the pile above the water. These flanking paths are more likely to be significant when direct radiation from the pile has been treated.

Vibration pile driving is another method that is widely used. This method uses a 'driver' that continuously excites the pile in the vertical direction at a specific frequency. The driving frequency is typically on the order of 10-60 Hz. (Note that this source is not impulsive.) The dominant underwater sound components are tones at the frequency of vibration and harmonics, although broadband sound is created at frequencies above ~500 Hz and can extend to several kHz (Greene, 2004; Nedwell, 2002). There is some indication that vibratory methods may have lower overall noise levels (Laughlin, 2005a; WSDOT, 2005; Nedwell, 2002; Blackwell, 2003). Reductions relative to impact methods could be on the order of 10-50 dB, although there is significant variability in the data. That said, impulsive effects are removed for vibratory methods which may be beneficial in certain applications.

It is noted that underwater sound data published in the literature typically shows a fairly wide variation in the levels generated by pile driving, even during the installation of a single pile. Differences in peak level of 5-10 dB or more from one hit to another are common. The same can be said about vibratory methods where variations of 20 dB or more are seen in data. As such, determinations of treatment effectiveness are sometimes rough, and data is often scattered.

3.2.3 Explosives

Explosives are used by the oil and gas industry for several applications, including decommissioning of offshore structures, removal of rocks and other obstacles, and seismic exploration in shallow waters (typically marshes or areas where air guns can not be used). In this report, treatments for explosives focus on decommissioning and obstacle removal. Most of the treatments identified for seismic exploration apply to explosives use in seismic applications (see Section 4.1).

Explosives are often identified as "high" explosives and "low" explosives. High explosives have very fast rates of detonation, on the order of 15,000 to 30,000 ft/s (4500 to 9000 m/s), whereas low explosives have detonation rates closer to 0.1 to 1 ft/s (0.03 to 0.3 m/s) (Urick, 1967). High explosives are commonly used in the field, and are the focus of this section. Low explosives are discussed as a potential alternative in Section 4.3 and in Item EX4 in Appendix A.

High explosives create very sharp pressure impulse due to the rapid conversion of solid chemicals into gaseous reaction products (Urick, 1967). This initial pulse is a shock wave that travels in all directions. The shock wave is followed by a series of pulses caused by oscillations of the "gas globe" or gaseous bubble that is left behind after the initial detonation. It is noted

that these pulses do not occur if the gas globe breaks the water surface or if the explosion is contained in a structure that does not rupture.

The sound generated by a blast from a high explosive can extend from low frequencies (<10 Hz) to tens of kilohertz, and possibly higher. For open water blasts, or blasts used for decommissioning where the structure is successfully cut, the transmission path is essentially direct radiation. It was noted at the Workshop that secondary radiation by nearby structures may be possible. In this scenario, the explosion excites a structure, causing vibration that travels to other locations in the structure and radiates additional sound into the water. No studies of this phenomenon have been found in the literature.

For confined blasts, there is some transfer of sound through the structure or rock that is confining the blast. Nedwell (1992) provides a comparison of the pressures (as a function of time) produced by open water and confined blasts. Open water blasts appear to have a large, single (initial) pressure spike, whereas confined blasts appear to have 2 dominant spikes and an extended impulse time. Nedwell suggests that the reason for the 2 spikes in the confined blast is there are two paths of propagation – one through the rock and one through the water. The path through the rock would arrive first due to the higher speed of sound in that medium. Peak pressures are also shown to be reduced by 94% for confined blasting relative to open water blasts.

3.2.4 Vessels

In a broad sense, the primary causes of underwater radiated sound from vessels are fairly well understood. That said, analysis and prediction of underwater noise from vessels (as well as treatment selection) is far from trivial, and must typically be performed on a case by case basis. Noise radiation from vessels, including tankers, Offshore or Platform Supply Vessels (OSV or PSV), work boats, crew boats, pipe laying vessels, and icebreakers, is generally caused by propeller/thruster cavitation and machinery noise. Noise from sea connected systems can also play a role in the total underwater radiated noise signature from a vessel, but this is only significant when contributions from propulsion and machinery are minimized⁴. Each of these sources has their own intricacies and sub-categories for noise generation.

To get a rough sense of what noise-producing mechanisms are most important on vessels, a comparison of underwater noise from selected vessels operating under various conditions is provided in Figure 2. The spectra in this graph were previously measured by Noise Control Engineering and others as noted. Measurements were taken in the far field (distances ~100-300 meters) and corrected to an equivalent 1 meter 'source level' using spherical spreading assumptions (20 log₁₀(range) scaling). This figure is not provided to identify specific source levels of different ships per se, rather it is meant to highlight several facts of underwater noise from vessels.

1. Underwater noise from any vessel is strongly dependent on speed.

⁴ Other noise generation mechanisms also exist, such as flow noise from hull surfaces. These problems are less common and are generally treated only as needed.

This can be seen most clearly by comparing the levels measured for a research vessel (R/V) at 12.8 knots and 0 knots. Differences between these two conditions are on the order of 10-20 dB at and above 160 Hz. Similar differences have been shown for many other vessels (e.g. see Kippel, 2007).

The differences in noise level seen for slow vs. fast speeds can be largely attributed to propeller cavitation noise⁵. (This noise is also seen for thrusters when operating.) Cavitation noise commonly arises at speeds between 8 and 12 knots and grows in amplitude with increasing speed. Cavitation noise, when present, typically dominates the radiated noise spectrum at higher frequencies – above a few hundred hertz – and can also have significant influence below this frequency as well. Cavitation noise is often seen when vessels are underway at transit speeds (which is most of the time for many vessels), when vessels use controllable pitch propellers at 'off-design' pitch, when vessel are operating under high load conditions, or when dynamic positioning systems are used. Note that vessels moving slowly but with high thrust (such as during icebreaking or bollard pull) can have underwater radiated noise levels similar to what is seen at full speed, or higher; these noise levels are again caused by cavitation in most cases.

Propulsion machinery and power generation equipment can often be detected at lower frequencies, i.e. below 500 Hz. Machinery noise often dominates the spectrum at lower vessel speeds, but it can also be significant at higher speeds as well (Fischer presentation at Workshop). For the "R/V" in Figure 2, the peaks at 63 and 125 Hz are attributable to machinery noise, particularly at 0 knots.

2. Underwater noise levels are not simply dependent on vessel size.

The icebreaker and tug boat underwater noise levels in Figure 2 are very similar, even though they have vastly different sizes. Cavitation noise is the primary reason for the levels seen here. There is a correlation between noise and propulsion power, but there are also many other factors of ship design that are important for underwater noise generation (see Section 3.2.4.1 below).

3. Changes to the propeller design and machinery treatments can have large impacts on underwater noise.

The 'FRV' (Fisheries Research Vessel) in Figure 2 has a modified propeller which delays the speed at which cavitation begins to speeds above 11 knots. When compared to the 'R/V' operating at 12.8 knots where cavitation is certainly present, the noise levels are seen to be 20-25+ dB lower at frequencies at and above 160 Hz. It is also seen that at 63 and 125 Hz, where machinery noise is significant in the R/V radiated noise, the FRV is 5-8 dB quieter. This is due to effective isolation of machinery and a low noise/vibration DC propulsion motor (see Section 4.4.2). Even at full speed (14 knots, not shown here) the FRV has lower underwater radiated noise than the other vessels presented.

⁵ See Section 3.2.4.1 for a description of cavitation.

Sea-connected piping paths are generally an issue only for otherwise quiet vessels (such as the FRV seen in Figure 2). Even then, this path may only be an issue at low speeds. This path will likely be of little concern for commercial vessels, but they are discussed briefly in this report.





Icebreaker noise derived from Cosens (1993). FRV measured by US Navy. Others measured by NCE. This graph shows 1) the dependence of underwater noise on vessel speed ("R/V' at 0 knots vs. 12.8 knots), 2) vessel size is not necessarily an important factor in underwater noise (Icebreaker vs. Tug Boat), and 3) potentially large reductions can be made in ship noise when propeller cavitation is minimized and machinery noise is controlled (FRV).

The mechanisms that cause underwater noise from propulsion, machinery, and fluidborne paths are vastly different. Because of this, each path is treated separately in this report. A summary of the pertinent mechanisms of noise creation for each of these categories is given below.

3.2.4.1 Propeller and Thruster Noise

Underwater sound generated from propellers and thrusters has a continuous spectrum (i.e. there are components of sound at all frequencies, a.k.a. 'broadband') with some tonal peaks at low frequencies (<100 Hz). Low frequency tones occur at blade rate frequencies and harmonics⁶. Broadband noise is generated by various cavitation mechanisms (explained below), and can have frequency components out beyond 100 kHz. A rough example of the overall spectrum shape is provided in Figure 3.

^{6} Blade rate = propeller shaft rpm x number of blades / 60. Harmonics are at integer multiples of blade rate.





Broadband noise from cavitation covers the majority of the radiated spectrum. Tonal peaks, associated with blade rate and harmonics, can usually be detected at low frequencies, below 100 Hz.

Low frequency blade rate tones are generated when the propeller blades pass through the nonuniform flow created by the wake of hull surfaces and appendages located forward of the propeller or thruster. Shaft angle also plays a role, which effectively changes the angle of attack as a blade makes a full rotation. An example of a flow distribution entering a propeller is provided in the contour plot of Figure 4. In this figure, the flow is essentially uniform over the lower four blade positions. The fifth blade, at the top of the rotation, is passing through an area of lower flow velocity caused by shaft bossings, struts or a skeg supporting the propeller. When each blade passes through this non-uniform flow a vapor cavity expands and collapses, creating an acoustic monopole pulse which is radiated, spectrally, as tones at the blade rate frequency and harmonics.

FIGURE 4: Example of Non-Uniform Flow Into Propeller (Kawamura, 2005)

Lines indicate magnitude of incoming axial velocity. Blue lines show low velocity areas. The blade at the top of the rotation is passing through an area of lower flow velocity caused by shaft bossings, struts or a skeg supporting the propeller. When each blade passes through this non-uniform flow tones are created at blade-rate and harmonics.

Cavitation occurs when the local water pressure drops below the vapor pressure limit. A diagram of this phenomenon is provided in Figure 5. In this diagram, the static pressure drops below the vapor pressure limit over a specific region of the propeller blade (suction, or forward side, in this case), and cavitation bubbles will form. Cavitation noise is generated when these cavitation bubbles collapse. This noise is largely omni-directional (note that at higher frequencies the blade and hull may have a baffling effect, reducing the apparent levels at some receiver locations). The specific operating conditions and locations when and where cavitation forms on the blade is a direct result of the specific blade design.

There are several forms of cavitation worth considering:

- *Tip vortex* cavitation the blade tips trail load-dependent vortexes that form a string- or rope-like core cavity.
- *Leading edge* cavitation a sheet-like cavity springs from the leading edge, usually on the low-pressure forward (suction) side.
- *Back-bubble* cavitation at high speed the outer blade sections grow vapor bubbles at their thicker parts.
- *Hub vortex* cavitation –a rope-like cavity that springs and trails aft from the end of the hub cap. This is the hub counterpart of the tip vortex.

These different cavitation types will result in different underwater sounds. For example, Brown (1976a) notes that back-bubble cavitation is noisier than leading edge cavitation. Kuiper (1998) also provides additional information. The non-uniform flow field, seen in Figure 4, is very much responsible for cavitation related noise via its load-modulation effects (Kawamura, 2005). This is particularly true for leading edge and back-bubble cavitation types. These different forms of cavitation can become significant at different vessel speeds, and their formation will depend on the specifics of the blade design.

FIGURE 5: Example Pressure Distribution Over Propeller Blade Back & Face (MacPherson, 2005)



Cavitation occurs when the local water pressure drops below the vapor pressure limit. This will typically occur over a specific region of the propeller blade (suction, or forward side, in this case). The collapse of cavitation bubbles creates a strong, broadband acoustic noise source.

It is important to point out that the amount of noise generated from cavitation is directly dependent on the amount of cavitation formation. This can be characterized as the ratio of the blade area that is covered by cavitation bubbles to the total blade area (Brown, 1976a). The degree of cavitation is related to the ratio of vessel speed (which is also related to blade speed) to the vessel's "cavitation inception speed" (Brown presentation at Workshop). For propellers in calm water, the cavitation inception speed is simply the vessel speed at which cavitation begins to develop⁷. Below this speed there will be no noise from propeller cavitation, and the propeller as a whole becomes a relatively insignificant radiator of underwater noise (Fischer & Boroditsky, 2001).

For most small vessels, or those with heavily loaded propellers, cavitation inception speed is in the range of 8-10 knots. For larger ships or those with more lightly loaded propellers, the typical range is 10-12 knots. Carefully designed and operated naval vessels may achieve 15 knot inception speeds. Above cavitation inception, noise from cavitation rises as a function of speed-cubed or more at frequencies above roughly 300 Hz (Brown, 1977). Sound level differences from cavitation onset to fully developed cavitation (a difference in speed of roughly 10 knots for many vessels) can be upwards of 30 dB (Pinto, 1999). A similar relation exists for thrusters, where revolution rate is the critical parameter. Note again that cavitation can occur at slower speeds if the vessel is operating under high load conditions, such as during icebreaking, sudden changes in propeller speed, and bollard pull conditions. (The breaking of ice may be the most notable airborne noise above the water, but underwater the propeller cavitation is far louder.)

⁷ As determined by "listening" for cavitation using a hydrophone. Note that this is often lower than the cavitation inception speed based on visual observation and much lower than that affecting power.

Figure 6 provides a theoretical comparison of the cavitation noise radiated by two vessels at various speeds using the equations presented by Brown (1976a) and Brown (Workshop). (The levels shown can be considered to be single frequency spectrum levels at frequencies above 300 Hz.) The vessels in this example have different cavitation inception speeds (corresponding to different shaft RPMs). It is seen that in the RPM region between the two cavitation inception speeds the difference in noise level is essentially infinite. Beginning at the higher cavitation inception speed (72.6 RPM), the differences between the two vessels get smaller, although reductions of 5 dB or more are seen below 85 RPM. The two curves will ultimately asymptote to the same line, but for practical speeds, differences of a few dB will remain. It is noted that this calculation is based on a first order approximation of cavitation area using ship speed (as noted above). Actual reductions in noise can be greater than what is seen here if the growth of cavitation with increasing speed is minimized.





This figure shows the differences in noise level that are possible by increasing the cavitation inception speed for a given propeller/vessel. Between the lower and higher cavitation inception speeds the difference in noise level due to cavitation noise alone is (theoretically) infinite. Above this range, the difference decreases to a few dB at full speed. Larger differences may be possible if cavitation growth (i.e. the increase in the amount of cavitation with speed) can be minimized. This graph also shows that large reductions in noise can be achieved by operating at slower speeds, if possible.

Brown (2007) and Brown (Workshop) have also noted that an effective and simple way to reduce noise from vessels is to slow down. When this approach is combined with techniques to

increase cavitation inception and reduce cavitation growth, very large reductions can be seen as evidenced by the large differences in the two hypothetical vessels seen in Figure 6 at less than full speed. Naturally, this approach would come at a cost (i.e. time and associated impacts).

The study of propeller and thruster cavitation is quite extensive and will not be discussed in more detail here. For more information on cavitation and noise generated by cavitation of propellers and thrusters, see, for example, Brown (1974), Brown (1976a), Carlton (1981), Nilsson (1981), Blake (1984), Breslin (1994), and Fischer (2005).

It is noted that other hull appendages may also cavitate at high vessel speeds; lifting appendages such as roll stabilizer fins and rudders are subject to cavitation, particularly on hydrofoil craft. Tip vortex cavities are sometimes observed from anti-roll fins on cruise ships. In fact, trailing fin-tip vortexes are sometimes drawn into a propeller resulting in intermittent severe vibration as well as propeller cavitation. While usually a naval problem, cavitation on sonar domes may occur, to the detriment of receiver signal-to-noise. On acoustic survey ships the structures supporting sonar transducers are liable to cavitate, if not properly faired and aligned with the local flow, and they can create wakes that add to the non-uniformity of inflow to the propeller(s). Similarly, bilge keels and other such appendages must be kept in repair, properly faired and aligned in order to avoid cavitation at high speed or propeller interference at any speed.

Lastly, another phenomenon called a "singing propeller" can create additional tones in the radiated noise spectrum. The amplitude of these tones can be large relative to the non-singing spectrum. This noise is created at one or more specific propeller blade resonance frequencies, which are excited by vortex shedding. Alternating (clockwise and counterclockwise) vortexes, parallel with the trailing edge, may be shed in a configuration called a "Karman vortex street". The frequency of shedding varies with water velocity over the blade section and inversely with the combined local thicknesses of the blade section and flow boundary layers at the trailing edge. The associated alternating pressures can drive blade resonances that correspond in frequency and have adequate modal amplitude at the trailing edge. The shedding can also "lock on" to the vibration of the blade (i.e. maintain the same frequency even though flow conditions may have changed). The vibrating blades radiate sound into the water.

3.2.4.2 Machinery Noise

Machinery induced noise is generally tonal in nature, and radiated noise can span the frequency range from very low frequencies (~10 Hz or less) to several thousand hertz. Higher frequency tones are typically seen at slow speeds where they are not masked by propeller cavitation. Tones below a few hundred hertz can be prominent at all speeds particularly in vessels with large hard mounted propulsion engines such as tankers.

There are various mechanisms by which machinery can create underwater noise. Essentially, any machinery item will create both vibration and airborne noise. These excitations can generate underwater noise by means of several paths, called 'first structureborne', 'secondary structureborne', and 'airborne'. A diagram of these various paths is provided in Figure 7.

FIGURE 7: Diagram Illustrating Three Significant Paths of Underwater Noise Generation from Machinery



Underwater noise from machinery is generated from local vibration and casing radiated airborne noise that cause the ship structure to vibrate. When these vibrations travel to or act directly on the ship's hull, underwater noise is created. This figure shows the three paths of noise from machinery to the water: 'first structureborne', 'secondary structureborne', and 'airborne'. Details of these paths are provided in the text below.

The first structureborne path (FSB) is related to the vibration of machinery. Vibrations are coupled to the ship structure through the machinery attachment points; these vibrations are carried throughout the entire ship. When the ship's hull is excited by these vibrations, underwater radiated noise is produced. The actual amplitude of the underwater noise is dependent on many factors, including the source vibration level, mechanical foundation impedance, distance of the source to the hull, details of structural connections between the source and the hull, plating thicknesses, radiating area and stiffener sizes (to name a few). Details of this mechanism are not important in the framework of this report and will not be discussed further.

The airborne noise path (AB) describes the noise that appears to pass through the ship's hull when a machinery item is located in a compartment that is adjacent to the water. The actual noise level that is created is dependent on the 'transmission loss' of the intermediate structure. The transmission loss of an untreated hull is largely dependent on plating thickness and stiffener spacing. It is important to point out that the airborne path only applies when the compartment containing a machinery source is directly adjacent to the ocean. Compartments that do not share a common partition with the ocean will not have a significant airborne noise path.

The secondary structureborne path (SSB) is a combination of the AB and FSB paths. Airborne noise that impinges on the source compartment boundaries (deck, bulkheads, and deckhead) causes those structures to vibrate. This vibration travels through the entire ship, as is the case for the FSB path. When the hull of the vessel vibrates as a result of the SSB path, underwater sound will result. Note that the SSB path will have little significance when a machinery item is located in a compartment that is directly adjacent to the ocean; in this case the AB path will be more significant than the SSB path. If the source compartment is not adjacent to the ocean then the SSB path will be (relatively) more significant.

For any vessel, the radiated noise levels caused by a particular machinery item will depend on the equipment itself (such as the airborne and vibration source levels, which are related to various parameters such as power – see Fischer, 1983), its function and duty cycle, pertinent noise paths, and the underwater noise goals for the vessel. Based on past experience, a general 'priority list' of equipment can be developed for most general designs of vessels common to the oil and gas industry (assuming no specific noise control treatments are applied). Topping this list is propulsion machinery such as diesel engines or turbines. Similarly, power generation equipment such as diesel generators are often a dominant source of radiated noise (these may be isolation mounted for crew habitability concerns, and would therefore be less significant than hard mounted propulsion engines). Pumps and other auxiliary machinery items would come next on the list; large pumps greater than 1000 HP and with long duty cycles being most significant. Furthermore, equipment located close to the ship's hull will be more significant than equipment located farther away. Propulsion gearboxes may also require some attention with regards to underwater noise. A detailed analysis is generally required in order to better define this list for any specific vessel.

3.2.4.3 Sea-connected Systems

Sea-connected systems generally refer to pumps with piping that is directly connected to the ocean. Such connections are typically made through sea chests. Noise is generated in the fluid by the pump / piping system and is directly radiated into the sea. As noted above, this path is less likely to be a concern for commercial vessels.

3.2.5 Dredges

Dredges come in several forms. 'Hopper' dredges collect material from the sea floor and store it on board the vessel, then transit to another location to release the material. Material is often collected primarily via suction at a 'dredge head', although water jets or other similar tools can be used to help loosen the substrate. 'Transfer' dredges, also called 'Cutter Head' dredges, collect material and transfer or pump it to another location. The transfer of material off the dredge can occur via a pipeline that is routed far from the dredging operation (upwards of 10 miles) or to a 'hopper scow' or barge that is propelled and positioned using tug boats. The cutter head is typically a heavy-duty rotating structure which can be used to break and remove rocks or other heavy debris (explosives are used to break-up obstacles that can not be removed by the cutter head). 'Bucket' dredges are similar to transfer dredges in that they transfer material from the sea floor to a barge, although the removal is performed via a 'clamshell' or bucket that scoops material from the sea floor. Figure 8 provides examples of these various dredge types. Hopper dredges tend to move while collecting material, or otherwise use thrusters to maintain position. Transfer and bucket dredges are moored in place using 'spuds'.



Hopper dredges, seen on the left, suck material from the sea floor and store it on-board where it is then transited to a different location. Cutterhead dredges (middle) are moored in place and transfer materials removed from the sea floor to barges or on-shore locations via pipelines. Hopper and cutterhead dredges both use suction heads to remove material. Bucket dredges (right) are moored in place and use a 'bucket' to scoop material from the sea floor and dump it in a barge.

Underwater noise from hopper dredges tends to be louder than noise from transfer dredges by approximately 10 to 20 dB (Greene, 1987a). While reasons are not documented in the literature, this is likely due to the fact that hopper dredges use their propulsion system or thrusters while dredging. The potential presence of tug boats during transfer dredging operations means that significantly higher noise levels are possible, and the total noise in the vicinity of this activity may actually be similar to hopper dredges (noise from vessels is discussed in Section 3.2.4). This section focuses solely on the noise coming from the dredges themselves (although methods for quieting support vessels such as tugs should not be ignored in the big picture). Bucket dredging operations are significantly quieter than either hopper or transfer dredges by 10 to 60 dB, with the loudest noise coming from the bucket hitting the sea floor which is a very short event (USACoE, 2001).

Because dredges are essentially vessels with special dredging equipment attached, much of the information provided in Section 3.2.4 is applicable here as well. When in use, propellers and thrusters will likely dominate. Machinery noise can also be significant, particularly for transfer and bucket dredges. From the literature it is seen that underwater noise levels are generally higher (or at least different) during the actual act of dredging. Dredges utilize large pumps and additional power sources that are used specifically for dredging, and are likely to be responsible for a significant amount of the underwater radiated noise.

It is conceivable that at least some of the noise during dredging comes from the dredging head. The available literature, including Greene (1987a), Sachalin (2004), and Clarke (2002), provides

little to no information on the relative amplitudes of noises that come from the vessel machinery relative to the dredging head for non-bucket dredging operations. The only practical information on this topic comes from Clarke (2002) who states (referring to a hopper dredge) "sounds of the draghead scraping across the sandy substrate could be discerned from propeller noise" for measurements where the vessel was 40 meters from the recording hydrophone. While not stated explicitly, it is believed that such segregation of noise sources could not be made outside of this range. In addition, the same study says (referring to a cutterhead dredge) "sounds... could not be partitioned into discrete components attributable to separate sound sources." It is noted that the substrate was "fine sediments" in this case, and higher levels may result from the removal of rock or other heavy materials.

Given the available information it is believed that propellers and thrusters (when applicable) as well as on-board machinery are responsible for the vast majority of underwater radiated noise from transfer and hopper dredges. Additional study is necessary to better quantify the contributions from the dredge head relative to other sources. Ideally, this study would include comparisons of noise levels created during dredging of different materials.

3.2.6 Post Trenching

There is very limited information on underwater noise from post trenching machines. Nedwell (2004) provides measured data of the TRENCHSETTER, a deep water trenching vessel, while trenching operations are underway. The radiated noise spectra appear to be similar to what one would expect from a vessel, although no further study of noise generation mechanisms or source identification are given (it is not clear what type of machine or setup was used to perform the trenching itself). Nedwell (2001) may provide some underwater noise data from submerged post-trenching operations, but NCE was unable to procure a copy of this document for this study.

No other underwater sound data regarding typical submerged trenching machines could be identified in the literature. Blackwell (2003) provides underwater data from a 'ditch witch' and backhoe which were measured while cutting a hole in land-fast ice and digging a trench for pipe (water depth was ~12 m). Note that these machines are not standard or similar to conventional post trenching machines. It is presumed that the major noise from the ditch witch resulted from the actual cutting of the ice, although no indication is given in Blackwell. Possible noise generation mechanisms for the backhoe range from structureborne transmission to the ice with subsequent radiation from the ice to the water to noise associated with the digging action itself underwater, although sufficient information is not available to make a real determination.

Submerged trenching machines are commonly towed from a vessel and ride the pipe that they are burying. They do not have on-board propulsion systems, although they do have various means of displacing the material under the pipe. Since limited information is available, it is not possible to say what the specific noise generation mechanisms are for these machines. However, given the general prominence of vessel noise relative to other activities, it is likely that the vessel noise is the most significant factor and may dominate any noise coming from the trenching machine itself. It is possible that the various material displacement mechanisms cause sound, but the level of this sound is not known. Direct measurements are needed for further quantification.

3.2.7 Underwater Hand Tools

Information on noise from underwater hand tools can be found in Nedwell (1993) and Needham (1999). The sound levels from underwater tools vary depending on the specific equipment. Drills and grinders produce low sound levels (relative to the other sources investigated in this study) while impact wrenches and "Cox Bolt Guns" reportedly produce peak levels similar to those seen during pile driving.

The measurements made in these studies were made at the head of the diver that was using them (in the water outside of the helmet) or near the machinery. It stands to reason that much of the noise from these items comes directly from the equipment itself. However, in some cases such as the bolt gun, some coupling of vibration to the item or items being "worked" is certainly possible, and would cause additional radiation of sound.

3.2.8 Drilling and Production Platforms

Several references exist that provide measurements and assessments of noise from various platforms during production and drilling operations. In all cases, it is clear that noise from vessels associated with the platforms dominates the composite underwater noise signatures. Because vessel noise is discussed in Section 3.2.4, this section focuses on the noise originating from the platform itself. Noise from vessels should not be ignored when assessing the total noise caused by offshore drilling and production activities and appropriate treatments.

In general, assessments of 'noise makers' on platforms are somewhat limited. What is known or has been assumed in the literature is provided below. NCE has also made some educated guesses about particular noise makers and propagation paths based on the available data and past experience. Additional study would be required to better quantify specific causes of underwater noise from various platform types, and detailed analysis is certainly recommended when any specific platform is being assessed for noise reduction.

Details on the creation of underwater noise from various platform types are provided below.

3.2.8.1 Fixed Production and Drilling Platforms

Fixed platforms include jack-up rigs and platforms that are secured to the bottom either via mechanical means (i.e. piles) or gravity. The most useful source of acoustic information that was found came from Gales (1982) which is a study of many different platforms engaged in production and drilling activities. The available data show that there is little to no increase in noise levels from fixed platforms during drilling operations as compared to non-drilling operations. Gales states, "Underwater sound from platforms engaged in drilling did not in general exhibit markedly different characteristics from those engaged in production." More importantly, Gales states, "In general, none of the measured noise could be directly related to the mechanical action of the drill bits. It is possible that such noise may be generated, but if so there were no readily apparent clues to its identity."

Given this information, it is believed that most, if not all the noise created by the platform itself is due to sources that are located on the platform above the water. Gales also identifies a relation between underwater noise and power generation (lower noise levels were generally found when power was provided by shore connection). Given this result, and building on past experience (including Spence, 2006), major machinery items are likely to be largely responsible for underwater noise on fixed platforms. Dominant machinery items may include power generation equipment, mud pumps, water and gas injection pumps, large compressors, and other large machinery items ('large' being estimated as power ratings near or above 1000 HP). A more detailed analysis of specific platforms would be required in order to further refine this list.

Fixed platforms typically are supported with large structural beams or piping, and beam grillage structures are often the primary form of support. Plating is sometimes used between beams in the grillage, but these structures are generally very open (at last compared with floating platform types). Open grating may also be used in any given deck location. Given this structural makeup, and the fact that large equipment items are located on the platform above the water, three paths of noise are possible: first structureborne transmission (vibration from machinery passing from mechanical sources through structural members above the water to those below the water, which then radiate sound), direct airborne transmission from the machinery casing to the water, and secondary structureborne transmission (airborne noise excites the local structure above the water, creating vibrations that then travel below the water and radiate noise). (See Section 3.2.4.2 for additional details on structureborne paths.)

Of these possibilities, it is believed that the dominant path of noise generation in fixed platforms is the first structureborne path. Airborne noise may also play a role, but this is only possible if there is a direct line-of-sight to the water⁸. The secondary structureborne path is less likely to be of concern here since there needs to be significant plating surface area which the airborne noise would excite. Even then, the transfer of vibration energy from plating to heavy structural supports is weak, and this would further reduce the amount of energy that could travel to the water from this path (Spence, 2006).

While it is expected that the primary radiators are the structural supports of the platform, it is possible that some radiation from the drill string casing may be possible. However, it is seen in Section 3.2.8.3 that radiation from the drill string may be less significant compared to other paths of noise⁹.

3.2.8.2 Semisubmersible Platforms

Underwater noise levels created by semisubmersible platforms are higher than that from fixed platforms. Nedwell (2004) presents measured noise levels for a semisubmersible when its thrusters are operating. The spectrum is smooth, with 20+ dB increases in levels compared to production only activities between 1 and 1000 Hz. The elevated spectrum continues out to 10,000 Hz in this case, with smaller differences seen at higher frequencies. This noise is clearly due to cavitation and the overall level is significantly higher than during any other operation. Therefore, when thrusters are used on semisubmersibles it is clear that this noise will dominate.

⁸ This line of sight must be within a 13 degree 'cone' where propagation from air to water is possible. For more information, see Section 3.2.10.

⁹ This assumption is based on data from a drillship where noise from on-board machinery is expected to be significantly higher than machinery induced noise on a fixed platform. Assuming that noise radiated by the drill string is roughly the same in both cases, drill string radiation may actually be significant when compared to the total noise for fixed platforms. Again, additional study is needed.

Nedwell (2004) also indicates that machinery noise can be heard when listening to the signal from a hydrophone suspended over the side of the platform. Furthermore, discrete tones were measured between 20 and 600 Hz in the spectral signal from these hydrophones during production activities (without thruster operation). Machinery induced noise, as described for vessels, is a likely explanation for these tones.

McCauley (1998) indicates that underwater noise during drilling is roughly 10 dB higher than during production. Nedwell (2004) also shows that additional tones are generated between 20 - 1000 Hz when drilling operations are commenced. The most prominent of these tones are at 130, 200, 350, and 600 Hz, with levels that are upwards of 30 dB higher than the levels at the same frequencies without drilling. Nedwell indicates that these increases in level may be due to natural frequencies in the drill string or cutting action of the sea floor. However, given the findings stated in Gales (1982) discussed above in Section 3.2.8.1, it is believed that the noise associated with cutting from the drill head will not be significant relative to the noise coming from the semisubmersible. Furthermore, it is seen in Section 3.2.8.3 that radiation from the drill string may be less significant than from other paths of noise. It is the opinion of NCE that the additional tones seen during drilling are likely caused by machinery that is used specifically for drilling, with noise being radiated through the platform structure¹⁰. It is suggested that additional study is needed in order to better identify the cause of these tones.

Gales (1982) also shows that that noise radiated directly from the air to the water from unmuffled diesel engine exhausts created "moderate" underwater noise levels¹¹. These exhausts were apparently aimed directly at the water.

Based on available information, cavitation from thrusters is expected to be dominant over any other sound source. When thrusters are not being used, major machinery items will likely be the dominant noise source. As is the case with fixed platforms, significant machinery items may include power generation equipment, mud pumps, water and gas injection pumps, large compressors, and possibly any equipment item rated near or above 1000 HP. A more detailed analysis would be required in order to further refine this list. It is noted that semisubmersible designs can vary, with major equipment being located on the upper platform decks, in the pontoons, or in the supporting legs. Each of these cases would lead to different contributions from such machinery, and would need to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

No formal study or information was found regarding the dominant or significant paths of noise or radiation mechanisms on semisubmersibles. However the general construction of a semisubmersible indicates that these mechanisms will be similar to those found on vessels. The stiffened plating used on semisubmersibles can radiate machinery induced noise effectively into the water, and is also a conduit of vibration. As a result, the likely paths for noise radiation from

¹⁰ The frequencies identified by Nedwell (2004) are typical of machinery induced noise. Note that similar tones were not seen for fixed platforms (in the available literature). This difference can be explained as follows. By its nature, the stiffened plating structure of a semisubmersible is a more efficient radiator of sound than beams or tubing which support fixed platforms in the water. Therefore, machinery sources that excite the semisubmersible's hull will generate more radiated noise, particularly when that machinery is located close to the wetted hull structure. Again, this is a hypothesis and more study is needed in order to better determine the causes of these differences.

¹¹ Note that this would apply to other platform types as well.
machinery are the first and secondary structureborne paths for equipment located above the waterline, with airborne noise being a potential path for equipment located below the waterline adjacent to wetted shell plating (see Section 3.2.4.2). Equipment located closer to the waterline would be more likely to radiate significant underwater noise due to the FSB and SSB paths (for the same equipment item). As noted above, un-muffled exhausts may also be a cause of noise through direct radiation. Similarly, if equipment is located topside near the edge of the semisubmersible, direct airborne transmission is possible. Given the distances above the waterline for such equipment it is believed that direct airborne transmission paths would be secondary.

3.2.8.3 Drillships

Underwater noise from drillships is among the highest relative to the other drilling and production platforms when the noise contributions from support vessels are removed. Nedwell (2004) presents data measured at various distances and depths from a drillship. The data is relatively smooth and does not show evidence of peaks. It is presumed that the spectrum is the result of cavitation noise from thrusters being used to maintain position, although no indication of operating conditions were provided (the spectrum shape is similar to what is seen in Nedwell (2004) for the semisubmersible once thrusters are used).

Greene (1987b) indicates that bow aspect measurements of an anchored drillship have lower underwater noise levels than beam aspect (thrusters were not operating). This is the same result that one would expect on a vessel for noise being generated by the ship's hull via on-board machinery. It is expected that radiation from the drill casing would be symmetrical about the vessel, given its physical orientation and length. This is an indication that underwater noise radiation occurs more through the ship's hull than through drill casing. Further research may be necessary to quantify drill casing radiation.

Given the similarity of drillships to vessels, it is reasonable to believe that many of the same sources and radiation mechanisms are common. The dominant cause of underwater noise will likely be thrusters used to maintain position. When thrusters are not in use, machinery sources such as power generators, drilling machinery, propulsion equipment, ship power machinery, and utility equipment will likely dominate. In the case of drillships (and vessels in general), it is possible for smaller equipment items to cause significant noise levels if mounted directly to or in close proximity of the hull of the vessel. Paths of noise for machinery are similar to those described for vessels in Section 3.2.4.2 and methods of noise generation for thrusters are described in Section 3.2.4.1.

It is noted that some published information, such as Richardson (1995), indicate that the noise levels from drillships vary depending on the specific operation being performed by the drillship (drilling, tripping, well cleaning, etc.). Given the above argument regarding radiation from the drill casing, it is believed these differences are due to different machinery operating on the vessel as opposed to different noise levels being radiated by the drill casing. Further study is needed.

3.2.8.4 FPSO

No measured underwater noise data from FPSOs was identified as part of this study. However, given their form and function, it is reasonable to believe that the general sources and radiation

mechanisms present in vessels are also the dominant causes of noise on FPSOs. Specific equipment that is most likely to cause noise on FPSOs is similar to that on platforms and semisubmersibles, namely power generation equipment, large pumps, and large compressors. As is the case on vessels and drillships, the proximity of these equipment items to the ocean (i.e. water line) will have a direct impact on the amount of underwater noise that is generated.

Furthermore, it is common for FPSOs to be moored to the sea floor in some manner. However in some cases it is necessary for thrusters to be used to maintain position (Paik, 2007). When in use, thrusters will likely dominate the underwater radiated noise from FPSOs (as was found for semisubmersibles). A discussion on thruster generated noise is provided in Section 3.2.4.1.

3.2.8.5 Deep Water Floating Platforms

No specific underwater noise information was found for deep water floating platforms. However, given their overall construction and function it is reasonable to believe that their sources and noise generation mechanisms will be similar to semisubmersible platforms. Naturally, no thrusters exist on a floating platform so this noise would not be of concern.

3.2.8.6 Gravel Islands

Gravel islands produce underwater noise levels that are among the lowest of any of the sources listed in Table 1. Sounds from gravel islands are often difficult to detect above 200 Hz (Blackwell, 2004).

The primary source of information regarding specific causes of noise and noise paths on gravel islands comes from Spence (2006). It is shown that the most likely cause of underwater noise on Northstar gravel island is vibration from large machinery, including power generating turbines, large compressors, water injection pumps, air compressors, AHUs, and the flare blower, with possible minor contributions from the oil shipping pumps and water booster pumps. This equipment was all rated at 800 HP and above. It was believed that the vibrations generated at the machinery traveled through the supporting structures, through the gravel itself and was radiated into the surrounding water.

Additional studies on this subject were not found.

3.2.8.7 Caissons

Caissons can come in multiple forms, and can either be weighted down on the sea floor by sand and gravel or can float in place. As noted by Richardson (1995), the radiated sound levels from these different constructions can vary, potentially significantly. Richardson provides levels measured from various caissons, but details as to which sources are causing noise or noise propagation paths are minimal.

Given the varying construction practices for caissons, it is not possible to succinctly identify the major sources and noise paths for the group as a whole. However, construction of certain caissons may be similar to other platform types – i.e. the use of stiffened plate for floating structures would indicate similarities with semisubmersibles and drillships, while gravel-filled caissons may be closer to fixed platforms from a noise sense. Additional study is needed to

better identify sources and paths from caissons, and it is recommended that a detailed study be performed for any individual caisson being investigated for noise control.

3.2.9 Hovercraft

Hovercraft are generally very quiet, especially when compared to the other vessel types used by the oil and gas industry (and others). In fact, hovercraft are sometimes considered to be quiet alternatives to propeller-driven crewboats. One of the few but informative references on underwater noise from hovercraft comes from Blackwell (2005). In this study it was found that a tone caused by blade rate from the propulsion fan was the most dominant underwater noise caused by one particular hovercraft. The same study found that noise from the lift fan was barely detectable underwater; however it is possible that the lift fan(s) may be more significant on a different hovercraft design¹².

Underwater sound is created by direct airborne transmission from hovercraft; noise generated by the propulsion or lift fan is transmitted directly to the water. Structureborne noise paths are not significant given the air cushion design of the craft.

3.2.10 Aircraft

Aircraft, which includes jet and propeller driven fixed wing craft as well as helicopters, generate underwater noise by direct transmission through the air-water interface. This path is generally only a concern when there is a near-normal incidence with the water surface – see Figure 9. Because of the physical relationships of acoustic waves in air and water, there is only a small 'cone' of incident angles (θ_i) where airborne sound will enter the water as a propagating wave (Blackstock, 2000). Taking into account the speed of sound in air and water, this cone has a maximum angle of incidence of approximately 13 degrees (assuming a flat ocean surface). Beyond this angle, sound is reflected from the water surface and is not transmitted to the water (for all practical intents and purposes).

From inspection of Figure 9, it can be inferred that the affected area (i.e. the water surface area within the 13 degree cone) will grow as the aircraft rises in altitude. However, noise levels will be lower due to geometrical spreading losses from the air to the water.

¹² One might expect that the lift fans should also be a dominant contributor to underwater noise. For the hovercraft measured by Blackwell (2005), these fans may have simply produced inherently lower noise levels than the propulsion fan. Therefore the lift fans can not be ruled out as potentially significant (relative to the total radiated noise) on other hovercraft without additional data.

FIGURE 9: Diagram Showing Concepts of Direct Transmission Airborne-to-Underwater Sound



Airborne sound incident on the water surface will only propagate in the water if it is within an angle $\theta_i \leq 13^\circ$.

The primary causes of noise for jet propelled aircraft are the jet engines (Fahy, 2004). The engines generally produce many tones at frequencies of 500 Hz and above. It is noted that source levels are strongly dependent on operating condition and sound levels can vary between takeoff, landing, and cruising conditions. It is also noted that airframe noise can be significant during landing. The primary source on propeller planes is the propeller itself and the helicopter rotor is similarly the dominant source for helicopters. Sometimes it is possible to detect tones from the engines and other rotating parts on helicopters (Richardson, 1995). Perry (1992) also indicates that the interaction of wake between the main and tail rotors can be significant in some helicopter designs. In general, the strongest tones from propeller aircraft and helicopters are blade rate and multiples, with decreasing amplitude for higher order multiples. These tones typically are not distinctly seen above 500 Hz.

3.2.11 Pipelines

It was mentioned during the workshop that noise from pipelines may create significant noise levels. Measurements and analysis of pipeline noise were not found as part of this study. It is speculated that any noise generated from a pipeline may be a result of the 'fluidborne' noise within the pipe – i.e. the pressure fluctuations within the fluid that is being carried by the pipe. These fluctuations could be generated by the pump attached to the piping, and would likely show up as tones in the noise spectrum. Additional broadband noise may also result if turbulent flow conditions occur within the pipe. This can result from sharp bends, valves, and pipe discontinuities. It is expected that this noise would be more in the mid- to high-frequency range. Additional study would be needed to confirm any of these assumptions, and to determine the significance of pipeline noise.

4.0 TREATMENTS

A summary of treatments identified in this study is provided here. A compiled list of treatments for all sources, complete with treatment effectiveness, costs, and other details is provided in Appendix A.

4.1 Seismic Source Treatments

Almost all of the treatments and approaches identified to reduce sound generated by seismic exploration are not commercially available and are in various forms of development. However, all of them have been used in the field to varying degrees. The majority of these techniques replace existing seismic sources with alternative sources; these techniques also show the greatest potential for reduction of underwater sound levels. Details on all treatments identified for seismic exploration are provided in Section SE in Appendix A.

One approach described by Nedwell (2005) is called an "airgun silencer" which can be used to augment existing air guns. This silencer uses acoustically absorbent foam rubber to reduce sound levels at frequencies above those useful for seismic exploration. Test results show reductions in sound level of 0-6 dB above 700 Hz. An overall increase in sound level by 3 dB was measured, caused by an increase in sound near 100 Hz. This is in the frequency range useful for seismic exploration and the author suggests that this may allow for fewer air guns to be used for a given application. This approach is currently in the 'proof-of-concept' stage; other silencer configurations based on this approach may be possible that can yield greater effectiveness.

Alternative sources, currently in development, include: a piston-type source that is excited via internal combustion called "LACS" (Askeland 2006, Askeland 2007); a pulsating shell that is electrically driven to generate sound, a.k.a "marine vibrator" (Tenghamn 2006); a tunable, underwater organ pipe driven by a piston speaker (Morozov, 2007). (A hydraulically driven source was also discussed in Bouyoucos (1975), but no recent work could be identified.)

These alternative source types show significant potential for reducing underwater sound levels during seismic exploration. The possible benefits include:

- Large reduction of sound at unwanted or non-useful frequencies (greater than ~100 Hz). For these systems, the source signal can be contoured to only contain those frequencies of interest for seismic exploration (or at least significantly reduce output of unwanted frequencies). The electrically-driven marine vibrator system has also been shown to make use of feedback loops to reduce unwanted sound generation at higher frequencies due to non-linear distortion effects. Harmonics have been shown to be 35-65+ dB lower than the fundamental frequency during a sine sweep (Tenghamn, 2006).
- *Reduction in peak amplitude of source signal.* Tests using the LACS and marine vibrator systems have shown seismic data results that are approximately equal to or better than those obtained using air guns and explosives. These tests generally involve source signals that are significantly lower than what is obtained using air guns and explosives. Published reductions are on the order of 15 dB.

A reduction in source level using these alternative source types is possible due to the use of alternative source signals, specifically swept sine and repeatable pseudo-random signals. These

signals spread out the acoustic energy over time, so the same resolution can be obtained without the large peak sound level (and sound power) typical of current impulsive methods. Also, because the source output is known, it is possible to use advanced cross-correlation techniques to literally pull signals out of noise (i.e. improve Signal-to-Noise ratio or SNR). Askeland (2007) shows that it is possible to identify a known signal that has an amplitude 19 dB lower than the background noise using these techniques. By using these processing methods, not only is the sound level reduced but the total acoustic energy is also reduced relative to conventional seismic sources.

It is noted that simply replacing high level impulsive sounds (i.e. current methods) with lower level continuous sounds (alternative sources) may not have a positive net effect on marine life in all cases. However, in the cases of the sources described above, the total acoustic energy input into the water is reduced relative to conventional methods, partially through the use of advanced processing methods. Thus, a positive net effect may be realized¹³. Lower source levels than what is currently published for these alternative sources may be possible if longer integration times of these alternative signals are used. However, this would have an impact on how fast a vessel towing the source could move. Tenghamn (Workshop) has indicated that the marine vibrator system can be used at typical seismic survey vessel speeds. Askeland (2006) has used the LACS at vessel speeds of 2.8 knots.

The LACS and marine vibrator systems have been tested in water depths ranging from 4 feet to 380 meters. The maximum usable water depth is a current limitation of these systems. It is believed that these systems could be used in water deeper than 380 meters if multiple or larger sources are used (increasing the effective source level) or longer integration times are used (see above).

These sources are still in the development/proof-of-concept stage, but some may not be far from being used in commercial applications. Tenghamn (Workshop) has indicated that a commercial version of the marine vibrator system may be available in 2 years; the current source design will break after about 2 weeks of use, and alternative materials and driving mechanisms are being explored. It has also been indicated that the mechanical piston/combustion source (LACS) is currently available for vertical seismic profiling. The underwater tunable organ pipe system appears to be an early prototype, and has only been used with frequencies above 200 Hz; however this system provides significant potential as an alternative source and commercial development may not be too far off if the concept is pursued.

Other replacements for conventional impulsive seismic sources include techniques that use nonanthropomorphic sounds. Natural sources such as sound generated from wind on the ocean surface and small seismic events (micro-seism) have been used to generate accurate images of structures below the ocean floor. Noise from passing vessels has also been used for these purposes. Penetration depths up to 1000 meters using vessel noise were indicated by McGee (Workshop). Contrary to other seismic survey methods, some of these techniques (particularly those using micro-seism sources) require long acquisition times; acquisition times on the order of hours or days are not uncommon. Because of this, these methods may not be well suited for

¹³ A separate study of the effects of marine vibroseis on marine life is currently being funded by the JIP.

exploration of new areas. However, they may be very appropriate for 'Life-of-Field' surveys where the area of interest is already well established and there will likely be a significant amount of background noise due to vessel activity. These approaches are being used by universities in some areas of research such as the identification of hydrates in the ocean floor. Adapting these techniques for the oil and gas industry may take some time, but they hold great potential for making significant reductions in sound levels at all frequencies.

Electromagnetic surveys do not require an acoustic sound source, and are currently available; however, they are not (currently) a replacement for conventional acoustic surveys. In this approach, a DC or AC electromagnetic signal is produced in the water which then propagates into the sea floor, reflects off structures, and bounces back to the surface in a similar fashion to acoustic signals. The signal is detected by receivers located on the sea floor. The source can be either stationary or towed, and is located either on or just above the sea floor. The data that is acquired is good for identifying the contents of reservoirs, which is information that can not be obtained through acoustic surveys. However, electromagnetic methods are less accurate at determining physical extents of a reservoir than conventional acoustic methods. Thus, these surveys are better suited for determining the viability of a reservoir as opposed to finding new locations to drill. There are currently several companies that can perform various versions of these surveys commercially, and the technology appears to be continually developing.

Two reports were identified, Sixma (1996a) and Sixma (1996b), that discuss the use of a bubble curtain to block some of the laterally radiated sound energy created by air guns. (For a larger discussion on bubble curtains, see Section 4.2.) In this method, bubble curtains are located on two sides of the seismic source (parallel to the direction of the vessel towing the source) with the purpose of blocking sound in those directions. The original application was meant to reduce acoustic interference caused by modal propagation and reflection in shallow waters. It was shown that reductions of 9 dB are possible at 40 Hz, with increasing effectiveness up to 30 dB above 80 Hz. Increases in level were sometimes seen near 20 Hz. It was noted that these reductions were measured for all locations where there was no line-of-sight with the source; measurement locations with a direct line-of-sight path to the source showed effectively no reduction in sound. While this approach certainly shows merit, it blocks sound in only two lateral directions; it would not be practical to use a similar barrier in front of the seismic source unless the source was stationary. Furthermore, it would need to be determined if this approach is feasible and effective for use in deep waters; the bubble curtain has limitations as to how deep it can be located, and therefore there is some limit as to the shielded area at large distances from the source.

Lastly, it is noted that shear wave generators may be an alternative to existing source types that have the potential to reduce sound levels generated in the water. In this approach, the sea floor is excited directly in shear. Shear waves can be used to acquire seismic data in a similar fashion to existing methods. The advantage here is that fluids can not support shear waves, and therefore no sound (theoretically) would be generated. In practice, it is likely that at least some sound is generated, either by the generator itself (which is located in the water) or by other means. For example, some shear wave generators also create compression waves, which do radiate into the water. Measurements of noise levels caused by shear wave generators have not been identified. Furthermore, it was noted in the Workshop that shear wave data is hard to interpret.

4.2 Pile Driving Treatments

There has been a fair amount of work performed in reducing noise (and impulse pressures, etc.) from pile driving. Essentially all of this work has focused on shallow water applications: construction of bridges, piers, etc. No attempts aimed specifically at treating noise from deep water pile driving could be found, although some approaches have been identified that can be used in deep water applications¹⁴. Details on the treatments identified for pile driving are provided in Section PD in Appendix A.

For shallow waters, 'bubble curtains' have been the primary focus of noise control efforts based on their sound attenuation capabilities (when properly designed) and cost effectiveness. A bubble curtain is a sheet or 'wall' of air bubbles that are produced around the location where the piling will occur. The bubbles are created by forcing air through small holes drilled in metal or PVC rings using air compressors. The bubbles in the bubble curtain create an acoustical impedance mismatch which is effective in blocking sound transmission. A description of the general construction and makeup of a bubble curtain can be found in Longmuir (2001). Reductions in peak pressure, RMS pressure, and energy are typically on the order of 5-20 dB or more. In order to be effective the bubble smust be seated properly on the sea floor to avoid acoustic flanking and a reduction in effectiveness. Furthermore, the effectiveness of the curtain is dependent on several factors including the thickness of the curtain, size of the bubbles, and bubble density, among others.

Bubble curtains are susceptible to currents which can disrupt the continuity of the curtain. Two concepts have been developed to help overcome this issue. Bubble 'trees' use several bubble rings which are stacked vertically. A description and image of this concept is provided in Item PD1a in Appendix A. By using multiple layers of bubbles the potential for disruption of the bubble curtain by currents is significantly reduced. Of course, the complexity of the system is increased, and it is indicated by Laughlin (2007) that additional rings do not increase effectiveness when there are no currents (there may even be a decrease in performance). A second solution for combating currents is to use a confined bubble curtain where a sheet of fabric or other solid material is used to guide bubbles and prevent bubble dispersion. A description of this approach is given in Item PD1b in Appendix A.

The feasibility of bubble curtains is limited to shallow and costal waters. This is due to several factors: 1) the size of the compressor increases as water depths increase (this size becomes less feasible for depths of several hundred feet), 2) given a specific bubble size, density, and bubble curtain thickness, the effectiveness of a bubble curtain decreases with increasing water depth (Shagapov, 1998), and. 3) for bubble trees, the spacing between each bubble ring should be on the order of 10-35 feet (Petrie, 2005; Longmuir, 2001; CADOT, 2001). This would require a very large number of rings for large water depths. (A bubble tree would likely be required due to greater susceptibility to currents at larger depths.) Similarly, constrained bubble curtains would

¹⁴ It could be said that a 'treatment' for pile driving is to increase the efficiency of the operation. Inefficient piling approaches will likely increase noise, and would certainly increase the duration of a project. It is assumed here that for conventional approaches the pile driving efficiency would be analyzed and optimized for any project to reduce time on-site (and associated costs). Such methodologies will not be discussed further here.

require a significant amount of material to cover the entire water column. Other practical limitations regarding deployment and cost may also apply.

A second approach for reducing pile driving noise is to use a solid physical barrier. This approach was deemed as less practical than bubble curtains by Longmuir (2001), although Laughlin (2007) worked with at least one design where a steel casing is lined with foam. This design provided upwards of 20 dB of attenuation (peak, RMS, and SEL). Lucke (workshop) also presented results of using closed cell foam (alone) as a barrier material; similar effectiveness was seen. Furthermore, it is also possible to remove the water from a solid casing that surrounds a pile, creating a 'dewatered cofferdam'. This approach has been shown to be effective, although implementation would likely take more effort than other barrier approaches. As is the case with bubble curtains, application of these treatments are only feasible in shallow waters. Implementation in deep waters is not practical.

The effects of 'pile caps' on underwater sound generation have also been measured by Laughlin (2006a). Pile caps are circular discs that are placed between the impact head of the piling hammer and the pile. For practical materials, peak level reductions of 1-8 dB were measured. A negative effect on piling efficiency may result but was not investigated.

There is some indication that different pile types create different underwater sound levels. Laughlin (2005a) and WSDOT (2005) report that steel H-piles produce significantly lower peak levels than circular concrete and steel piles. The data is scattered, although differences between H-piles and circular piles may on the order of 10-20 dB. Use of alternative piles may be somewhat limited, as H-piles may not be appropriate for all situations.

A few approaches have been identified that replace existing piling methods and can significantly reduce underwater sound levels. One of these is a technology called 'suction piling' and it presents one of the largest opportunities to greatly reduce noise while potentially increasing installation speed (Mather, 2000). A suction pile is a large drum with the bottom face removed. The drum is located on the ocean floor, and air and water are sucked out thereby sinking the pile into the ground. Grout ballast can also be added for supplemental strength; if ballast is not used then the pile can easily be completely removed by reversing the installation process. The top face of the drum is attached to the structure to be supported, such as an offshore platform, and can also be used for mooring. Examples of suction piles are provided in Figure PD7 in Appendix A. Although underwater sound measurements of suction pile installations were not found, it is believed that the noise of this procedure will be negligible relative to existing methods since the only noise source is the suction pump. All impulsive type sounds are removed using this approach. Suction piles can be used in both deep and shallow waters, providing a large advantage over other noise reduction techniques.

A second approach that replaces conventional piling methods is the use of a 'press-in piling machine' (Goh, 2005). Press-in piling machines are unique, self contained units that use static forces to install piles. A diagram of this machine is provided in Figure PD8 in Appendix A. The machine uses other piles that have already been installed as leverage to install new piles (installation of the first piles are also possible using this machine, without the need for impact or other conventional methods). Underwater noise levels were not found, but they are expected to

be significantly less than those produced using existing methods. All impulsive types of noise are removed by using this technique. This system was originally developed for land based use in highly sensitive areas where human hearing impacts, vibration, erosion, and other similar concerns are paramount. For example, press-in piling operations have been granted permits on beaches during turtle migration season (Carter, Workshop). Because every pile is driven statically, the load capacity of each pile is known; no further verification tests are required. This approach has been used extensively on land and in shallow waters. While the conventional application of this approach requires consecutive piles to be located adjacent to one another, the piling machine can also be located on a barge or other structure, thus allowing for pile installation at any location (including deep waters). The current technology allows for installation of piles with diameters of up to 5 feet (1.5 meters); larger piles can be simulated by installing multiple smaller piles adjacent to one another. Other pile types can also be installed, including sheet and H-piles.

A third approach is the use of cast-in-place piles. A sketch showing this concept is given in Figure PD9 in Appendix A. In this approach, a pile casing is drilled into position and then filled with concrete. This approach has been used for land based applications only and has not been used for marine or deep water installations. The potential for noise reductions are significant (relative to impact methods), although some sound will be generated through the drilling process. This method may not be feasible for use in water.

Lastly, it is important to note that vibratory piling methods may be a reasonable solution for reducing the peak noise levels and removing impulsive sounds in certain applications. As indicated in Section 3.2.3, vibratory methods have been measured by several authors to be significantly quieter than impact methods. Rise times and peak over and under pressures are also significantly reduced using this method, which is primary concern in many applications such as mitigating fish mortality. However, there is some concern that replacing an impulsive type source with a continuous one may not necessarily yield a net gain. Further research is needed in order to better quantify the impacts of vibratory hammers.

4.3 Treatments for Explosives

As discussed in Section 3.2.3, explosives are used for seismic exploration, obstacle removal, and decommissioning of offshore structures. Treatments for seismic exploration are discussed in Section 4.1. This section focuses on mitigation of noise from explosives during decommissioning and obstacle removal. Details on treatments for explosives are provided in Section EX in Appendix A.

One seemingly straight-forward approach to reducing noise from conventional bulk explosives is to properly assess the amount of explosive that is required for a given job. A discussion of this approach is provided by Keevin (1996). (Techniques such as delayed charge detonation are commonly employed but are not discussed further here.) The optimization of charge weight was briefly discussed at the Workshop. It was stated that most often the maximum amount of explosive (typically 50 lbs of TNT or equivalent for a given charge) will be used in order to ensure the obstacle is removed since follow-up detonations can be costly and time consuming. A relation between charge weight and sound pressure is provided by Richardson (1995). A 2-fold reduction in charge weight would only yield a 2 dB reduction in underwater peak pressure, and

similarly a 4-fold reduction in charge weight would yield a 4 dB reduction. As such, the benefit of noise reduction using this approach may not outweigh the potential for an insufficient blast, requiring additional shots, unless the actual required amount of explosive is very small.

Some options are available that can significantly reduce the amount of required explosive material. One option is the use of 'shaped charges'. As stated in Continental (2004), shaped charges "are designed to collide or 'focus' the detonation front to concentrate more energy along the fracture line, and thus reduce the size of the charge needed to cut a piling." The effectiveness of this approach has been the subject of limited study. Saint-Arnaud (2004) presents data that shows a 4 dB average decrease in peak pressure, a 13 dB decrease in "impulse" (See Appendix C), and a 10 dB decrease in energy flux density when compared to conventional bulk charges in the same application. It is noted that the data is very scattered. Shaped charges may also help to speed up decommissioning activities since the focused charges can be more effective at cutting structures than bulk charges.

Other methods are being developed which have the potential for large reductions in explosive material and may provide reductions in underwater sound levels. 'Radial hollow charges' are an adaptation of shaped charges mentioned above. As described in Continental (2004), these are "short, linear-shaped charges bent into an arc with the explosives initiated simultaneously at the central axis. The detonation front runs radially outward, detonating the explosive simultaneously on both sides of an inverted v-shaped liner. The liner collapses, producing a flowing radial cutting jet. Because of this diverging flow, a relatively long cut can be produced in a flat or curved steel plate. By joining a number of these types of charges together, it is possible to cut along plates and around pipes using relatively low explosive weights." Indications of specific reductions in explosive material were not found, although based on the configuration of these charges the amount of material is expected to be less than for shaped charges. As such, reductions in sound may be similar or greater than shaped charges. A diagram showing the use of radial hollow charges is given in Figure EX2 in Appendix A.

'Shock-wave focusing' is another method under development that can reduce the required amount of explosive materials needed for a given job. This is a method in which explosives and waveguides are used to "focus the energy of the shock-wave through a steel piling, and by exerting very high compressive/tensile stresses on the target area, initiate controlled brittle fracturing." (Continental, 2004). The charges used are hollow and flexible, and can be wrapped around tubes internally or externally. A conceptual diagram is provided in Figure EX3 in Appendix A. Continental (2004) states, "Shock-wave focusing can reduce the explosive weight of a cutting charge by up to 90% when compared with standard shaped charges. Shock-wave focusing charges are particularly effective for targets with thicker walls, but to be effective, they require that the opposite surface be backed by either water or air. Grout-backed surfaces are not effectively severed by shock-wave focusing methods." Tests in air show good results, but tests in water have had limited success (Reverse, 2004).

It is noted in Committee (1996) that "none of the explosive cutting techniques, except bulk charges, can be used to sever wells with multiple casing strings except by repeated explosion done from the outside, one layer at a time." This provides an obvious limitation for the use of Shaped Charges, Shock Wave Focusing, and Radial Hollow charges, although their use is certainly applicable to many other situations. It is noted that mechanical cutting methods can be used to remove these structures (see below).

In some applications it may be possible to block the sound created by explosives from radiating into the greater ocean environment. Bubble curtains have been used in several applications, both for explosives use and pile driving. Details on bubble curtains are provided in Section 4.2 and Items PD1a and PD1b in Appendix A. It is noted that the thickness of the bubble curtain must be such that the curtain integrity is not compromised as a result of the explosion. Similarly, solid physical barriers can be used to block sound propagation from explosives. Bubble curtains and solid barriers need to completely surround the sound source through the entire water column, and are thus limited to shallow waters. Keevin (1997) presents data showing the effectiveness of a bubble curtain use with explosives. Reductions in peak pressure, impulse, and energy flux density were all greater than 90% on average. Reduced fish kills were also noted. No studies were found that investigate the effectiveness and implementation methods of physical barriers for explosives, although good results were found using solid barriers for pile driving (see Section 4.2).

It may also be possible to reduce underwater noise from explosions by using blasting mats. Blasting mats are currently used for land-based applications, and are typically made of recycled rubber tires that are tied together with steel cables. They are placed over the charges to minimize the amount of flying debris (in air) and sound from the explosion. Vendors contacted for this study indicate that the mats can be used underwater and have done so in a few cases (primarily for control of debris). There is no published information on the acoustical effectiveness of this treatment in water. Further testing would be required. Blasting mats are relatively inexpensive from a materials perspective, and could be used in deep waters. Logistics of locating the blasting mat would need to be developed and refined, and may be the most significant cost factor.

Slow burn-rate explosives, such as black powder, are explosives that have slower detonation velocities as compared with dynamite and TNT. It is noted in several locations that fish mortality is significantly reduced when black powder is used (Richardson, 1995; Keevin, 1997). This may be due to the longer rise-times and pulse durations seen with black powder as compared with other conventional explosives. This appears to be true in spite of the fact that higher peak pressures can result from the use of black powder.

When boreholes are used to remove rocks and other obstacles, 'capping' or 'stemming' techniques have been shown to be very effective. In this approach the top of the borehole is packed with an inert material such as crushed rock. This can provide upwards of 19+ dB of attenuation in peak pressure relative to an un-capped borehole (Hempen, 2007). This method is inexpensive and easy to implement, however it is noted that 'partial confinement' – i.e. a borehole that is not sufficiently filled with material – will reduce the effectiveness of this treatment. A system where the borehole is covered from above using a large metal plate or blasting mat (see above) may be preferred in some instances assuming an effective seal can be constructed between the cover and borehole. This technique can also be combined with existing capping methods to help reduce partial confinement effects and potentially increase effectiveness.

Lastly, it is noted that various cutting methods are available to remove offshore structures as an alternative to explosives use. A review of these techniques is provided by Twachtman (2000), and Twachtman (2004) provides detailed cost analyses. The methods discussed include diamond wire cutting, abrasive cutting, mechanical cutting, and torch cutters. Of these methods, diamond wire cutting appears to be the most feasible and practical, particularly in deep waters. These operations are carried out using divers or underwater vehicles, both manned and remotely operated. No data was identified regarding the underwater sound levels produced during these activities, although data from cutting tools used by divers are provided by Nedwell (1993). Peak sound levels are 80+ dB lower than those produced by blasts, and it is expected that cutting methods in general would produce lower sound levels than explosives. Impulsive sounds would also be largely, if not entirely removed using cutting methods. Cutting methods require longer time on-site than when explosives are used.

4.4 Vessel Treatments

Treating noise related issues on vessels has been the subject of a lot of work over the past century. Airborne noise in compartments on vessels is typically a concern for crew comfort and communication, as well as long term hearing damage. Fortunately, many of the techniques used to control airborne noise can also control underwater noise. Underwater noise has been a concern of navies worldwide since WWII, and has become an increasingly important issue for commercial and research vessels¹⁵. A benefit to a vessel that has a low underwater radiated noise signature is that it will generally produce lower airborne noise levels on-board as well.

The specific underwater noise treatments that would be used on any given vessel will depend on the physical makeup of the ship (overall vessel layout, propeller parameters, plating thicknesses, frame spacing, etc.), details of the sources (diesel engines, turbine, electric motors, pumps, etc.), and the desired underwater noise level or requirement. It is not possible to give detailed design guidance for all circumstances. General guidelines are outlined here for the dominant sources found on most vessels. Furthermore, some sources of noise will be specific to certain kinds of operations and vessels. For example, it was noted at the Workshop that noise from a rope hitting the deck or hull on a trawler was detected in the underwater noise signature during a particular measurement. Pertinent sources and treatments for any vessel should be evaluated on a case-bycase basis.

As discussed in Section 3.2.4, underwater noise from vessels falls broadly into three categories: propeller or thruster induced noise, machinery induced noise, and fluidborne noise through seaconnected piping systems. A summary of treatments applicable to these categories are discussed separately below.

4.4.1 Propeller and Thruster Treatments

The dominant contribution to the underwater radiated noise spectrum from propellers and thrusters is cavitation noise. Treatments and/or blade designs that delay the onset of cavitation (i.e. cavitation inception speed – see Section 3.2.4.1) or reduce cavitation growth at a given

¹⁵ It is noted that underwater noise has been a concern of some for much longer. For example, whalers in the 1800s would place "matting" in the oar locks to prevent excess noise (Olmstead, 1841).

speed can be used to reduce underwater noise from vessels (Pinto, 1999; Kawakita, 2000; Seoul, 2002). Details on propeller and thruster treatments are provided in Section PT in Appendix A.

Several sources discuss specific measures for raising the cavitation inception speed for propellers; for example, Greeley (1982), Asmussen (1986), Bruggeman (1988), Pylkkanen (1991), Fischer (2001), Kinnas (2002), and Jebsen (2005). Similar design guidance is available for thrusters in Brown (1974), Brown (1977), and Fischer (2006). The best way to reduce cavitation is to increase the uniformity of the flow conditions in and out of the propeller or thruster, and to design the propulsor's blades for those specific flow conditions while mitigating sensitivity to variations in the flow and load. It is always best to reduce propeller loading as much as possible by increasing propeller diameter and reducing the rotation rate.

The design of a quiet propeller or thruster includes modifications to common design parameters and features, such as changes in tip speed, blade outline ('skew'), blade sections thickness, propeller pitch-diameter ratio and its radial distribution, and even the number of blades. No special materials or additional 'treatments' are required and the reduction in noise level can be significant, on the order of 3-10 dB or more. These modifications are often possible for existing vessels by replacing existing propellers with improved low-noise versions. Propeller blade costs are similar to conventional blades, with the only significant potential difference coming from machining costs. Other modifications such as changes to the hull to improve flow conditions must usually be considered at the design stage. It is recommended that any propeller or thruster that is required to have reduced sound levels be analyzed by an expert, as advanced modeling and analysis tools are available to the expert user.

It is noted that many vessels currently employ controllable-pitch propeller designs (CPP). When used properly, the pitch of the propeller is changed with different engine RPMs to best match inflow conditions. This technique can result in increased propulsion performance and reduced noise. However, it is common for vessels to use CPP designs with engines that operate at a fixed speed; vessel speed is then controlled solely through blade pitch. This design can lead to very high noise levels, as cavitation is possible (and likely in practice) even at 0 pitch since tip speed is constant (and high). It is strongly suggested that when CPP designs are used, the propulsion engine or motor should be allowed to vary in speed, and an optimal configuration of RPM and blade pitch should be identified for each speed to keep noise levels as low as possible.

One particular blade design that has the potential for large reductions in underwater radiated noise is the "forward-skew" blade design (Brown, 1999). An example image of a forward-skew blade is provided in Item PT2b in Appendix A. Brown states that "the forward-skewed blade-tip region suffers less change in load (lift) per unit change of incidence than a straight-edged blade – and a lot less than a back-skewed blade." This makes it less susceptible to variations in inflow and vessel speed. This design can be implemented on both propellers and thrusters. Brown presented measured data at the Workshop from a design modification to the bow thruster on the R/V ROGER REVELLE. It was shown that the new forward-skew blade design reduced underwater noise by 5-18 dB at the 1000 Hz third-octave band over much of the thruster's operating range. In addition, NCE has recently been in contact with the operator of a survey vessel where the original propeller was replaced with a forward-skew design due to poor acoustical performance. The vessel could not perform its normal functions which included the

use of sonar at 12 kHz due to interference from noise created by the propeller. After the new forward-skew blade was implemented the noise reportedly dropped by 20 dB at this frequency and the vessel can now perform surveys at full speed (11.5 knots) (NCE, 2007). This same technology has also been applied to pumps with good results (Brown, Workshop). Forward-skew blade designs must be implemented in tunnels or nozzles to prevent fouling or physical damage to marine life. It is noted that nozzles can be used to increase thrust by as much as 20% when properly designed for heavily loaded propulsors (this is a "Kort nozzle").

Beyond modification to the propellers themselves, other design choices can be made to locate the propeller in a position where there are better flow characteristics. This will help to reduce noise by delaying cavitation inception, but may yield a reduction in propulsive efficiency due to loss of the "wake fraction" factor¹⁶. Such approaches include the use of drop-down thrusters, Z-drives, and podded propulsion systems. These approaches are best considered and implemented at the design stage, but modifications to existing vessels are sometimes possible.

Waterjets have also been shown to have lower underwater radiated noise than equivalent open propellers for high speed vessels (Anonymous, 1994; Kallman, 2001). These studies typically focus on airborne on-board noise levels instead of underwater noise, although there is some correlation between the two. Waterjets are currently used primarily on high speed military craft and ferries, although their use could be appropriate for high speed vessels used by the oil and gas industry for similar duty. Recent innovations in waterjet impeller design such as forward-skew blades (similar to what is described above) have been shown to significantly increase cavitation inception speed, thereby reducing noise (Lanni, 2000). Brown indicated at the Workshop that cavitation at 30 knots was "not significant" for a forward-skew impeller design under test. Shafting, bossings and struts being absent, waterjets can provide efficient and quieter operation at high speeds.

Voith Schneider propulsion systems are another alternative to conventional propulsion systems with potential for reduced underwater noise. No underwater noise data was identified in this study, although these designs are used on minesweepers. Other design modifications such as new rudder designs and propellers made from composite materials also hold potential for reducing cavitation growth and increasing inception speed. Additional information on these systems is provided in Appendix A.

Some treatments are available for existing designs where propeller replacement or re-design is not possible. Masking systems consist of a layer of air bubbles injected into the water via a low pressure compressor in order to block underwater noise radiation (the concept is, in principle, the same as for bubble curtains used in pile driving and for explosives). Several methods have been implemented in practice (often on naval vessels). In one approach the air bubbles are injected

¹⁶ Propeller efficiency benefits from the wake created by hull appendages upstream of the propeller. A propeller reaches maximum efficiency when there is zero net kinetic energy of the water as the vessel passes by (relative to an observer sitting in the water). Vessel appendages will drag the water forward, creating kinetic energy in that direction. The propeller can then make use of this energy to increase its propulsion efficiency by returning the energy of this water to 0 (i.e. the propeller pushes backwards on this forward moving water, thus causing it to stop and have zero kinetic energy). If the propeller is moved to another location where the vessel drag does not cause this wake then the added efficiency of this effect is lost.

via holes drilled in a belt attached to or near the vessel's hull, allowing the bubble layer can pass over or under the propeller (bubbles passing over the propeller would not reduce noise radiated into the ocean from the propeller, but would reduce on-board noise caused by propeller pressures). A second approach uses bubbles emitted from holes drilled in the propeller itself. For this method, air must be supplied through the shaft, and the system must be carefully designed to avoid cavitation generation. In a ducted propeller or a tunnel thruster, air can be admitted through the wall to mix with tip gap and vortex cavities to effectively reduce radiated noise. For all of these systems, reductions of 10 dB or more at frequencies above 500 Hz are possible, although some increase in noise at low frequencies is also likely. The costs of these systems is also non-trivial (particularly for propeller injection locations), and maintenance can be bothersome as these systems are prone to marine growth which can clog the system.

Foul release coatings have also shown some noise reduction effects (Mutton, 2006), however results are varied. Such treatments could also be applied to existing propellers if developed more fully.

As discussed in Section 3.2.4.1, singing propellers are caused by the excitation of structural blade modes via flow induced vortex shedding. Singing propellers can typically be cured by propeller edge modifications, as described in Item PT13 in Appendix A. It is also possible to 'de-tune' the propeller to move shedding frequencies out of the range of blade natural frequencies, and vice versa. If, for example, blades are made thicker, the resonant frequencies of the water-loaded blades are typically increased while the vortex shedding frequencies tend to be reduced.

It is important to note that ice strengthened propellers are typically very noisy due primarily to their thicker blade sections and need to operate in both the forward and backing directions. Special attention needs to be paid to ice strengthened propellers if noise reductions are to be achieved (Thiele, 1981; Erbe, 2000).

Lastly, while it may seem trivial, regular maintenance of propellers and thrusters can help keep noise levels low. Propellers that are subjected to marine growth, even in low amounts, are more likely to cavitate at lower speeds and have more pronounced cavitation at higher speeds than 'clean' propellers. Regular maintenance can also help identify propellers that have been damaged. Propeller damage inevitably produces higher levels of underwater noise, and may reduce efficiency as well.

4.4.2 Machinery Treatments

As discussed in Section 3.2.4.2, there are three significant paths that allow machinery to create underwater noise: first structureborne (FSB), secondary structureborne (SSB), and airborne (AB). Identification of the dominant noise path(s) in any vessel design is critical in optimizing treatments for underwater radiated noise. Based on past experience, it is the opinion of NCE that FSB noise will be dominant for many commercial vessels (in the absence of any noise control treatments). AB and SSB paths may also be important, depending on the specifics of the vessel and machinery. Detailed analysis is required to identify machinery items on a given vessel that would require treatment in order to meet a specific noise goal.

Details of various treatment options are provided in Sections MV and MA in Appendix A. Of these treatments, one of the most useful and cost effective for commercial vessels is selection of low noise / low vibration equipment. This approach has minimal impact on space and weight, and cost increases may be relatively small to moderate. Second to this, vibration isolation systems (resilient mounts) can be used to reduce structureborne noise from machinery, and will result in similar reductions in underwater noise (vibration isolation systems are very common on vessels of many types). Examples of common resilient mounts are shown in Figure MV1a(1) in Appendix A. A diagram of a resiliently mounted genset is also provided in Figure MV1a(2) in Appendix A. Single stage mounting systems¹⁷ can reduce vibration and underwater noise by 20 dB or more at frequencies above 100 Hz, and a well designed system can have significant reductions below 100 Hz.

In many cases it may be found that resilient mounting of power generation equipment and propulsion equipment will be sufficient for commercial vessels with moderate noise goals, (after propeller induced noise is resolved). It is noted that mounting of propulsion equipment is sometimes more complicated than mounting of generators since propulsion units often need to withstand thrust forces from the propeller and shaft. Use of thrust bearings and torsional couplings can remove thrust loads from propulsion engines, making them more amenable to resilient mounting. However, large direct-drive diesel engines may not benefit from resilient mounting (Southall, 2004).

Damping treatments can be effective at reducing vibration levels (which applies to FSB and SSB paths) and subsequently underwater noise when used in appropriate locations. However, these treatments often add thousands of pounds of weight to the vessel. Furthermore, for some damping materials, their use is limited to areas where they are not in contact with potable water, long term exposure to oil, or in living compartments. Damping treatments are generally used only when resilient mounts are already in place and additional reductions are required.

As discussed previously, silencers should always be used on exhaust stacks. Fiberglass and mineral wool treatments can be used in machinery spaces to block airborne sound transmission and reduce vibrations generated by impinging airborne noise. These treatments are likely to be most appropriate as a first line of defense to reduce AB and SSB noise. For obvious reasons these materials typically are not appropriate for installation on the deck of machinery spaces; damping treatments are one alternative for these locations. Floating decks can also reduce SSB and AB influence on ship structures below machinery, thus providing insulation against all three paths simultaneously.

Bubble layers, known as "masking systems" have also been implemented on many vessels. Air is emitted into the water via holes drilled in a belt attached to or near the vessel's hull. Effectiveness is similar to that seen for pile driving curtains, although some increase in level at frequencies below 80 Hz has been documented. It is important to note that masker systems installed on vessels have historically been plagued with problems of fouling, and regular

¹⁷ A single stage system is the most commonly found isolation arrangement. It uses a single set of isolation mounts between the subbase and foundation; see Figure MV1a(2). Double stage and other mounting arrangements are possible when additional isolation performance is needed.

maintenance is mandatory to keep these systems operational. Furthermore, such systems are effective only when the vessel is moving.

As was discussed for propellers and thrusters, proper maintenance of machinery can help keep noise and vibration levels as low as possible. This will also help ensure equipment stays operating at proper efficiency, and maximizes equipment lifetime.

The overall design of power generation and propulsion systems can result in large reductions in underwater noise. For example, diesel electric systems¹⁸ often have lower underwater noise levels than diesel-gear driven vessels. This arrangement readily allows the diesel generators to be resiliently mounted, thereby reducing underwater noise from vibrations. Electric motors often have inherently lower noise and vibration levels than diesel engines, which would lead to reductions in underwater noise. If an electric motor required resilient mounting, this would be easier than for a propulsion diesel engine due to the reduced number of piping and other connections.

It is noted that diesel-electric propulsion systems can have greater overall efficiencies than geared propulsion diesel designs. This can be true in spite of the fact that a gearbox is more efficient than the conversion of power from mechanical to electrical and back to mechanical again. The reason for the overall increase in efficiency is that multiple small generators can be used; those generators that are needed can operate close to their optimal loading (i.e. near maximum) while others are secured. Therefore the overall diesel efficiency may be improved, resulting in a more efficient system at less than full load. Electric motors are often lighter than diesel engines as well. It is suggested that diesel-electric systems be considered when new vessels are designed in order to reduce underwater noise.

Lastly, the total cost of machinery and propulsion treatments were discussed at the Workshop. Fisher (Workshop) has provided an estimate of \$150-\$750 thousand dollars for a 'first-order' noise reduction on a given vessel. This would include (roughly) resilient mounting treatment design and installation, airborne and secondary structureborne treatment design and installation, as well as analysis and installation of a modified propeller design. This cost is likely to be less than 1% of the total vessel cost. Actual costs and total noise reduction will naturally depend on the specific vessel.

4.4.3 Sea Connected System Treatments

There are two general treatments that are readily available for reducing fluidborne levels inside of piping attached to pumps: flexible pipe connections and pulsation dampers. Flexible pipe connections reduce sound pressure levels by creating an impedance mismatch for fluidborne (and structureborne) energy (Purshouse, 1986). Noise attenuation is broadband, with increasing effectiveness at higher frequencies. In general, dogleg configurations should be used to maximize acoustical effectiveness (see Item FB1 in Appendix A), though double, in-line arch flex hose may be acceptable for space-limited applications.

¹⁸ Diesel generators with electric propulsion motors.

Pulsation dampers are acoustical absorbers that are either located in-line or in parallel with the pipe (i.e. connected as a short, terminated side branch). Parallel dampers are "tuned" to have a resonant frequency, and thus work only at that one frequency. This frequency can be selected to be the rotation rate or blade rate of a pump, for example. Their effectiveness at this frequency can be dramatic. In-line dampers typically use an air filled bladder that reacts to pulsations in the fluid. Their effectiveness covers a larger frequency range than parallel dampers, but their effectiveness is smaller. Parallel dampers also have the potential to operate effectively at lower frequencies than in-line dampers.

Detailed information is provided in Section FB in Appendix A.

4.5 Dredge Treatments

As discussed in Section 3.2.5, transfer and hopper dredges create more sound than bucket dredges. As such, this section primarily focuses on those louder sources (although some of the treatments described here would also be applicable to certain aspects of bucket dredges). It was shown in Section 3.2.5 that propellers and thrusters, when present and operating, are likely to be the dominant contributors to underwater noise from dredges. Noise resulting from on-board machinery will become dominant when propellers and thrusters are not used. The significance of the noise radiated by the suction / cutting head relative to on-board machinery/propellers is believed to be minimal, but should be the subject of further study. While some treatments can be envisioned that may help reduce noise from the dredge head, such as bubble curtains mounted directly to the dredge head or decoupling materials, such treatments are speculative and may be difficult to implement in practice. No attempts to control noise from the dredge head specifically have been found, and it is recommended that other sources be treated (as needed) before the dredge head unless additional data can highlight its significance.

Given the similarity to vessels (discussed in Section 4.4), many of the treatments for vessels are also applicable here. Controlling thruster noise is expected to be of particular importance for hopper dredges while maintaining position for dredging (dynamic position mode). Propellers are also likely to be a significant source while transiting. The quiet propeller and thruster designs provided in Section PT in Appendix A can be used on hopper dredges to reduce noise levels from these sources. Note that designs should take into account the specific loads that are expected for the given dredge and specific designs may differ from those of other vessels. It is also noted that the use of more thrusters operating at lower loads can help reduce noise during dynamic positioning, although at greater cost.

For machinery sources, the FSB path is likely to be the most significant, particularly for hard mounted machinery, although AB and SSB paths may be significant in some cases. Details on these treatments are listed on Sections MV and MA in Appendix A. It is noted that resilient mounting of large dredging pumps may not be straight forward or feasible due to imbalance loads and other non-acoustical considerations. Because of this, it may be advantageous to use the "floating deck" design described in Item MV2 in Appendix A. By using this approach, the pump and prime mover can be mounted directly to a single common structure that can provide adequate supporting stiffness for both items, and this structure would then be resiliently mounted to the vessel. Note that this can also reduce SSB noise from the deck. Again, the specific

treatments used on any dredge should be tailored to the needs of that vessel through detailed analysis.

Lastly, it was noted in Section 3.2.5 that tug boats are used to control barges used for some transfer dredge operations. These boats can be a significant source of noise. In order to reduce noise from these vessels, it is suggested that procedures be put in place that would not require these tugs to continuously operate. One option may be to allow the tugs and barge to moor in place near the dredging operation. This would allow the tugs to power down until they are needed to move the barge to the dump site. Mooring could be accomplished through the use of suction piles, which could be removed and re-located as needed (See Item PD7 in Appendix A). Other options are certainly available as well. Alternatively (or in addition), these vessels can be designed to have reduced noise levels using the methods described in Section 4.4.

4.6 Post Trenching Treatments

No attempts at reducing noise from post trenching operations were identified as part of this study. It is speculated in Section 3.2.6 that the noise from these operations is dominated by the noise from the vessel towing the trenching machine and therefore a first step in reducing post trenching noise would be to use the vessel treatments described in Section 4.4. However, additional studies would be needed to better qualify this assessment.

4.7 Hand Tool Treatments

While underwater noise from hand tools has been identified as significant in some cases, no treatments of these noise sources could be identified in the literature. It is speculated that some treatment possibilities may exist in certain circumstances. For example, use of a dewatered cofferdam or a local bubble curtain may be employed to help control noise, but these approaches have limitations, particularly for deep water applications, as discussed in Sections 4.2, 4.3 and Items PD1 and PD5 in Appendix A. Decoupling materials may also be an option, but would require further study for this application (see Item MV6 in Appendix A).

In the specific case of bolt guns used on large metal structures, it may be possible to use a removable / re-usable damping pad to help reduce any sound radiation that results from the vibration of the structure being 'worked'. For example, a large damping tile or set of tiles with a magnetic backing could be used to damp steel structures and reduce sound re-radiation. However, this approach has drawbacks with regards to logistics of applying and retrieving the damping. Additional research would be needed in order to better quantify the feasibility of these or other possible treatments.

For now the best possible approach would be to use equipment that has been shown to have lower underwater radiated noise (which may also require additional research).

4.8 Drilling and Production Platform Treatments

Analysis of the various platform types and causes of noise identified in Sections 3.2.8 through 3.2.13 indicates that platforms can generally be grouped into two categories for the purpose of noise assessment and treatment design: free standing and floating structures. Free standing structures are considered to be fixed platforms such as jack-ups and other platforms that are fastened to the ground either through piles or gravity, as well as gravel islands and some

caissons. Floating structures include drillships, semi-submersibles, FPSOs, floating platforms, and floating caissons. The delineation of these groups results from their overall construction styles, which influence how acoustic and vibration energy is transmitted through and from the structure. For example, floating structures primarily use stiffened plating, where fixed structures use beam or piping supports and beam grillage networks. Each of these constructions lend themselves to different propagation mechanisms from machinery. Equipment items responsible for underwater noise on each of these platforms was found to be the similar, specifically large power generation equipment, pumps, etc., although details of specific equipment items causing noise will vary from platform to platform. Furthermore, some floating structures use thrusters, a dominant source of noise; fixed structures do not.

These categories have been created to simplify the treatment assessment for the purposes of this report. It is important to note that these groupings should not imply that the same treatment or group of treatments is applicable to every platform type within one of these categories. On the contrary, treatments that work well on a specific platform may not work well on another platform of the same type, even one that appears on the surface to have similar characteristics. For example, it was discussed at the Workshop that semisubmersibles can have large power generation equipment located on the upper decks, in the legs, or in the pontoons. Each of these situations would require different treatments, implemented in varying degrees. Similarly, some applications allow for mooring and thus thruster noise is not an issue; whereas others require thrusters to be used. Because these structures vary widely it is recommended that detailed analyses be performed for any specific structure so the most effective treatments can identified.

It is important to note again that the noise from almost any platform will be dominated by vessels operating in the area (when present). The discussion moving forward will assume that noise reduction of the platform itself is desired and the treatments discussed are focused on the reduction of noise caused by sources integral to the platform. However, vessel noise should not be ignored when assessing appropriate treatments for offshore drilling and production operations. The treatments for vessels described in Section 4.4 would certainly apply to the various vessels that support these platforms.

It is noted that one possible method of reducing vessel noise would be to reduce the amount of time they are required to use thrusters and propulsion – i.e. for dynamic positioning. One suggestion would be to allow vessels to tie up to a mooring station or a temporary anchor, possibly provided by a suction pile (see Item PD7 in Appendix A). When this is not possible (such as in water depths greater than 3-4 thousand feet), it may be possible to design supports or structures that would allow vessels to be secured to the platform so that thrusters would not be needed. Any mooring or supporting structure would obviously need to account for wave motion, and may need to keep the vessels in a fixed lateral location relative to the platform. Naturally, these structures should not be used if they would interfere with the safety of the vessel or the platform, or adversely affect the local environment. While such structures may be possible, they would require further investigation. This idea was discussed during the Workshop and was met both with resistance and acceptance. It was noted that existing mooring structures would not be sufficient to perform this task (particularly in deep waters), but new kinds of supporting structures may be possible.

This idea is presented here simply as a concept that may be worth considering in order to make potentially large reductions in underwater noise from platforms. It is also noted that this solution may not be appropriate for all vessels in all locations, but it may be perfectly reasonable in other situations. For example, one attendee of the Workshop cited an offloading facility where supertankers are required to tie up and power down while offloading instead of using thrusters to maintain position. It is likely that this has a major impact on the underwater noise in the immediate area. Furthermore, by allowing thrusters and propulsion to be secured, there would be a savings in fuel costs and possibly man-power.

Lastly, it is noted that as with vessels, maintenance can be an important factor in keeping underwater noise levels low on any platform. Damaged equipment and thrusters can produce significantly increased underwater sound levels, and can also reduce efficiency and lead to other problems.

4.8.1 Treatments for Free Standing Platforms, Including Fixed Platforms and Gravel Islands Free standing platforms are often made up of beam or pipe supports below the water, with beam grillage structures providing primary support for equipment, personnel, etc. above the water. As discussed in Section 3.2.8, this arrangement lends itself to the first structureborne noise path from machinery items, much more so than secondary structureborne noise. As such, the treatments identified in Section MV of Appendix A for reducing vibration are appropriate here. Of these, the resilient mount treatments are likely to be the most cost effective, next to selection of inherently quiet machinery.

The importance of a stiff foundation (and subbase) when using resilient mounts is restated here. This can be particularly important for supporting structures that use beam grillages with very large beam separation (>2-3 meters). It is recommended that additional beams should be used in the vicinity of large resiliently mounted equipment to make the local structure sufficiently stiff to allow for proper resilient mount performance. Spence (2006) indicates that noise reductions of 5-10 dB below 100 Hz may be possible without resilient mounts by optimizing the structure supporting equipment items for dynamic loads (relative to existing practice which can include grillage spans of ~6 meters). The analysis presented by Spence focused on low frequencies, less than 100 Hz, but the effects would also translate into reductions at frequencies above 100 Hz. Equipment items that were mounted on very weak foundations (dynamically speaking) may have amplified impacts. Detailed analyses are recommended to optimize specific structures for weight and stiffness.

If SSB paths are deemed to be significant, the treatments of Section MA in Appendix A would be applicable. Treatments such as fiberglass insulation can be used to reduce the excitation of platform structures from airborne noise. Damping treatments and floating decks can also be used on decks where absorptive treatments are not practical. Silencers should generally be used for machinery exhaust stacks, as discussed in Gales (1983). Airborne noise radiated by machinery may create underwater noise when the structure supporting equipment is open and there is a line-of-sight path to the water (when the angle of incidence is within a 13 degree 'cone'). In these cases, a barrier may be effective at reducing underwater noise (See Item MA4 in Appendix A).

It is indicated in Section 3.2.8 that noise radiation from the drill string casing is probably not a significant source relative to other machinery sources. No treatments specific to drill casings

were found, although it is possible that a cladding or decoupling material could be used to reduce noise radiated from the casing. This treatment would need to be able to withstand very high static pressure loads at large depths while retaining its acoustic effectiveness. Another approach may involve vibration isolation of the string/casing from the rest of the structure. This is probably not a trivial approach, but, at a minimum, reductions at high frequencies may be possible. Investigations into the significance of this path should be undertaken before any conclusions regarding appropriate treatments can be reached. It is noted that if the casing is being excited by mechanical vibration from machinery sources it may be easiest to reduce vibration at the source.

Damping treatments, such as those described in Item MV3, may not be practical for these structures since damping is not as effective on large structural beams as they are on plate structures. It may be possible to use damping or decoupling materials on platform supports, but such an approach would require treatment of large surface areas (since all supports would need to be treated to avoid flanking) and this may not be a cost effective approach in many cases. Source treatments are likely to be more feasible, although if noise goals are stringent then damping or decoupling may become reasonable options. Another option for platforms would be the use of Ballast-Crete located in certain sections of the platform supports to provide additional damping (see Item MV4 in Appendix A).

There are two other paths that may be overlooked but are potentially significant for otherwise low noise structures. One of these is the fluidborne path from pumps with connections to the ocean. This path was indicated as being significant in Gales (1982) for a quiet man-made island. Treatments for this path are provided in Section FB in Appendix A. A second path is direct radiation from the casing of submerged pumps. Additional research would be required to determine the significance of this source/path.

4.8.2 Treatments for Floating Structures, Including Semisubmersibles, Drillships, FPSOs, and Floating Platforms

These structures all use stiffened plating construction, and are therefore similar to vessels. As such, noise generation and mechanisms will be similar to vessels, as well as treatment options and analysis techniques. As shown by Nedwell (2004), thruster noise will dominate the underwater noise spectrum when operating. Therefore it is recommended that these structures be moored whenever possible. If mooring is not an option, thrusters should be designed to be quiet. Thruster treatments and quiet thruster design options are discussed in Section 4.4.1 and Section PT in Appendix A.

When thrusters are not operating, large on-board machinery is believed to be the major cause of underwater noise. FSB and SSB paths are likely to be the dominant causes of underwater noise for machinery located above the waterline. Below the waterline, airborne noise transmission through hull plating can also be a significant source of noise. Furthermore, all equipment exhausts should be muffled, and equipment located topside should not be allowed to directly radiate into the water. Treatments for these various paths are discussed in Sections MV and MA in Appendix A.

It is restated that the need to treat specific sources will depend on the details of the sources, their location, supporting structures, and the noise goals. It may be found that more equipment would need to be mounted on a drillship than on a semisubmersible or FSPO in order to meet the same noise goal due to the potential proximity of equipment to the water. As discussed in Section 4.5, direct resilient mounting of large pumps such as mud pumps may not be possible. In such cases, floating deck treatments may be appropriate – See Item MV2 in Appendix A.

Similar to fixed platforms, drill string casing radiation is a potential source of noise, but current indications do not show its significance. Investigations into the role of this path should be undertaken before any conclusions regarding appropriate treatments can be reached.

4.9 Hovercraft Treatments

Underwater noise from hovercraft is essentially limited to noise generated by the propulsion and lift fans. Airborne noise created by these fans is transmitted directly into the water (see Section 3.2.9). As such, practical treatments are limited to methods of reducing the levels of airborne noise generated by the fans. It may be desirable to focus these efforts on the propulsion fan since this is indicated in Blackwell (2005) as the major source. However additional data is needed to confirm this as a general statement for all hovercraft; lift fans may be significant on other hovercraft designs.

Similar to what is discussed in Section 4.4.1 as 'good propeller design', the airborne noise generated by these fans is largely dependent on the fan blade design and air flow characteristics in and out of the fans. The fan blades should be designed for the expected flow conditions while mitigating sensitivity to variations in the flow and load. Note that the details of a good hovercraft fan blade design will be different that those for propellers due to the physical differences between air and water. Optimization of the airflow, particularly the flow into the propulsion fan where obstructions are likely to be present, can also result in reduced airborne and underwater noise. Additional details are provided in Section HC in Appendix A.

Since no structureborne paths exist for hovercraft, resilient mounting and damping treatments will not have any effect on underwater noise levels.

4.10 Aircraft Treatments

Similar to hovercraft, reduction of underwater noise from aircraft essentially means a reduction in airborne noise generation (other solutions such as flight paths at greater altitudes are not discussed here). A significant effort to reduce airborne noise from aircraft has been in place since 1990 in the United States, and similar efforts are underway elsewhere in the world. The purpose of these efforts has been to reduce the impact of aircraft noise on humans. As a result of this, aircraft built today are more likely to be quieter than those built 20 years ago.

NASA has been involved in large scale efforts to reduce noise levels from jet engines, as reported in Huff (2005). This work focuses around identifying the specific causes of noise in jet engines and making modifications to those engines in order to reduce radiated noise. Reductions of 10 dB are stated as goals. "Hush kits" are available for jet engines and can reduce noise upwards of 10 dB at some frequencies.

Efforts to reduce noise from propeller-driven planes have been identified in Brown (1982), and efforts to reduce helicopter noise are reported in Nagaraja (1992). These approaches are focused on modifying the propeller or rotor shapes, spacing, and contours so that reductions in noise levels are achieved. Again, propeller blades and rotors should be designed for the expected flow conditions while mitigating sensitivity to variations in the flow and load. Reductions in tip speed will generally provide reduced noise levels. Published noise reductions are typically on the order of 3-10 dB over 'conventional' designs.

JanakiRam (1992) discusses a novel helicopter design that does not use a tail rotor ('NOTAR'). This design is shown to reduce noise by 0-7 dB over conventional designs, due to the removal of main rotor / tail rotor interaction. It is stated that this design also provides improved yaw control.

Additional details on these treatments are provided in Section AC in Appendix A.

4.11 Pipeline Treatments

No studies were identified that discuss treatments to reduce pipeline noise. Furthermore, as discussed in Section 3.2.11, the exact causes of pipeline noise are not known. If fluidborne noise created by the pump is responsible for this noise then the treatments discussed in Section 4.4.3 and Section FB in Appendix A are also applicable here. If noise is related to turbulence in the pipe then the solution may be to investigate the specific cause of turbulence, e.g. elevated flow rates past a bend. These solutions would be implemented on a case by case basis. Additional study is needed in order to better identify causes of pipeline noise and appropriate treatments.

REFERENCES

Andersen, K.H., J.D. Murff, M.F. Randolph, E.C. Clukey, C.T. Erbrich, H.P. Jostad, B. Hansen, C. Aubeny, P. Sharma, and C. Supachawarote. 2005. Suction anchors for deepwater applications. International Symposium on **Frontiers in Offshore Geotechnics: ISFOG 2005**.

Anderson, C., M. Atlar, M. Callow, M .Candries, A. Milne, R.L. Townsin. 2003. The development of foul-release coatings for seagoing vessels. Journal of Marine Design and Operations. No. B4: 11-23.

Anonymous. 1994. Waterjets Become the Primary Option. Marine Engineer's Review. June.

Anonymous. 2001a. Tipped Blades: Standard for Propellers of the Future? **The Naval Architect**, July/August. p. 3.

Anonymous. 2001b. Efficiency Gains Demonstrated by Tip Plate Propeller. **The Naval Architect**, July/August. p. 28.

Anonymous. 2001c. Sistemar CLT Blades Benefit Ro-Ro Freight Carrier. **The Naval Architect**, July/August. p. 37.

Askeland, B., B. Ruud, H. Hobæk, and R. Mjelde. 2006. A seismic field test with a Low level Acoustic Combustion Source and Pseudo Noise codes. Submitted to **Marine Geophysical Researches**.

Askeland, B., H. Hobæk, and R. Mjelde. 2007. Marine seismics with a pulsed combustion source and Pseudo Noise codes. **Marine Geophysical Researches**. DOI 10.1007/s11001-007-9018-5.

Asmussen, I. and H. Payer. 1986. Vibrations on Ships with Slow turning Propellers of Large Diameter (Schwingungen auf Schiffen mit Langsamdrehenden Propellern Grossen Durchmessers). Forschungszentrum des Deutschen Schiffbaus. (German).

(BAHAM) The Baham Corporation. No Date. Technology Trends for Propulsor Design of U.S. Navy Ships. Final Report 2052.3-1 for the Naval Sea Systems Command, Department of the Navy. Contract N0024-81-C-4129. TAR 3Z902.

Baniela, I., P.L. Varela, E.M. Rodriguez. 2005. Concept and Operation Mode of the Advanced Electronic Control System of the Azimuth Propellers in Tugs. **Journal of Maritime Research**. II(3): 3-18.

Bekker, J.R. 2005. Is a Drop-Down Better Than a Tunnel Thruster? Downloaded from http://www.thrustmastertexas.com/applications/dropDownBetterThanTunnelThruster.html on April 23, 2007.

Beranek, L.L. (ed). 1988. Noise and Vibration Control, Revised Edition. Institute of Noise Control Engineering. Washington, DC.

Blackstock, D.T. 2000. Fundamentals of Physical Acoustics. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York, NY.

Blackwell, S.B. 2003. Ringed seal densities and noise near an icebound artificial island with construction and drilling. **Acoustic Research Letters Online**. 4(4):112-117.

Blackwell, S.B. and C.R. Greene. 2004. Sounds from Northstar in the Open-Water Season: Characteristics and Contributions of Vessels. Chapter 4 in Monitoring of Industrial Sounds, Seals, and Bowhead Whales near BP's Northstar Oil Development, Alaskan Beaufort Sea, 1999-2003. LGL Report TA4002. Created for BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc, Dept of Health, Safety, and Environment. December.

Blackwell, S.B. and C.R. Greene. 2005. Underwater and in-air sounds from a small hovercraft. **Journal of the Acoustical Society of America.** 118 (6):3646-3652.

Blake, W. 1984. Aero-Hyroacoustics for Ships, Vols. I and II. DTNSRDC-84/010, June.

Bouyoucos, J.V. 1975. Hydroacoustic Transduction. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 57(6):1341-1351.

Breslin, J.P. and P. Andersen. 1994. Hydrodynamics of Ship Propellers. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.

Brown, N.A. and J.A. Norton 1974. "Thruster Design for Acoustic Positioning Systems", The Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers, LaJolla, CA. Article published in **Marine Technology 12(2)**: April 1975.

Brown, N.A. 1975. Prediction and Reduction of the Underwater Radiated Noise from Cavitating Thrusters. Bolt, Beranek, and Newman Inc. Technical Memorandum #267. Submitted to .M. Liaaen A/S, Alesund, Norway. September 19.

Brown, N.A. 1976a. Cavitation Noise Problems and Solutions. **International Symposium on Shipboard Acoustics.** Nordwijkerhout, The Netherlands. Transactions, J.H. Janssen (ed.). Elsevier Scientific Publishing Co. Amsterdam, Netherlands. p 21-38.

Brown, N.A. and J.A. Norton. 1976b. Propeller Blade Structures and Methods Particularly Adapted for Marine Ducted Reversible Thrusters and the like for Minimizing Cavitation and Related Noise. U.S. Patent 3972646. Filed on April 12, 1974.

Brown, N.A. and J.A. Norton. 1977. Acoustic Performance of Dynamic Positioning Thrusters. **DNV Symposium on Hydrodynamics of Ship and Offshore Propulsion Systems.** Hovik, Norway.

Brown, D. and L.C. Sutherland. 1982. Evaluation of noise control technology and alternative noise certification procedures for propeller-driven small airplanes. Final Report Wyle Labs., Inc., El Segundo, CA.

Brown, N.A. 1999. Thruster Noise. Marine Technology Society **Dynamic Positioning Conference**. Houston, TX.

Brown, N.A. 2007. Existing/Future Technology to Address Radiated Noise by Modifying Vessel Propulsion and Operating Parameters. An International Symposium: "Potential Application of Vessel-Quieting Technology on Large Commercial Vessels". NOAA Ocean Acoustics Program, Marine Ecosystems Division, Silver Spring, MD, May. http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/acoustics/presentations.htm

Bruggeman, J. and A. Huisman. 1988. Acoustic Performance of the Highly Skewed Propeller of a Ro-Ro Container Ship. **Propellers '88 Symposium**. TNO Institute of Applied Physics. Delft, Netherlands.

Brungart, T., E. Riggs, J. Gomez, & S. Plunkett. 2002. Rotor Isolation for Noise Reduction. Proceedings of the **Undersea Defense Technology**, 2002.

Buchanan, R.A., R. Fechhelm, J. Christian, V.D. Moulton, B. Mactavish, S. Canning, and R. Pitt. 2006. Orphan Basin Controlled Source Electromagnetic Survey Program, Environmental Assessment. LGL Report SA899. Prepared for ExxonMobil Canada Ltd. June 6.

(CADOT) State of California Department of Transportation. 2001. DES-OE MS#43, October 24, 2001.

Caldwell, J. and W. Dragoset. 2000. A brief overview of seismic air-gun arrays. **The Leading Edge**, August 2000. p. 898-902.

Carlton, J. S. 1981. Marine Propellers & Propulsion. Butterworth Heinemann, Oxford, England.

Chapman, N.R., R. M. Dizaji, and R. L. Kirlin. 2004. Inversion of Geoacoustic Model Parameters Using Ship Noise. **Gayana** 68(2) supplement to International Proceedings: 108-114, 2004 ISSN 0717-652X.

http://www.scielo.cl/scielo.php?pid=S0717-65382004000200020&script=sci_arttext.

Church, L.G. 1989. Ring Propeller. United States Patent 4836748. Assigned to Church Holdings, Sydney, AU. Published June 6.

Clarke, D., C. Dickerson, and K. Reine. 2002. Characterization of Underwater Sounds Produced by Dredges. **Proceedings of the Third Specialty Conference on Dredging and Dredged Material Disposal**. Orlando, Florida. May 5-8. Cole, J.H. 1992. Deep penetrating shear-wave seismic vibratory source for use in marine environments. United States Patent #5128906. Issued to Conoco Inc., Ponca City, OK.

(Committee) Committee on Techniques for Removing Fixed Offshore Structures, Marine Board, National Research Council. 1996. An Assessment of Techniques for Removing Offshore Structures. The National Academies Press. Washington D.C.

(Continental) Continental Shelf Associates, Inc. 2004. Explosive Removal of Offshore Structures, Information Synthesis Report. Prepared for U.S. Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service, Gulf of Mexico OCS Region. MMS 2003-070.

Cosens, S. and L. Dueck. 1993. Icebreaker noise in Lancaster Sound, NWT, Canada; Implications for marine mammal behavior. **Marine Mammal Science**. 9(3). p. 285-300.

Curtis, A, P Gerstoft, H Sato, R Snieder, and K Wapenaar. 2006. Seismic interferometry - turning noise into Signal. **The Leading Edge**, Vol 25, 1082-1092.

Davies, K., G. Hampson, H. Jakubowicz, and J. Odegaard. 1992. Screw Seismic Sources. **Society of Exploration Geophysicists Technical Program Expanded Abstracts**. pp. 710-711. doi:10.1190/1.1822196.

(DND) Department of National Defence. 1979. Standard for Propeller and Hull Air Emission Systems. D-03-003-027/SG-001. Issue 1. 08 June.

(DOD) Department of Defence. 2002. Developing Science And Technologies List, Section 13: Marine Systems Technology. Defense Threat Reduction Agency, Ft. Belvoir. July.

Domenico, S.N. 1982a. Acoustic wave propagation in air-bubble curtains in water – Part I: history and theory. **Geophysics**. Vol 47. pp. 345-353.

Domenico, S.N. 1982b. Acoustic wave propagation in air-bubble curtains in water – Part II: field experiment. **Geophysics**. Vol 47. pp. 354-375.

Draganov, D., K. Wapenaar, W. Mulder, J. Singer, and A. Verdel. 2007. Retrieval of reflections from seismic background-noise measurements. **Geophysical Research Letters.** Vol. 34. L04305.

Dragoset, W. 2000. Introduction to air guns and air-gun arrays. The Leading Edge. August 2000. p. 892-897.

Drake, E.N., E.B. Sirota, S.E. Heiney, W.S. Ross, D.N. Schulz, H. Thomann. 2004. Method for Improved Bubble Curtains for Seismic Multiple Suppression. United States Patent Application Publication US20040318 A1.

(DTNSRDC) The David Taylor Naval Ship R&D Center. 1981. Program Plan for Compound Air Masker Exploratory Development. Report to the Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA) 05H. August 21.

Duncan, A. and R. McCauley. 2000. Characterization of an Air-Gun as a Sound Source for Acoustic Propagation Studies. **UDT Pacific 2000 Conference**, Sydney, Australia.

Erbe, C. and D. Farmer. 2000. Zones of Impact around Icebreakers Affecting Beluga Whales in the Beaufort Sea. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 108(3):1332-1340.

(FAA) U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation Administration. 2001. Advisory Circular: Noise Levels for US Certificated and Foreign Aircraft. AC No. 36-1H.

Fahy, F. and J. Walker. 2004. Advanced Applications in Acoustics, Noise, and Vibration. Chapter 7: Aircraft Noise. Spon Press. London.

Fechhelm, R.G. 2005. The Effects of Controlled-Source Electromagnetics (CSEM) on Marine Animals. Prepared for AGO, LLC. June.

Fischer, R.W., C.B. Burroughs, and D.L. Nelson. 1983. Design Guide for Shipboard Airborne Noise Control. Technical and Research Bulletin No 3-37. Published by **The Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers**. New York, NY.

Fischer, R. 2001. Factors Affecting the Radiated Signature of Underwater Vehicles. **Underwater Intervention**, Houston, TX.

Fischer, R. and L. Boroditsky. 2001. Supplement to the Design Guide for Shipboard Airborne Noise Control. Technical and Research Bulletin 3-37 (Supplement). Published by **The Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers**. Jersey City, New Jersey.

Fischer, R. and N. Brown. 2005. Factors Affecting the Underwater Noise of Commercial Vessels Operating in Environmentally Sensitive Areas. Presented at **Oceans 05.** Washington DC.

Fischer, R. 2006. Addressing Thruster Noise and Vibration. Presented at the **World Maritime Technology Conference**. London.

Gales, R.S. 1982. Effects of Noise of Offshore Oil and Gas Operations on Marine Mammals – An Introductory Assessment Volume 1. Naval Oceans Systems Center Technical Report 844. Report to the Bureau of Land Management, Department of Interior. San Diego, California.

Goh, T.L., H. Nishimura, T. Nozaki, T. Ikeda, and M. Motoyama. 2005. The Use of Environmental Friendly Press-In Piling Technology in the Construction of Transportation Infrastructures. **Journal of the Institution of Engineers, Singapore**. 45(2): 29-49.

Goold, J.C. and P.J. Fish. 1998. Broadband Spectra of Seismic Survey Air-gun Emissions, with Reference to Dolphin Auditory Thresholds. **Journal of the Acoustical Society of America.** 103 (4):2177-2184.

Gray, L., N. Higbie, V. Florimonte. 1979. The Control of Propeller Generated Airborne Noise through the Use of an Air Layer (Masker). BBN Technical Memorandum No. 488. Prepared for the Naval Ship Engineering Center. April. UNCLASSIFIED.

Greeley D. and J. Kerwin. 1982. Numerical methods for propeller design and analysis in steady flow. **Transactions of the Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers.** Vol 90.

Greene, C. 1987a. Characteristics of oil industry dredge and drilling sounds in the Beaufort Sea. **Journal of the Acoustical Society of America.** Vol. 82(4):1315-1324.

Greene, C.R. 1987b. Acoustic studies of underwater noise and localization of whale calls. Sect. 2 In: Responses of bowhead whales to an offshore drilling operation in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea, Autumn 1986. Rep. from LGL Ltd., King City, Ont., and Greeneridge Sciences Inc., Santa Barbara, CA, for Shell Western E & P Inc., Anchorage, AK.

Greene, C.R. and W. J. Richardson. 1988. Characteristics of Marine Seismic Survey Sounds in the Beaufort Sea. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 83 (6):2246-2254.

Greene Jr, C.R. and M. W. McLennan. 2004. Monitoring of Industrial Sounds, Seals, and Bowhead Whales near BP's Northstar Oil Development, Alaskan Beaufort Sea, 1999-2003. LGL Ltd Report TA4002, December 2004. Appendix G: Sounds and Vibrations During Initial Construction of a Gravel Island in the Frozen Beaufort Sea. Created for BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc.

Gunderboom. (no date). Attenuating Underwater Sound & Shockwaves The Gunderboom® Sound Attenuation System (SASTM). PowerPoint Presentation. http://www.gunderboom.com.

Hamm, C.A. 1996. Evaluation of Noise Reduction Coatings: Experimental Design. Prepared for Defence Research Establishment Atlantic (DREA). Report CR/96/417. May.

Hampson G. and H. Jakubowicz. 1995. The effects of source and receiver motion on seismic data. **Geophysical Prospecting**. 43:221–244

Harris, R.E., G.W. Miller, and W. J. Richardson. 2001. Seal Responses to Airgun Sounds During Summer Seismic Surveys in the Alaskan Beaufort Sea. **Marine Mammal Science**, 17(4):795-812.

Harrison, C.H. 2004. Sub-bottom profiling using ocean ambient noise. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 115(4):1505-1515.

Harrison, C.H. 2005. Performance and limitations of spectral factorization for ambient noise sub-bottom profiling. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 118(5):2913-2923.

Hempen, G.I., T.M. Keevin, T.L. Jordan. 2007. Underwater Blast Pressures from a Confined Rock Removal during the Miami Harbor Deepening Project. International Society of Explosives Engineers. 2007G Volume 1.

Holden, K., O. Fogerjord, and R. Frostad. 1980. Early Design Stage Approach to Reducing Hull Surface Forces Due to Propeller Cavitation. **Transactions of the Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers**. Vol 88.

Huff, D.L. 2005. Engine Noise Reduction Technologies and Strategies for Commercial Applications. Fellows Lecture Series. Pratt & Whitney, United Technologies. November 17. http://www.grc.nasa.gov/WWW/Acoustics/media/20051117.PW/PW_Fellows_Lecture_11-17-05.pdf

Jamieson III, H.V. and H.K. Pelton. 1996. Hydraulic Noise in Theme Parks. Sound and Vibration. December. p. 18-21.

JanakiRam, R.D. 1992. Noise Characteristics of Helicopters with the NOTAR Anti-Torque System. Presented at **The Quiet Helicopter** One Day Conference. London, UK. 17 March. p 5.1-5.12

Jebsen, G. 2005. Surface Ship Noise Control. NAVSEA Power Point Presentation.

Jones, D.I.G. 2001. Handbook of Viscoelastic Vibration Damping. John Wiley & Sons. West Sussex, England.

Jordan, T., K.R. Hollingshead, and K.A. Skrupky. No Date. Protecting Dolphins and Manatees During Underwater Blasting. Presentation for the Dodge-Lummus Island Turning Basin Project.

Kallman, M. and D. Li. 2001. Waterjet Propulsion Noise. **RINA International Conference on Waterjet Propulsion III**. Feb. 2001.

Kawakita, T. and T. Hoshino. 2000. Design System of Marine Propellers with New Blade Sections. **22nd Symposium on Naval Hydrodynamics**.

Kawamura, T. and T. Wantanabe. 2005. Cavitation in the Wake of a Ship. **Fluent News**. Spring 2005. p S14.

Kearsey, P.R. 1992. Helicopter Noise Certification. Presented at **The Quiet Helicopter** One Day Conference. London, UK. 17 March. p 2.1 - 2.6

Keevin, T.M. and G.L. Hempen. 1997. The Environmental Effects of Underwater Explosions with Methods to Mitigate Impacts. Defense Environmental Network & Information Exchange (DENIX) report. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, St Louis District. https://www.denix.osd.mil/denix/Public/ES-Programs/Conservation/WaterX/water1.html Khabeev, N.S. 2006. Resonance properties of soluble gas bubbles. International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer. 49(2006): 1022–1026.

Kinnas, S. 2002. Prediction of cavitation performance of single/multi-component propulsors and their interaction with the hull. **Transactions of the Society of Naval** Architects and Marine Engineers. Vol 110.

Kipple, B. 2007. Measured radiated sound from large commercial vessels: Controlling sources of radiated noise from large modern cruise ships and dependence on propulsion type and vessel speed. An International Symposium: "Potential Application of Vessel-Quieting Technology on Large Commercial Vessels". NOAA Ocean Acoustics Program, Marine Ecosystems Division, Silver Spring, MD, May. http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/acoustics/presentations.htm

Knoll, D.E. 2004. Bubble Curtain Lessens Environmental Impact. Better Roads. August.

Koch, R.A. and D.P. Knobles. 2005. Geoacoustic inversion with ships as sources. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 117(2):626-637.

Kuiper, G. 1998. Cavitation Research and Ship Propeller Design. Applied Scientific Research 58: 33–50.

Lam, F.P.A., F.P.A. Benders, S.P. van Ijsselmuide, W.C. Verboom, C.J. Camphuijsen. 2006. The Netherlands Marine Mammal Observations trial NEMO – 2005. **Proceedings of the European conference on Undersea Defense Technology**, Hamburg Germany.

Langefors, U., and B. Kihlstrom. 1978. The modern technique of rock blasting. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.

Lanni, F. and N. Brown. 2000. Impeller Blade Structures for Marine Waterjet Propulsion Apparatus. U.S. Patent No. 6,135,831, Oct. 24.

Laughlin, J. 2005a. Effects of Pile Driving on Fish and Wildlife. PowerPoint Presentation. Presented at National Academy of Sciences Transportation Research Board Meeting, Summer 2005.

http://www.adc40.org/summer2005/documents/PDF/29_Laughlin_Impacts%20of%20Pile%20Dr iving%20on%20Fish.pdf

Laughlin, J. 2005b. Underwater Sound Levels Associated with Pile Driving at the Bainbridge Island Ferry Terminal Preservation Project. Report for WSF Bainbridge Island Ferry Terminal Preservation Project. November.

Laughlin, J. 2005c. Underwater Sound Levels Associated with Restoration of the Friday Harbor Ferry Terminal. Friday Harbor Ferry Terminal Underwater Noise Technical Report. May 10.

Laughlin, J. 2006a. Underwater Sound Levels Associated with Pile Driving at the Cape Disappointment Boat Launch Facility, Wave Barrier Project. Report for Washington State Parks Cape Disappointment Wave Barrier Project. March.

Laughlin, J. 2006b. SR 202, SR 520 to Sahalee Way, Evans Creek H-Pile Hydroacoustic Monitoring Technical Memorandum. Washington State Department of Transportation Technical Memorandum. May 31.

Laughlin, J. 2007. Underwater Sound Levels Associated with Driving Steel and Concrete Piles near the Mukilteo Ferry Terminal. Report for WSF Mukilteo Test Pile Project. March.

Longmuir, C. and T. Lively. 2001. Bubble Curtain Systems Help Protect The Marine Environment. **Piledrivers.org**. 2(3):11-16.

Maat, C. 2006. The EPS Thruster a Silent Revolution in Thruster Technology. Presented at the 2^{nd} International Ship Noise & Vibration Conference 2006. London. June.

MacGillivray, A. and R. Racca. 2005. Sound Pressure and Particle Velocity Measurements from Marine Pile Driving at Eagle Harbor Maintenance Facility, Bainbridge Island WA. Report prepared for Washington State Department of Transportation. November.

MacPherson, D.M., C.A. Turmelle. 2005. Inboard Propeller Cavitation: Practical Guide and New Performance Model. Presentation to the **SNAME New England Section**, May 2005.

Mather, A. 2000. Offshore Engineering, an Introduction. 2nd Edition. Witherby & Company Ltd. London, England. p. 27.

Matveev, K.I. 2004. On the Influence of Artificial Cavitation on Underwater Noise Radiation from a Ship Hull. **Proceedings of IMECE04: 2004 ASME International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition**. November 13-20. Anaheim, California USA.

Matveev, K.I. 2005. Effect of Drag-Reducing Air Lubrication on Underwater Noise Radiation from Ship Hulls. **Transactions of the ASME**. 127(2005): 420-422.

McCauley, R. 1998. Radiated Underwater Noise Measured from the Drilling Rig Ocean General, Rig Tenders Pacific Ariki and Pacific Frontier, Fishing Vessel Reef Venture and Natural Sources In The Timor Sea, Northern Australia. Project Centre for Marine Science And Technology, Report C98-20. Prepared For Shell Australia, Shell House Melbourne.

McQuinn, I.H. and D. Carrier. 2005. Far-field Measurements of Seismic Airgun Array Pulses in the Nova Scotia Gully Marine Protected Area. Canadian Technical Report of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 2615.

(MMS) United States Department of the Interior, Minerals Management Service Gulf of Mexico (GOM) OCS Region. 2007. Implementation of Seismic Survey Mitigation Measures and Protected Species Observer Program. NTL No. 2007-G02. OMB Control Number: 1010-0154.

Morozov, A.K. and D.C. Webb. 2007. Underwater tunable organ-pipe sound source. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 122(2):777-785.

Mutton, R., M. Atlar, and M. Downie. 2006. The Effect of a Foul Release Coating on Propeller Noise and Cavitation. The Royal Institution of Naval Architects, Advanced Marine Materials and Coatings.

Nagaraja, S.R. 1992. Helicopter Noise Reduction Programme: Augusta Achievements. Presented at **The Quiet Helicopter** One Day Conference. London, UK. 17 March. p 4.1 – 4.13

Nashif, A.D., D.I.G. Jones, and J.P. Henderson. 1995. Vibration Damping. John Wiley & Sons. New York, NY.

(NAVSHIPS) Department of the Navy, Naval Ship Systems Command. 1974. Flexible Rubber Hose and End Fittings for Use with Resiliently Mounted Equipment. NAVSHIPS Notice 9480. SEC 6153F1/CFB, Ser 1210.

(NCE). 2007. E-mail from Jimmy Chance at C&C Technologies to Jesse Spence at Noise Control Engineering. "RE: Underwater Measurements of the Northern Resolution." Sent Monday September 9, 2007. 12:34 PM.

Needham, K. and J. R. Nedwell. 1999. Measurement of impulsive noise from underwater bolt guns. Subacoustech report reference: 381R0104 July 1999.

Nedwell, J. and T. S. Thandavamoorthy. 1992. The Waterborne Pressure Wave from Buried Explosive Charges: an Experimental Investigation. **Applied Acoustics.** 37(1992): 1-14.

Nedwell, J., A. Martin, and N. Mansfield. 1993. Underwater tool noise: implications for hearing loss., **Subtech '93**. (Vol. 31 in 'Advances in Underwater Technology, Ocean Science and Offshore Engineering'), 267-275. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands.

Nedwell, J., et al.. 2001. Report on measurements of underwater noise from the Jack Bates drill rig. Tech. Rep. 462 R 0202. Subacoustech Ltd., Hampshire, UK.

Nedwell, J. and B. Edwards. 2002. Measurements of underwater noise in the Arun River during piling at County Wharf, Littlehampton. Report Reference: 513 R 0108. Submitted to David Wilson Homes Ltd.

Nedwell, J., A. Turnpenny, J. Langworthy, and B. Edwards. 2003. Measurements of underwater noise during piling at the Red Funnel Terminal, Southampton, and observations of its effect on caged fish. Subacoustech Report 558 R 0207. Submitted to Red Funnel. October 27.

Nedwell, J.R. and B. Edwards. 2004. A review of measurements of underwater man-made noise carried out by Subacoustech Ltd, 1993 – 2003. Subacoustech Report ref: 534R0109. Submitted to Peter Oliver (ChevronTexaco Ltd.), Ian Buchanan (TotalFinaElf Exploration UK PLC),

Graham Jackson (DSTL), Graeme Cobb (Department of Trade and Industry), and Debbie Tucker (Shell U.K. Exploration and Production Ltd.). 29 September.

Nedwell, J. and B.E. Edwards. 2005. Initial tests of an airgun silencer for reducing environmental impact. Subacoustech report reference: 644 R 0108. Submitted to Exploration and Production Technology Group, BP Exploration.

Nilsson, A. and N. Tyvand. 1981. Noise Sources in Ships I: Propellers. Nordic Cooperative Project, NORDFORSK, Stockholm, Sweden.

Nishiyama, S., Y. Sakamoto, S. Ishida, and R. Fujino. 1990. Development of Contra-rotating Propeller System for JUNO – a 37,000 DWT Class Bulk Carrier. **Transactions of the Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers.** Vol. 98.

Odegaard, J. and J. Larsen. 2005. Isolation of Resiliently Mounted Diesel Engines Revisited. Presented at the 1st International Ship Noise & Vibration Conference 2005. Lloyd's Maritime Acedemy, London.

Olmstead, F.M. 1841. Incidents of a Whaling Voyage, To Which are Added Observations on the Scenery, Manners and Customs, and Missionary Stations, of the Sandwich and Society Islands. Bell Publishing Company. New York, NY.

Paik, J.K. and A.K. Thayamballi. 2007. Ship-Shaped Offshore Installations, Design, Building, and Operation. Cambridge University Press. New York, NY.

Park, C., W. Seong, and P. Gerstoft. 2005. Geoacoustic inversion in time domain using ship of opportunity noise recorded on a horizontal towed array. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 117 (4):1933-1941.

Perry, F.J. and A.C. Pike. Helicopter Aeroacoustics and the Impact of Noise Regulations on Design. Presented at **The Quiet Helicopter** One Day Conference. London, UK. 17 March. p 3.1 - 3.28

Petrie, F.S. 2005. Washington State Ferries' Experience with Bubble Curtains: Purpose, Hardware, and Use. PowerPoint Presentation for the **2005 Summer Meeting/Conference of the Transportation Research Board** ADC40 (A1F04) Noise & Vibration Committee.

Pinto, O. and C. Tarditi. 1999. Marine Propeller Cavitation: A Noise Prediction Method for Practical Applications. **Inter-Noise 1999**. Institute of Noise Control Engineers.

Purshouse, M. 1986. Underwater Noise Radiation Due to Transmission through the Cooling Water System of a Marine Diesel Engine. Shipboard Acoustics, Proceedings ISSA '86. J. Buiten (ed). Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.

Pylkkanen, J. 1991. Influence of Nozzle Shape and Propeller Location on the Performance of Ducted Propeller. Otaniemi, Helsinki Univ. of Technology.
QuinetiQ. 2007. Composite Propeller for Warship Propulsion – Construction and Advantages of the Composite Propeller. Downloaded on April 23, 2007 from http://www.azom.com/details.asp?ArticleID=2126.

(Reverse) Reverse Engineering Ltd. 2004. Shock Wave Focusing. Technical Report. Submitted to Department of Interior, Minerals Management Service. http://www.mms.gov/tarprojects/267.htm.

Reyff, J.A. 2004. Underwater Sound Levels Associated with Marine Pile Driving – Assessment of Impacts and Evaluation of Control Measures. Presented at **Noise Con 2004**. Baltimore, MD.

Richardson, W.J., C.R. Greene Jr, C.I. Malme, and D.H. Thomson. 1995. Marine Mammals and Noise. Academic Press. San Diego CA.

Ross, W.S., P.J. Lee, S.E. Heiney, E.N. Drake, R. Tenghamn, and A. Stenzel. 2005. Mitigating noise in seismic surveys with an "acoustic blanket". **SEG Expanded Abstracts** 24. p. 64-68.

S.P. 2005. Seismic noise can yield maps of Earth's crust. Science News 11 June 2005.

Saint-Arnaud, D., P. Pelletier, W. Poe, and J. Fowler. 2004. Oil Platform Removal Using Engineered Explosive Charges: In Situ Comparison of Engineered and Bulk Explosive Charges. Final report to the Mineral Management Service, Department of the Interior. Report # 647-365. Contract # 1435-01-01-CT-31136 (SNC TEC C.O. 2779). April.

Sakhalin Energy Investment Company LTD. 2004. Comparative Environmental Analysis of the Piltun-Astokh Field Pipeline Route Options. Document Number: 0000-S-90-04-T-7462-00, Revision 02.

Sandman, B.E. and J.E. Boisvert. 1995. Simplified Structural Acoustic Characterizations of External Compliant Coatings on Submerged Surfaces. **NUWC Division Newport Technical Digest.** June. pp. 65-71.

Seol, H. and S. Lee. 2002. Numerical Analysis of Underwater Propeller Noise. Inter-Noise 2002. Institute of Noise Control Engineers.

Shagapov, V. Sh. and I. K. Gimaltdinov. 1998. Evolution of Linear Waves in a Liquid in the Presence of a Curtain of Bubbles. **Journal of Engineering Physics and Thermophysics**, 71(6):950-955.

Siderius, M., C. H. Harrison, and M. B. Porter. 2006. A passive fathometer technique for imaging seabed layering using ambient noise. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America. 120(3):1315-1323.

Sixma, E. 1996a. Bubble Screen Acoustic Attenuation Test #1. Western Atlas/Western Geophysical Report. Conducted for Shell Venezuela. March 18.

Sixma, E. and S. Stubbs. 1996b. Air Bubble Screen Noise Suppression Tests in Lake Maracaibo. Sociedad Venezolana de Ingenieros Geofisicos **Congreso Venezolano de Geofisica**.

Southall, B.L. 2004. Shipping Noise and Marine Mammals: A Forum for Science, Management, and Technology. Final Report of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) International Symposium. Arlington, Virginia. 18-19 May. http://www.nmfs.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/acoustics/shipping_noise.pdf.

Spence, J. 2006. Controlling Underwater Noise from Offshore Gravel Islands During Production Activities. Noise Control Engineering Report 06-003. Minerals Management Service Noise Project #538. http://www.mms.gov/tarprojects/538.htm

Sun, D., J. R. Potter, and T.B. Koay. No Date. Single Receiver Rapid Geoacoustic Inversion in Shallow Water. Acoustic Research Laboratory, Tropical Marine Science Institute, National University of Singapore. http://www.arl.nus.edu.sg/objects/geoacoustic_inv.pdf.

Tenghamn, R. 2006. An Electrical Marine Vibrator with Flextensional Shell. **Exploration Geophysics.** 37(4):286-291.

Thiele, L. 1981. Underwater Noise from the Icebreaker M/S VOIMA. Odegaard & Danneskiold Report No. 81.4, Oct.

Thomas, K. M. and G. L. Hempen. 1997. The Environmental Effects of Underwater Explosions with Methods to Mitigate Impacts. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. https://www.denix.osd.mil/denix/Public/ES-Programs/Conservation/WaterX/water1.html

Tinsley, D. 2006. Designing for Harsh Environments. Shipping World and Shipbuilder. April. pp. 10-13.

Tompkins, M.J., R. Weaver, and L.M. MacGregor. No Date. Sensitivity to Hydrocarbon Targets Using Marine Active Source EM Sounding: Diffusive EM Imaging Methods. PowerPoint Presentation. http://www.ohmsurveys.com/files/EAGE2004-Tompkins.pdf

Twachtman Snyder & Byrd, Inc. 2000. State of the Art of Removing Large Platforms Located in Deep Water. Final report to the Mineral Management Service (Department of the Interior). Report # MMS-372. November.

Twachtman Snyder & Byrd, Inc. and the Center for Energy Studies, Louisiana State University. 2004. Operational and Socioeconomic Impact of Nonexplosive Removal of Offshore Structures. Minerals Management Service (Department of the Interior) OCS Study. Document MMS2004-074. Contract # 0302 PO 57597. November.

Urick, R.J. 1967. Principles of Underwater Sound for Engineers. McGraw-Hill Book Company. New York, NY.

(USACoE) U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2001. Characterization of Underwater Sounds Produced by Bucket Dredging Operations. Dredging Operations and Environmental Research Development Center (DOER) Report # ERDC TN-DOER-13. August 2001.

Vagle, S. 2003. On the Impact of Underwater Pile-Driving Noise on Marine Life. Ocean Science and Productivity Division, Institute of Ocean Sciences, DFO/Pacific, Canada.

White, D.J. and A.D. Deeks. 2007. Recent research into the behaviour of jacked foundation piles. **Proceedings of the International Workshop on Recent Advances in Deep Foundations**. Yokosuka, Japan. 1-2 February.

White, D., T. Finlay, M. Bolton, and G. Bearss. 2002. Press-in piling: Ground vibration and noise during pile installation. Proceedings of the **International Deep Foundations Congress**, Orlando, USA. ASCE Special Publication 116. p. 363-371.

White, P.H. 1973. Fluidborne Noise Reduction: Vibration and Acoustic Transmission Properties of Some Typical Flexible Pipe Connectors. Bolt Beranek and Neuman Technical Memorandum 166A. May 23.

(WSDOT) Washington State Department of Transportation. 2006. Guidance for Addressing Noise Impacts in Biological Assessments, Noise Impact Assessment. http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/TA/Operations/Environmental/NoiseChapter011906.pdf

Wursig, B., C.R. Greene, Jr., and T.A. Jefferson. 2000. Development of an air bubble curtain to reduce underwater noise of percussive piling. **Marine Environmental Research** 49(2000): 79-93

Yetginer, A.G., D.J. White, and M.D. Bolton. 2003. Press-in Piling: Field Testing of Cell Foundations. Presented at the **BGA International Conference on Foundations**, University of Dundee, Scotland 2003.

Zhu, X. 1997. Prediction of Line-Spectrum Noise Induced by Underwater Vehicle Contrarotating Propellers. **5th International Congress on Sound and Vibration**. December.

Ziolkowski, A., G. Hall, D. Wright, R. Carson, O. Peppe, D. Tooth, J. Mackay, and P. Chorley. 2006. Shallow Marine Test of MTEM Method. Presented at the **Society of Exploration Geophysicists 2006 Annual Meeting**. New Orleans, LA.

APPENDIX A – Compiled List of Underwater Noise Treatments

This appendix contains a compiled list of treatments identified as part of this study. Treatments are grouped by source type, as follows:

- SE Seismic Exploration Treatments and Alternatives
- PD Pile Driving Treatments and Alternatives
- EX Treatments and Alternatives for Explosives
- PT Propeller and Thruster Treatments and Alternatives
- MV Machinery Vibration Treatments
- MA Machinery Airborne and Secondary Structureborne Noise Path Treatments
- FB Fluidborne Noise Path Treatments
- HC Hovercraft Treatments
- AC Aircraft Treatments

Each section contains a table summarizing the overall treatment effectiveness, cost, and availability. Following each treatment table are annotations providing details of these items as well as additional details on how the treatment is used, potential drawbacks or need for future research, references, and vendors (when applicable).

	SEISMIC EXPLORATION TREATMENTS								
REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY			
			Reduction	Frequency Range or Metric	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future			
SE1	Air Gun Silencer	Silences unwanted frequencies from Air Guns	0-3 dB increase 0-6 dB reduction 1.3-2x increase	< 700 Hz > 700 Hz Peak impulse level	N/A (In development)	F/FF			
SE2a	Marine Vibroseis – 'LACS' Combustion Excited Piston	Replacement of impulsive type source with pseudo-random noise source	~15 dB 25-45 dB 45 dB min (est)	0-100 Hz 100-1000 Hz >1000 Hz	N/A (In development)	N/F			
SE2b	Marine Vibroseis – Electronically Driven Marine Vibrator	Replacement of impulsive type source with swept sine or pseudo-random noise source	~15 dB 60 dB min 60 dB min (est)	0-100 Hz 100-600 Hz >600 Hz	N/A (In development)	F			
SE2c	Underwater Tunable Pipe Organ	Replacement of impulsive source with a swept sine source	N/A, potentially similar to SE2a&b	N/A, potentially similar to SE2a&b	N/A (In development)	F/FF			
SE3	Ambient Noise Techniques	Replacement of current techniques – uses wind noise or other low level sources as seismic source	Potential for elimination of anthropogenic sound creation	All	N/A (In development)	F/FF			
SE4	Ship Noise Sources	Use of ship noise (i.e. propeller cavitation) as 'low level' seismic source	Potential for large reduction of source sound, ~40-50+ dB	All	N/A (In development)	F/FF			
SE5	Electromagnetic Survey	Use of electromagnetic signal instead of acoustic signal.	Large reduction in sound. Some sound exists due to vessels	All	\$1-4M per survey	F/FF (Currently not a replacement for acoustic sources)			
SE6	Air Curtain Barrier	Air Bubble curtains are used to block sound propagation in <i>some</i> directions	9-30+ dB 0 dB to some increase in level	40-80+ Hz <30 Hz	N/A	Ν			
SE7	Shear Wave Generators	Creates shear waves in ocean floor. Shear waves can not cause acoustic radiation in fluids.	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/F			

SECTION SE: SEISMIC EXPLORATION TREATMENTS

(SE1) Air Gun Silencer

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: The purpose of this treatment is to reduce the amplitude of sound generated at frequencies above those used for seismic exploration. This may be particularly beneficial for marine life with greater hearing sensitivity at higher frequencies (kilohertz range). The treatment can to be used in conjunction with existing air guns. Acoustically absorptive foam rubber is secured to metal plates which are oriented radially outwards from center axis of an air gun. A picture of the treatment is provided below (Nedwell, 2005). At higher frequencies acoustic energy is absorbed by the foam rubber, thus reducing unwanted sound.

Nedwell (2005) shows reductions of 0-6 dB at frequencies above 700 Hz. Below this frequency, 0-3 dB increases in level are seen, particularly around 100 Hz. This leads to a 3 dB increase in overall level due to the prominence of low frequency energy. Nedwell claims that this increase in low frequency energy in the 'useful' frequency band can reduce the total number of required air guns to achieve a given level. Nedwell also shows that the impulse peak (positive and negative peak) is higher for the silenced air gun than for the unsilenced air gun by a factor of 1.3 - 2 for a 50 bar air gun. Rise times appeared to be similar for silenced and unsilenced air guns.

• <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: This treatment is currently a proof-of-concept and would require further development to become a commercial product. Treatment effectiveness is currently seen only for small (50 bar) air guns. It is reported that the effectiveness for higher pressure air guns was reduced due to an over-compression of the acoustical material. Materials with higher stiffness are recommended by Nedwell for future iterations of this treatment. Furthermore, the material was seen to only withstand approximately 100 shots before needing to be replaced.

It was noted during the Workshop that a modified design where the absorbent material is located farther from the air gun may be beneficial. This would reduce the pressure levels seen by the material which may allow the same materials to be effective for larger air guns, increase the life of the materials while in-use, and may allow for silencing of multiple air guns (i.e. arrays). Increased effectiveness may also be possible.

- Description of Estimated Costs: Overall costs of this technique are not known as this product is in development.
- *<u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>*: Treatment may make deployment and retrieval more difficult, particularly if larger silencers are used farther from the air gun.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Nedwell (2005), Nedwell (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Subacoustech (www.subacoustech.com)



FIGURE SE1: Picture of Air gun Silencer (Nedwell, 2005)

Acoustically absorptive material is located radially around a conventional air gun.

(SE2a) Marine Vibroseis - 'LACS' Combustion Driven Piston

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: The LACS is an acoustic source that is a replacement for air guns and other impulsive seismic sources. A picture and schematic diagram are provided below. Sound is generated through the motion of the pistons located on either end of the unit. The pistons are excited via the combustion of petrol in the combustion chamber. Combustion takes place within the unit and is not exposed directly to the water. Combustion gasses are brought above the water surface via exhaust pipes.



FIGURE SE2a(1): Picture of Combustion Driven Piston "LACS" (Askeland, 2007)



Sound is generated via the motion of the 'outer moving parts' or pistons. These parts are excited via combustion of petrol in the combustion chamber.

The LACS provides an opportunity to significantly reduce peak and overall sound levels at all frequencies, both above and within the useful range for seismic exploration. The output signal waveform is controlled through the design of the system, and as a result the output at non-seismic frequencies (i.e. above 100 Hz) can be significantly reduced. The time waveform output from 50 consecutive shots is shown in Figure SE2a(3). It is seen that this source creates repeatable 'pseudo-random' signal. This signal can be repeated over the course of several seconds to create an equivalent air gun shot; 50-100 pulses can give approximately the same penetration depth as one small air gun shot. The LACS can fire up to 10 pulses/sec, creating a semi-continuous source. It is noted that there are no additional signals from "bubble noise" that are associated with air guns.



FIGURE SE2a(3): Typical Output of LACS (Askeland, 2007)

This graph shows that the pressure vs. time output of the LACS is highly repeatable. Although not shown here, this curve contains predominantly low frequency components, below 100 Hz. Output at higher frequencies is minimized through the design of the system.

Reductions in sound below 100 Hz (and overall level) are achieved because the signal is spread out over a greater time period as compared with conventional sources. Additional reductions in low frequency and overall sound level can be achieved using advanced processing methods. The pressure produced by the LACS can be recorded using a nearby hydrophone. This signal is then cross-correlated with the signal received by the streamer. It has been shown that this processing method can be used to identify a seismic signal whose amplitude is 19 dB less than the background noise. Advanced correlation techniques such as "iterative correlation" and "Semi Periodic Chirp Sequences" (SPCS) can also be used to reduce sidelobes in the processed seismic data (reduced ghosting effects). As a result of these factors, the total acoustic energy of the LACS is less than that produced by conventional sources.

The estimated sound reduction listed in the table above is based on published results for frequencies below 100 Hz and comparisons of available data for LACS vs. air gun acoustic spectra above 100 Hz. Data for LACS acoustic spectrum above 1000 Hz is not available so effectiveness is approximated. Relative to the levels generated below 100 Hz, maximum levels above 100 Hz are -15 dB at 200 Hz, and decrease by approximately 10 dB per octave. Air guns show a 5-10 dB reduction per octave above 100-150 Hz with no large discontinuities.

It is noted that the relative motion of the source and receiver, due to vessel motions or changes in the bottom-profile, can cause errors if not accounted for. Methods of correcting for this relative motion are provided in Hampson (1995). Good results were

obtained with vessel speeds of 2.8 knots (Askeland, 2006). Furthermore, it was indicated in the Workshop that this source can be used in present state for vertical seismic profiling.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: The maximum usable water depth is a current limitation of this system. Published test results have been in water depths up to 380 meters. It is believed that the system can be used in greater water depths if multiple sources are used (increasing the effective source level), a larger source is manufactured, or longer integration times are used. Mr. Askeland has indicated to NCE that tests that have taken place since the Workshop which have penetrated up to 300 meters into the sea floor to the rock basement using 11 second long pulse sequences.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Unit costs are not known at this time since the unit is under development. Operating costs should be similar to current costs using air gun arrays. Source requires fuel for combustion and low pressure compressed air.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Some impact will be present due to the combustion of petrol. The LACS can make 3600 shots on one liter of petrol. During published testing, 43 shots were fired every 16 seconds. This results in approximately 2.5-3 liters of petrol per hour.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: New processing techniques will need to be implemented.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Askeland (2006), Askeland (2007), Hampson (1995), Askeland (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Naxys AB (www.naxys.no)

(SE2b) Marine Vibroseis - Electronically Driven Marine Vibrator

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: The electric 'marine vibrator' is another seismic source that replaces conventional impulsive seismic sources. A picture of the unit and a schematic diagram are provided below. The source creates sound through the motion of a 'flextensional shell'. Excitation and control of motion is performed through electronic equipment (signal source and amplifier). The output signal waveform can be contoured through creation of the electronic signal and feedback loops. The output signal can be a swept sine, peudo-random noise, or virtually any other useful signal type.



FIGURE SE2b(1): Picture of Electrically Driven Marine Vibrator (Tenghamn, 2006)

The 'marine vibrator' is essentially an underwater speaker. Two transducers are used to cover the frequency range of 6-100 Hz. The larger unit in the back of the image covers the 6-20 Hz range and the smaller unit in the front of the image covers the 20-100 Hz range.



The 'marine vibrator' is similar to a stereo speaker in that an electrical coil is placed in a magnetic field, and a voltage potential is applied across the coil. The resulting current in the coil produces a force that excites the shell. This motion then radiates sound into the water. Because the system uses an electric signal, virtually any waveform can be output. This also allows the use of electronic feedback loops to further reduce higher frequency components (>100 Hz).

The system currently uses two transducers to cover the entire frequency range. A larger transducer creates sound between 6-20 Hz, and a smaller transducer creates sound from 20-100 Hz. The combined system covers the 6-100 Hz frequency range. The transducers make use of mechanical resonances, one from the shell and one from the internal spring, in order to achieve significant output levels at low frequencies. The system efficiency is close to 25% (electrical energy in vs. acoustical energy out).

The primary advantages of the system include significant reduction of sound at frequencies above the useful seismic range (above 100 Hz) as well as a reduction in the overall sound level (controlled by frequencies below 100 Hz). Sound generation at frequencies above 100 Hz is due to non-linear distortion effects only. Such effects can be reduced through the use of electronic feedback loops. Reduction in overall sound level is achieved because the signal is spread out over time relative to impulsive sources. Cross-correlation methods can be used to process data and further reduce source levels (as discussed in Item SE2a).

It was also noted at the Workshop that the 'production efficiency' of this approach is similar to conventional methods. That is to say that when using the marine vibrator, the survey vessel speed is the same as when conventional sources are used. Thus, a given area can be covered in the same amount of time as for conventional methods.

Seismic data acquired using this technique was shown at the Workshop to be comparable to data acquired using air guns. It was also indicated that the total acoustic energy output of this system is significantly lower than that produced by conventional systems.

The estimated effectiveness of this technique is based on published results for frequencies below 100 Hz and comparisons of available data for the marine vibrator vs. air gun acoustic spectra above 100 Hz. Acoustic spectra above 600 Hz are not available and effectiveness has been approximated. Published data indicate that during a swept sine test harmonics were 35-65+ dB lower than the fundamental tone in the range of 0-600 Hz.

The system is claimed to be well suited for shallow water applications where air guns can not be used (the conventional approach would be to use explosives in boreholes). Deeper water applications are also possible, although arrays of sources may be required for very deep waters.

It is noted that the acoustic output of this source is easily controllable using electronic amplifiers, etc., and thereby the necessary acoustic output can be "dialed-in" to prevent excessive sound creation. Furthermore, it may be possible and relatively simple to use deterrent type signals with this projector where acoustic signals are used to scare marine life out of the immediate vicinity without the need for additional equipment.

• <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: The maximum usable water depth is a current limitation of this system. Published testing is in water depths of 4-6 feet, and Tengham (Workshop) presented data that was taken at 30m water depth. It is believed that the existing system could be used in greater depths, possibly several hundred meters or more, particularly if multiple sources are used (increasing the effective source level), a larger source is manufactured, and/or alternative source signals/processing methods are used.

It was indicated at the Workshop that this system can be made into a commercial product in approximately 2 years. The current system will break after a few weeks. The vendor is currently looking into different drive mechanisms to improve reliability.

• <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are not known at this time since the unit is under development. Operating costs should be similar to current costs using air gun arrays. Source only requires power for electronics.

- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: New processing techniques will need to be implemented.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Tenghamn (2006), Tenghamn (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: PGS Marine Geophysical (www.pgs.com)

(SE2c) Underwater Tunable Pipe Organ

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Morozov (2007) describes a system where a pipe of variable length is located underwater and driven with an electro-mechanical piston source. The pipe is used to create a tunable Helmholtz resonator capable of large acoustic amplitudes at a single frequency that is dependent on the length and other parameters of the tube. When combined with the appropriate electronic drive and control system, the system can create a high amplitude sine sweep in the frequency range of interest. An example of this device is provided below.



The system as described by Morozov is capable of deployment in water depths up to 5000 meters. System efficiencies are shown to be between 40 and 90%, depending on frequency, which is very high relative to other piston-type sources. The current system was used to produce sine sweeps in the frequency range of 225 to 325 Hz with sweep times as short at 5 seconds.

While it was not explicitly discussed by Morozov, cross-correlation methods similar to those described in Items SE2a and SE2b could also be used with this device, thereby requiring lower source levels.

• <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: The system appears to be in the early stages of development. The ability to produce signals as low as 5 Hz would require physically large sources, although the size may not be prohibitive with the right design. The

amplitude of higher harmonics was not discussed, and would need to be investigated. It may be possible to use a feedback loop as discussed in Item SE2b to reduce the amplitude of these harmonics.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs are not known at this time since the unit is under development. Source only requires power for electronics.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: New processing techniques would need to be implemented.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Morozov (2007).

(SE3) Ambient Noise Techniques

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Several approaches that replace conventional seismic sources with ambient ocean noise have been identified. One of these methods uses a technique called "Spectral Factorization". An implementation of spectral factorization described by Harrison (2004 & 2005) uses a vertical hydrophone array that is attached to a buoy and drifts in the ocean. Uncorrelated, ambient noise generated by wind on the surface of the water is measured and analyzed. Using the spectral factorization technique, the subbottom profile can be extracted. Given the fact that ambient noise is used as the source, effectively all anthropogenic sounds from seismic exploration are removed. Comparisons of data obtained using this technique to data obtained using a seismic source show similar results.

Other methods include the use of ambient noise created by waves on shorelines and micro-seisms (naturally occurring low level earthquakes that occur on a regular basis). The University of Mississippi owns and operates several underwater arrays using these and similar techniques to identify sub-surface features. A slide from Dr. Thomas McGee's presentation at the Workshop which shows the various arrays used at the University, is provided below. Of the various arrays that are available, Dr. McGee highlighted the borehole array (used with microseisms), the horizontal cross array (used with wind and wave signals), and the vertical array (used with passing ship noise – See Item SE4).





Gas Hydrate Sea Floor Observatory - Mississippi Canyon Block 118

Various configurations of hydrophone arrays can be used with different ambient source signals to identify sub-surface structures. For example, borehole arrays can be used to measure microseisms, the horizontal cross array can be used to measure wind and wave signals, and the vertical array can be used to measure passing ship noise (See Item SE4).

<u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Because the source level of these signals is very low (it is the background 'noise'), data must be collected over long periods of time in order to be useful. Acquisition times on the order of days or longer are common for micro-seism signals and thus permanent or semi-permanent hydrophone installations are required. Because of this, these methods may not be well suited for exploration of new areas. However, they may be very appropriate for 'Life-of-Field' surveys where the area of interest is already well established, and there will likely be a significant amount of background noise due to vessel activity.

Siderius (2006) presents data from a floating buoy measuring wind noise with profile depths up to 155 meters. Significantly deeper penetration depths may not be possible with this specific approach. The path of the floating hydrophone array is likely to be limited to natural currents.

These techniques are currently being used primarily by universities for research on hydrates. Adapting these techniques for the oil and gas industry may take some time, but they hold great potential for making significant reductions in sound levels at all frequencies.

• <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Overall costs of this technique will depend on the specific application. If used for exploration of new areas costs may be high relative to existing methods. However if used for Life-of-Field surveys costs may in fact be less than conventional approaches over the long term since the array would only need to be deployed and retrieved once, and data could be continually collected.

• <u>References and Additional Information</u>:

Spectral Factorization: Harrison (2004), Harrison (2005), Siderius (2006).

Micro-seisms/Seismic Interferometry: Curtis (2006), S.P. (2005), Draganov (2007).

General: McGee (Workshop).

(SE4) Ship Noise Sources

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Similar to the ambient noise techniques of seismic profiling described in Item SE3, ship noise can also be used as a seismic source. This approach has been used by several researchers to map the sub-bottom profile of the ocean. In each case there were no modifications to the vessels, and the vessels are often 'vessels of opportunity'. The approach described by Davies (1992) uses noise from a cavitating propeller as a seismic source. Advanced cross correlation techniques were used to extract a sub-bottom profiles similar to what would result from a conventional survey using an air gun. Another approach described by Koch (2005) uses "geoacoustic inversion" techniques with noise from passing vessels.

Dr. McGee presented at the Workshop a comparison of seismic data obtained using vessel noise compared to data obtained by an air gun. The data was taken from a survey performed in the 1990s by the University of Aarhus, Denmark, where a hydrophone was mounted at the stern of a vessel above the propeller. The data showed similar results, with penetration depths up to 1000 meters. Dr. McGee also indicated that the vertical array (seen in Figure SE3) at the University of Mississippi is currently used for this purpose. They use "matched field processing" techniques to identify sub-surface structures.

As was discussed for Item SE3, this approach may be well suited for Life-of-Field surveys due to the prominence of vessels near offshore installations. However, if the approach used by the University of Aarhus is determined to be viable, then surveys of new areas could also be performed using this technique.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: This approach appears to have good potential, although information on practical applications is limited. Additional study is likely needed to fully develop this approach. It is noted that matched field processing techniques have been used in submarine warfare and are not necessarily new. Adapting these techniques to suit the oil and gas industry may take some time, although Dr. McGee indicated at the Workshop that this may be possible in a matter of a few years.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Overall costs of this technique are not known and will depend on the specific application of this technology. That said, long term costs could be similar to if not less than existing seismic exploration methods.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>:

Ship Noise Sources: Davies (1992), Koch (2005), Park (2005), McGee (Workshop).

Geoacoustic Inversion: Chapman (2004), Sun (no date), http://www.mpl.ucsd.edu/people/gerstoft/asa/

(SE5) Electromagnetic Surveys

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Electromagnetic surveys use electromagnetic signals rather than acoustic signals to identify features below the sea floor. There are several electromagnetic approaches that are currently available, although all approaches are similar in several ways. In all cases, an electromagnetic signal is produced in the water which then propagates into the sea floor, reflects off structures, and bounces back to the surface in a similar fashion to acoustic signals. The signal is detected by receivers located on the sea floor. The source can be either stationary or towed, and is located either on or just above the sea floor. The source is typically made up of two large electrodes, spaced roughly 300 meters apart. The source can deliver as much as 1250 amps into the water at frequencies ranging between 0.1 and 50 Hz (electromagnetic waves, not acoustic waves). Once the data is available (see below) initial results can be obtained within 24 hours.

In general, the data that is acquired is good for identifying the contents of reservoirs, which is information that can not be obtained through acoustic surveys. This can be useful in eliminating extraneous drilling which can lead to 'dry holes'. However, electromagnetic methods are generally less accurate at determining physical extents of a reservoir than conventional acoustic methods. Because of this, electromagnetic surveys are better suited for determining the viability of a reservoir, and are not good for finding new locations to drill (and are therefore currently not a replacement for existing acoustic seismic methods).

One application of this approach is called controlled-source electromagnetic (CSEM), where a continuous AC signal is produced at a single frequency, typically between 0.1 and 10 Hz. The source is towed by a vessel, and is located roughly 30 meters off the sea floor. The receivers are spaced approximately 1 km apart over a large area, and are held to the bottom by concrete anchors. When the survey is complete, the receivers are separated from their anchors by an acoustic release, and are allowed to float to the surface for retrieval. Once retrieved, the data collection process begins. A survey of this type can take 1 or more weeks to complete, depending on the survey area.

A second approach is called MTEM. This approach uses a stationary source located on the sea floor. The source generates a pulsed coded, broadband signal with frequency content between 0.1 and 50 Hz. The receivers are also located on the sea floor, but are spaced closer together than in the CSEM approach. The modified approach allows for better spatial resolution and the ability to perform surveys in shallow water. Furthermore, the receivers are cabled to a support vessel, so the data is available instantaneously. It is possible to move the receiver array so that up to 5 km can be covered in a day (single line). 2 dynamically positioned vessels are needed to perform his kind of survey.

In either approach, vessels are required so there is not a complete removal of sound. However the vessel sound should be significantly less than what is produced by conventional acoustic seismic signals. There are currently several companies that can perform various versions of these surveys commercially, and the technology appears to be continually developing.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Given the low spatial resolution, this approach is not currently a replacement for acoustic exploration of new areas. The CSEM method works best in water depths greater than 1500 feet (450 meters). The MTEM method can be used in much shallower waters. Penetration depth below the sea floor is limited to 3-4 km. In either case, receivers need to be deployed and retrieved (or at least moved), which makes this approach slower.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Survey costs have been quoted by various vendors to be on the order of \$1-4M per survey, which depends on mobilization costs and survey size/time (survey area was not provided). Some up-front modeling may also be needed in order to determine the feasibility of the survey at additional cost.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: For the CSEM method, the concrete pads are left behind after the survey is complete. Buchanan (2006) indicates that there is minimal environmental impact that results from the existence of the electromagnetic field. Fechhelm (2005) indicates that there is a minor deterrent effect on animals that use electromagnetic fields to hunt and for navigation. It has been indicated by one vendor that the electrodes should not be contacted.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fechhelm (2005), Buchanan (2006), Ziolkowski (2006), Tompkins (no date).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Offshore Electromagnetic Mapping, Ltd. (www.ohmsurveys.com), Electromagnetic Geoservices ASA (www.emgs.com), MTEM Ltd. (www.mtem.com), Western Geco (www.westerngeco.com).

(SE6) Air Curtain Barrier

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Sixma (1996a) and Sixma (1996b) discuss the use of a bubble curtain to block some of the laterally radiated sound energy created by air guns. In this method, bubble curtains are located on two sides of the seismic source (parallel to the direction of the vessel towing the source) as seen in Figure SE6. (For a discussion on bubble curtains, see Item PD1). The original application of this technique was to reduce acoustic interference caused by modal propagation and reflection in shallow waters. This technique can also be used to limit the area affected by seismic sources.

It was shown that reductions of 9 dB are possible at 40 Hz, with increasing effectiveness up to 30 dB above 80 Hz. Increases in level were sometimes seen near 20 Hz. It was noted in the literature that reductions were measured for all locations where there was no line-of-sight with the source. However, once the source could be seen by the receiver the curtain no longer was effective at reducing sound.





A bubble curtain is located on two sides of a vessel with a deployed air gun or air gun array. The curtain effectively blocks transmission of sound to locations that do not have a direct line-of-sight path to the air gun. Other locations see little to no reduction in sound.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: While this approach certainly shows merit, it blocks sound in only two lateral directions; it would not be practical to use a similar barrier in front of the seismic source unless the source was stationary. This may limit the practical usefulness of this approach for reducing exposure to marine animals. Furthermore, it would need to be determined if this approach is feasible and effective for use in deep waters; the bubble curtain has limitations as to how deep it can be located, and therefore there is some limit as to the possible shielded area at large distances from the source.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs were not identified in the literature, although costs may be on the same order of magnitude as those identified in Item PD1a.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Sixma (1996a) and Sixma (1996b)

(SE7) Shear Wave Generator

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Shear waves created in the ocean floor can be used to identify sub-surface features. In the context of reducing noise generated in the ocean, the (theoretical) advantage to using shear waves that shear motion of the sea floor does not create acoustical radiation (water can not support shear waves). A "shear wave generator" is located on the ocean floor in order to create such waves. One example of a shear wave generator is provided by Cole (1992). The University of Mississippi also has built a shear wave generator and has used it to collect seismic data with "good results" (information courtesy of Dr. Tom McGee). A similar generator is available from Bolt Technology (www. bolt-technology.com).

Measurements of actual sound pressure levels in the water during the use of a shear wave generator could not be found. For the generator described by Cole (1992), the system uses propellers, and thus would not completely eliminate noise (although levels may be significantly less than conventional acoustical seismic sources). Similarly, the generators made by the University of Mississippi and Bolt Technology create "P" (compression) waves in addition to shear waves, and likely create some sound in the water. The amplitude of this sound relative to conventional sources is not known.



FIGURE SE7: Example of a Shear Wave Generator (www.bolt-technology.com)

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Source must be located on the sea floor. Actual sound levels generated are not known. It was noted by one attendee of the Workshop that seismic shear wave data is hard to interpret.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: N/A.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Cole (1992)
- <u>Vendors</u>: Bolt Technology Corporation (www.bolt-technology.com)

	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
REF #			Reduction	Metric	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
PD1a	Bubble Curtain or Bubble Tree	Air bubbles are used to block sound propagation	5-20+ dB	O/A RMS, +/-Peak, SEL	Project costs on order of \$50-200+ k	Ν
			No Change	Rise Time		
PD1b	Confined Bubble Curtain	A fabric or solid curtain is used to confine bubbles and prevent disruption from currents	9-22 dB	O/A RMS, +/-Peak, and Particle Velocity.	Project costs on order of \$100-200+ k	N
			30% increase 3x increase	Pressure pulse time Velocity Pulse time		
PD2	Alternative Piles	H-Piles and concrete piles may reduce underwater noise	10-20 dB (approx)	Peak	N/A	Ν
PD3	Pile Caps	Caps of various materials are used between the impact piling head and the pile to reduce underwater sound	1-20+	Peak, RMS, and SEL	Low material cost	N/F
PD4	Physical Barrier	A physical (i.e. steel) barrier internally lined with foam or other material is used to block underwater sound	15-23 dB 17-27 dB 14-21 dB	Peak RMS SEL	N/A May be similar to Bubble Curtain	N/F
PD5	Dewatered Cofferdam	Removal of water around pile to remove direct radiation path	15 dB 3-35 dB	Peak RMS	N/A, Assumed more than bubble curtain, lined barrier	N
PD6	Vibratory Hammers	Alternative to impact hammers	10-20+ dB	O/A	2-3 x cost for impact hammers	Ν
PD7	Suction Piles	Replacement for existing piling techniques	Very Large Reductions	All	Potential cost savings.	N

SECTION PD: PILE DRIVING TREATMENTS

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

Treatments for Reducing Underwater Sounds from Oil and Gas Industry Activities

PD8	Press-in Piles	Piles are pressed into place using static pressure	Very Large Reductions	All	N/A	Ν
PD9	Drilled, Cast-In-Place piles	Pile casing is drilled into place and then filled with cement	Significant Reductions	All	N/A, assumed more expensive than existing methods	F

(PD1a) Bubble Curtains and Bubble Trees

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A wall of air bubbles is used to block sound radiated by a pile while it is being driven. The bubbles create an acoustic impedance mismatch which decouples the sound from one side of the curtain to the other. Some absorption effects may also take place at higher frequencies – i.e. kHz range (Domenico, 1982a). The bubbles are created by forcing air through small holes drilled in a metal or plastic ring. Examples are shown below. The ring is located on the sea floor, and an air compressor is used to push air through the system.

FIGURE PD1a(1): Examples of Bubble Curtain Rings. Left Side (Reyff, 2004). Right Side (Laughlin, 2005a)



The rings shown here are used to create air bubbles. Air is pumped into the rings via a compressor and is released through small holes drilled in the rings. Rings have been made of plastic and metal. Hole size, spacing, and number of rows will have an impact on the effectiveness of the curtain.

Several sources were identified that discuss the theoretical aspects of air bubbles in water and bubble curtains. Shagapov (1998) provides a simplified model of sound reflection from and transmission through an air bubble wall. Using the equations provided by Shagapov, several insights can be gained.

1. Bubble curtain effectiveness is based not only on bubble size, but also on the thickness of the air curtain, 'bubble density' (i.e. volume of air per total unit volume), and water depth.

- 2. Overall effectiveness increases with increased air curtain thickness and higher bubble density.
- 3. The effectiveness is seen to decrease if the size of the bubble is made smaller while holding all other parameters constant. However, with smaller bubble sizes it may also be possible to increase the total air density. Sensitivity to bubble size alone is not as strong as for the other parameters.
- 4. Effectiveness is seen to decrease with increased water depth (higher static pressures).

These conclusions have been largely verified in practice. Vagle (2003) states that many small bubbles are preferable to fewer larger bubbles. With reference to point 3 above, smaller bubbles may allow for higher bubble densities, yielding a net positive result. Furthermore, smaller bubbles have been shown to rise to the surface slower than large bubbles, which may also allow for a denser bubble field (Ross, 2005). Laughlin (2005a) and Petrie (2005) have described designs where multiple rows of holes are used in a single ring (e.g. see the right side of Figure PD1a(1) above). This likely corresponds to an increased curtain thickness, which is shown by Shagapov to increase effectiveness.

Bubble curtains are susceptible to currents. The effectiveness of a bubble curtain can be partially or completely compromised in moderate to strong currents. Use of bubble "trees" can be effective in mitigating deleterious current effects. A diagram of a bubble tree concept is given in Figure PD1a(2). The spacing between each bubble ring should be on the order of 10-35 feet (Petrie, 2005; Longmuir, 2001; CADOT, 2001). It is noted that Laughlin (2007) found that bubble trees did not increase the effectiveness of the bubble curtain when currents were not present.



Bubble trees use multiple rings to help reduce the negative effects of currents by maintaining a contiguous bubble wall. A conventional bubble curtain would only use one ring, located on the sea floor. Air is distributed to the rings via primary and secondary distribution manifolds. As seen here, the bubble curtain needs to completely surround the pile through the entire water column. Seating of the bottom ring on the sea floor is important. If not seated properly the effectiveness of the curtain will be compromised.

Detailed construction and installation descriptions are given by Longmuir (2001) and CADOT (2001). Additional sources show that holes of diameter 1 - 1.5 mm drilled in the bubble curtain ring have yielded good results. Smaller holes may be possible. Available data indicate a 6-20 mm spacing between holes has been used on various projects. In general, higher effectiveness is seen for systems with smaller hole sizes spaced closer together. Multiple compressors may be required depending on the size of the system. Primary and secondary distribution manifolds should be used for uniform bubble distribution.

Different references list different requirements for compressor sizes. Stated compressor output requirements range between 1500 cu ft / minute (42 cu meter / minute) to 750 cu ft / minute (21 cu meter / minute). Other sources prescribe 150 cu ft / minute (4 cu meter / minute) per secondary line, or 70-105 cu ft / minute (2 - 3 cubic meters / minute) per linear meter of pipe in each layer. Naturally, the actual requirements for any given setup will depend on the details of the design.

The literature shows 5-30 dB reductions are possible for positive and negative peak impulse pressure and broadband overall level when bubble curtains are used, although reductions of 5-20 dB are most commonly found. Lucke (Workshop) indicated a 16 dB decrease in both peak level and "energy flux density" (See Appendix C). Reyff (2004) presents data which indicates similar dB reductions in +/- peak, Sound Exposure Level (i.e. energy), and RMS level. For example, one comparison shows a 10 dB reduction in peak level and Sound Exposure Level (SEL) with a 12 dB reduction in RMS level. Another comparison shows a 20 dB reduction in peak level, a 16 dB reduction in sound energy accumulation, and a 15 dB reduction in RMS level. Laughlin (2005c) shows data which indicates reductions in peak, RMS, and SEL. For the most effective bubble curtain implementations, one data set indicates a 9, 16, and 11 dB reductions in these quantities, respectively, while another shows reductions of 14, 11, and 12 for the same quantities. Laughlin (2005b) also shows similar relative levels between these metrics. In general, it is seen that the relative amounts of reduction seen in these various metrics are similar for a given measurement, at least within the level of accuracy that can be expected from field measurements of pile driving activities.

Rise times appear to be similar with and without bubble curtains where data is provided. Laughlin (2005b) and Laughlin (2005c) specifically calculate the rise times for treated and untreated piles. The data is generally scattered and there are no clear differences. MacGillivray (2005) indicates that this metric is inconvenient as the pulse changes shape when a bubble curtain is used (See Item PD1b below).

Ellison/Laughlin (Workshop), Shagapov (1998), and others generally indicate that larger reductions should be and have been seen at higher frequencies. For example, Wursig (2000) shows the overall level (RMS), which is controlled by the levels at frequencies below 400 Hz, was reduced only by 3-5 dB, however 8-10 dB reductions were seen from 400-800 Hz and 15-20 dB from 1600 to 6400 Hz. In contrast, some references (including Lucke, Workshop) indicate that reductions at low frequencies were greater than

reductions at higher frequencies. Reasons for this discrepancy are not entirely known, but may have to do with the background noise created by the bubble curtain itself and/or flanking paths.

Drake (2004) gives details on a method for increasing the bubble rise time through the use of additives. Potential additives include n-propanol, 2-ethyl haxanol, octanol, ExxonMobil Chemical Exxal-8 alcohol, ExxonMobil Chemical Exxal-9 alcohol, ExxonMobil Chemical Exxal-13 alcohol, and sodium dodecyl sulfate. Use of such additives can increase bubble rise times by factors of 3 or 4. Use of any additive would need approval by appropriate regulatory bodies.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Bubble curtains must completely surround the noise source (360 degrees) and must be contiguous through entire water column. Gaps in the bubble curtain (such as at the sea floor) can seriously compromise its effectiveness (Laughlin, 2005b). Bubble curtains are limited to shallow waters and coastal areas for practical and economic reasons (Continental, 2004), and may also have reduced effectiveness at larger depths (Shagapov, 1998). Application to slanted piles is limited unless a large number of bubble rings are used or the ring diameter is increased. The effectiveness of bubble curtains may be limited by flanking paths, particularly flanking paths through the ground. Studies of which ground conditions are more prone to such flanking paths have not been identified. Bubble systems often make some noise through their operation, and may add to the total underwater sound at some frequencies, or at least limit the effectiveness of the system.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs of implementation on past projects range from \$50-200k. Costs of \$4,000 per pile have been reported by Laughlin (2005a) on a particular project.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Adverse effects may be present with some additives used to slow bubble rise time (if used). Injected air should be 'clean'.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: System will require a significant engineering effort for construction and implementation. Air distribution manifolds need to be properly sized and constructed to allow for uniform distribution of bubbles. Non-uniform bubble distribution will lead to a loss in curtain performance. Use of a bubble curtain system may slow production as the system needs to be re-positioned for each pile. It may be necessary to include the barge containing piling equipment in bubble curtain, or at a minimum, the barge should not interfere with the bubble column (Wursig, 2000). Minor maintenance and inspection may be required for long term projects (>1 month). Vagle (2003) indicates that bubble curtains will compromise the effectiveness of a silt curtain, if used.

• <u>References and Additional Information</u>:

Bubble Curtains in Practice: Longmuir (2001), CADOT (2001), Vagle (2003), Reyff (2004), Wursig (2000), Petrie (2005), MacGillivray(2005), Laughlin (2005a), Laughlin (2005b), Laughlin (2005c), Laughlin (2006a), Laughlin (2007), Ellison/Laughlin (Workshop), Lucke (Workshop).

Theory: Shagapov (1998), Domenico (1982a), Domenico (1982b), Khabeev (2006).

(PD1b) Constrained Bubble Curtains

<u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Constrained bubble curtains operate in a similar manner to conventional bubble curtains (PD1a). A sheet of fabric, metal casing, or other material is used to constrain the air bubbles to prevent breakdown of the bubble curtain from currents. An example of a constrained bubble curtain is provided below. Gunderboom, a vendor of constrained bubble curtain systems, states their curtain "is made of a water-permeable polypropylene/polyester fabric; the patented, double-layer SASTM curtain is either suspended by flotation billets and anchored in place, or installed on a rigid frame surrounding the area of activity. As compressed air is released at the bottom of the curtain, the space between the two fabric layers inflates, creating a sound-[blocking] bubble wall." Other non-commercial approaches have also been identified (Knoll, 2004; MacGillivray(2005)).

FIGURE PD1b: Confined Bubble Curtain (Reyff, 2004)



A physical curtain can be used instead of a bubble tree (as described in Item PD1a) to help maintain the integrity of a bubble wall when currents are present.

Published data indicate effectiveness values similar to those of unconstrained curtains. However, it is generally the case that the constrained bubble curtains were implemented because local currents would minimize the effectiveness of an unconstrained

curtain. MacGillivray (2005) shows that peak and RMS pressures were reduced on average by 9 dB while peak and RMS particle velocities were reduced by 12 dB.

MacGillivray also uses a "pulse length" metric, consisting of the time it takes for 90% of the energy to be accumulated, to determine the effect on the pulse shape instead of rise-time (See Item PD1a above). This was done for both pressure and velocity measurements. It was found that pressure pulse times tended to be slightly longer when the bubble curtain was used, on the order of 30%. However, velocity pulse times were longer by a factor of 3 on average.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Bubble curtains are limited to shallow waters and coastal areas for practical and economic reasons (Continental, 2004). System will require a significant engineering effort for construction and implementation. Use of system may slow production as system needs to be re-positioned for each pile. Application to slanted piles requires the use of a larger curtain.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs of implementation on past projects range from \$100-200k.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Minimal, assuming injected air is 'clean'.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: See Section PD1a.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: http://www.gunderboom.com, Knoll (2004), MacGillivray(2005), Gunderboom, Workshop.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Gunderboom (www.gunderboom.com)

(PD2) Alternative Piles

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: It has been indicated by Laughlin (2005a), Reyff (2004), and WSDOT (2005) that steel H-piles, seen below, may produce lower underwater peak sound levels than circular steel or concrete piles. Differences may be on order of 10-20 dB. Furthermore, concrete piles have been shown to have significantly reduced peak levels by Laughlin (2007). It is noted that this reduction may in fact be due to the wood pile cap that is used for installation of all concrete piles (see Item PD3).

FIGURE PD2: Example H-Pile



- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Data is currently sparse. Additional testing is required before definitive conclusions can be made. Use of H-piles may not be appropriate in some situations for non-acoustical reasons.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Material cost differences are expected to be small relative to other piles.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: More H-piles may be needed to achieve the same goal as compared to using circular piles. This will increase installation time.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Laughlin (2005a), Laughlin (2007), WSDOT (2005), Reyff (2004).

(PD3) Pile Caps

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Laughlin (2006a) has shown that the use of pile caps can significantly reduce underwater pressure levels generated by impact piling. Examples of pile caps are shown in Figure PD3 below. Four different materials were tested, each with varying results. Wood performed the best with measured peak pressure reductions of 11-26 dB. Micarta showed 7-8 dB reductions, and Nylon had 4-5 dB reductions. Conbest showed reductions of only 1-5 dB. Reductions in RMS and SEL also were seen to fall into these ranges. Rise times were indicated to be longer when cap materials were used. Wood showed the largest increases, although there is some scatter in the data. Untreated piles had rise-times of 1.5-1.8 msec, where treated piles had rise times that ranged from 3.7-37.7 msec. It is noted that the untreated pile rise times are on the short end of the rise times published elsewhere in the literature.

Laughlin indicates that Micarta may be the preferred material over wood since the wood caps tended to break down the quickest and were prone to catching fire. Micarta and the other tested materials were less susceptible to these problems.



FIGURE PD3: Examples of Pile Caps (Laughlin, 2006a)

Pile caps are disks that are located between the pile and the driving head. Different materials can be used, and result in different noise reductions. Wood pile caps are commonly used for concrete piles.

• <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: The effect of pile caps on driving efficiency was not studied directly, except it was noted that wood did not transfer the impact energy well. Laughlin (2007) also shows that wood caps loose their effectiveness as they become compressed. Further research may be needed in order to optimize pile cap materials and determine overall effect on pile driving efficiency.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs of pile caps are estimated to be small relative to other project costs. One cap may only last for a few piles.
- Other Non-acoustic Impacts: Caps may slow production process.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Laughlin (2006a), Laughlin (2007)

(PD4) Physical Barrier

<u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Laughlin (2007) describes the use of a circular barrier that has been internally lined with two inches of closed cell foam. A drawing and picture of this concept is provided in Figure PD4 below. The barrier must completely surround the driven pile throughout the entire water column. Peak sound level reductions of 15-23 dB were reported. 17-27 dB reductions in RMS sound level were also shown, as were 14-21 dB reductions in Sound Exposure Level (i.e. energy). A small increase in rise time is indicated, although the limited data is scattered.

A similar approach was also shown in Laughlin (2007) where the lining was removed. The effectiveness of this approach was typically less than with the lining.

Lucke (Workshop) used a closed-cell foam barrier with no steel casing to create a holding pool for animals being studied near pile driving activities. Two sheets of 8 mm thick foam was used (total thickness of 16 mm). It was indicated that this pen provided an 18-28 dB reduction at frequencies between 500 Hz - 8000 kHz. There was a drop in attenuation from 11 kHz and 16 kHz, and above 16 kHz the attenuation rose back up to 20 dB. It is interesting to note that these results are similar to those found by Laughlin (2007) where a steel outer casing was used. This may be worth further investigation as a foam barrier may be easier to handle and locate than a steel/foam composite.



FIGURE PD4: Example of Internally Lined Barrier (Laughlin, 2007)

The above images show one approach to an acoustic pile driving barrier. A circular steel casing is used with an internal foam lining. Acoustical effectiveness is on the order seen for bubble curtains (Item PD1), and may be preferred in some cases because of reduced up-front engineering requirements. Foam-only barriers may also be possible (Lucke, Workshop).

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Barrier must be relocated for each pile. This will likely require special lifting equipment. Can only be used in shallow waters where length of barrier is not too cumbersome.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are not known. Material costs are expected to be minimal. Additional vessels and/or special lifting equipment may be required. Total costs may be less than those associated with bubble curtains especially when engineering costs are considered.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Laughlin (2007), Lucke (Workshop)

(PD5) Dewatered Cofferdam

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: In this approach, a solid barrier such as a tube is located around the pile, and extends through the entire water column (similar to what is described in Item PD4 above). The water inside of this barrier is then completely removed. This completely decouples the water from the direct radiation path of the pile. Reyff (2004) indicates that this method can reduce peak levels by 15 dB and overall RMS levels by 5-35 dB. Reyff also indicates that the ground flanking path was prominent in these measurements at some locations.
- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Set-up of dewatered cofferdam is likely to require more time than other similar methods such as lined barriers and bubble curtains. Barrier needs to be set on the sea floor such that no leaks are possible.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs are not known, but are estimated to be higher than those associated with lined barriers or possibly even bubble curtains due to the extra time required for set-up.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Procedure may be slow.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Reyff (2004)

(PD6) Vibratory Hammers

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A vibrating mechanism ('vibratory hammer') is used in place of an impact hammer. The vibratory hammer vibrates continuously or near-continuously at a frequency in the range of 10-60 Hz. The driving frequency of the vibratory hammer is the dominant frequency in the underwater noise spectrum, followed by harmonics of this frequency. Broadband components above 500 Hz are also seen, extending to several kHz.

It has been indicated by WSDOT (2005) that vibratory methods produce underwater noise that is 10-20 dB lower than using impact methods (assumed peak). Nedwell (2002) and Blackwell (2003) measured differences on the order of 20-50 dB (peak). In general, a vibratory hammer will create sounds with much larger "rise times" than impact methods since the sound wave produced is sinusoidal. Similarly, the large peak overpressures and underpressures seen with impact piling are not present. For these reasons, this is stated to be the preferred method of pile driving in WSDOT (2005).

A comparison of the total energy output or SEL was not found in the literature. NCE performed a rough SEL calculation for vibro-piling based on SEL and peak pressure values published in the literature, and assuming a 10 dB difference in peak level, a 1 second separation between impact hits, and a vibration frequency of 20 Hz. The resulting SEL values were comparable.

Vibratory methods are most effective in granular soils, and in driving non-displacement piles (www.piledrivers.org).

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Additional testing and data are needed in order to develop more conclusive results regarding the effectiveness of this method in reducing underwater noise. Reyff (2004) indicates that there is variability in the data and no significant conclusions can be made. This may be due in part to the variation in noise when driving a single pile from beginning to end with vibratory methods (similar variation is also seen in impact piling). Vibratory methods may not be feasible in some substrates. In some cases it is difficult to drive a pile to a depth where it can reach load bearing capacity; in these cases impact methods must be used to set the pile.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Cost of purchasing equipment is 2-3 times cost of purchasing an equivalent impact hammer.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Different engineering practices may be necessary in order to maximize driving efficiency and minimize driving time. Machinery is larger than some impact piling hammers. Machinery may require different skills in order to properly locate and use.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Nedwell (2002), Nedwell (2003), Blackwell (2003), Reyff (2004), WSDOT (2005).

(PD7) Suction Piles

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Suction piles are a replacement for conventional piles as well as conventional piling methods. A suction pile is essentially a large drum with the bottom face removed. The pile is located on the sea floor and a pump is used to remove water and create suction to pull the pile into the ground. The weight of the supported structure can also be used to assist the penetration into the sea bed. Grout ballast can be poured into the piles once they are located in place. Examples of suction piles are shown below.

Suction piles have been used on many projects, and a significant portion of the oil and gas industry is currently using this technique. Suction piles can be used in both shallow and deep water installations. Installation has taken place in "a wide range of soil conditions from soft to stiff clays, in loose to dense sands and in layered soils." (http://www.suctionpile.com). Suction piles can also be used as anchors for mooring vessels and other structures. A detailed report on the capabilities, analysis, and current limitations of suction pile anchors is given by Andersen (2005).



FIGURE PD7: Suction Pile Examples (http://www.suctionpile.com)



Suction piles are large drums with the bottom face removed. Water is sucked out of the drums after being located on the sea floor. The drum sinks into the ground and is an effective replacement for a conventional pile. All impulsive sounds are removed during installation, and the total noise is very low.

No information is available regarding underwater sound during installation. However, the potential for sound reduction is very significant as this procedure completely removes impulsive sounds, replaced only with sounds associated with the removal of water from the pile using a suction pump. It is estimated that the sounds of the suction pump are insignificant relative to what currently exists with existing piling methods.

This approach can also provide a reduction in installation time and costs (Mather, 2000).

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Some soils may not be appropriate for this method, although current indications show a wide range of applicable substrates.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Expected to be similar to or less than costs associated with existing methods. Engineering costs may be similar or exceed current methods, but savings in installation time and effort may reduce overall costs using this method.

- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: The only impacts that could be identified are those relating to the permanent installation and abandonment of the pile when grout ballast is used. If ballast is not used the pile can be pumped back out for complete removal. Overall, fewer impacts may be present relative to existing pile driving techniques.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Mather (2000), Andersen (2005).
- <u>Vendors</u>: SPT Offshore (http://www.suctionpile.com), Sapiem ENI (http://www.saipem.eni.it)

(PD8) Press-in Piles

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Press-in piling machines are unique, self-contained units that use static forces to install piles. The machine uses leverage gained by holding on to previously installed piles while installing new piles. The first piles are installed by weighing down outriggers on the piling machine with piles or other static loads. A sketch of the machine and the concept is provided below. This source removes all impulsive types of noise. No underwater noise measurements of press-in piling machines are available, but sound levels are expected to be very low, significantly lower than for conventional piling techniques. Measurements of ground vibrations during land based pile installation provide partial confirmation of this assumption (White, 2007).

Many different piles can be used with this machine, ranging from various sheet pile types to circular piles and H-piles. When used in the configuration indicated in the figure above, the unit can 'walk' along the piles and easily position itself for installation of the next pile. This procedure significantly increases the speed of the piling process. Water jet and internal auguring systems have also been used to augment the machine's piling capabilities in "hard ground conditions" (Goh, 2005).

It has been shown by White (2007) that the strength of piles installed using this method is higher than those installed by conventional impact methods, as well as "enhanced plugging and residual base load, and reduced friction fatigue." Since every pile is driven statically, the load capacity of each pile is known; no further verification tests are required.

This system was originally developed for land-based use in highly sensitive areas where human hearing impacts, erosion, and other similar concerns are paramount. For example, press-in piling operations have been granted permits on beaches during turtle migration season (Carter, Workshop). This approach has been used extensively on land and in shallow waters. The system does not require a lot of space in order to install piles; typically 7 feet laterally is all that is required. The system is also portable and can be delivered to a site in 2-3 trucks.



FIGURE PD8: Press-in Piling Machine (Goh, 2005)

The press-in piling machine holds on to previously installed piles in order to statically drive a new pile. Once the pile has been driven, the machine can 'walk' along the piles and position itself for the installation of a new pile. An animation of this process can be seen at www.giken.com. Piles can be installed in a line, along a radius, at 90 degree angles, etc. The piling machine can also be installed on a barge and used in deep-water applications.

No templates are needed during installation. The machine uses a laser-guide system for reference. The machine can install piles along a radius or create 90 degree corners. Corners are achieved by installing extra piles in the opposite direction to provide reaction forces. These extra piles can be retrieved afterwards if necessary. Batter piles can also be installed.

The piling machine can also be located on a barge or other structure, thus allowing for pile installation at any location, potentially including deep waters. The current technology allows for pile diameters of up to 5 feet (1.5 meters); larger piles can be simulated by installing multiple smaller piles adjacent to one another.

During the Workshop it was demonstrated that a variation on this approach can be used to drive a tube by slowly rotating it and applying static vertical force. This system can drive a pile through 2 feet of reinforced concrete in 6 minutes.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: The technique currently requires piles to be relatively close to each other, if not directly adjacent, unless the machine is mounted to a barge or other large structure that can be used for counterbalance and positioning. Piling machines are limited to installations where the compressive strength of the soil material is roughly 15,000 psi or less.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Cost information was not provided. Cost of machine may be more than conventional pile drivers, although speed of installation is indicated to be faster than using conventional methods.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Goh (2005), Yetginer (2003), White (2002), White (2007), Carter (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Giken (www.giken.com)

(PD9) Drilled, Cast-In-Place piles

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A technique has been developed by American Piledriving, Inc (www.americanpiledriving.com) where a pile casing is drilled into place and then filled with concrete. A sketch of the process is provided below. The approach uses no impact or vibratory hammers, and therefore offers a potential for noise reduction. Some sound will be associated with the drilling process (including associated machinery); quantification of this sound was not found in the literature.
- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Applications are for land only at this time. Applicability to marine environments is unknown, especially deep water applications. Size of drill head may prevent use of pile guides in sub-sea template.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are not known, however they are expected to be higher than existing methods due to the one-time use of drill heads and specialty equipment.
- <u>Vendors</u>: American Pile Driving (www.americanpiledriving.com)



FIGURE PD9: Drilled, Cast-In-Place Process (www.americanpiledriving.com)

Pile casings are drilled in place and then filled with concrete. Drill head is a special, one-time use item.

SECTION EX: TREATMENTS FOR EXPLOSIVES (CONSTRUCTION AND DECOMMISSIONING)

REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
			Reduction	Metric	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
EX1	Shaped Charges	Special type of explosive that focuses energy in desired direction. Less material is required vs. bulk charges.	~4 dB ~13 dB ~10 dB	Peak Impulse Energy Flux	\$150 - \$500 per pound	Ν
EX2	Radial Hollow Charges	Special application of shaped charges	Assumed similar or better than Shaped Charges	All	\$150 - \$500 per pound	N/F
EX3	Shock-Wave Focusing	Focusing of shock-waves from explosives fractures material. Less explosive is needed	Assumed similar or better than Shaped Charges	All	N/A	F/FF
EX4	Slow burn rate explosives	Reduces rise-time, longer impulse length	Increase Increase Decrease	Peak pressure Impulse length Rise-time	~\$10 / pound	Ν
EX5a	Bubble Curtain or Bubble Tree	Air bubbles are used to create a 'wall' to block sound propagation	5-25+ dB	O/A, Peak	Project costs on order of \$50-200+ k	Ν
EX5b	Confined Bubble Curtain	A fabric curtain is used to confine bubbles and prevent disruption from currents	13-22 dB	O/A, Peak	Project costs on order of \$100-200+ k	N
EX6	Physical Barrier	A solid barrier is used to block sound from the explosion	N/A	N/A	Estimated minimum \$50k	Ν
EX7	Blasting Mats	Rubber blasting mates are used to reduce noise radiated away from explosion	N/A	N/A	\$10-\$15 per square foot	Ν
EX8	Borehole Stemming	When borehole blasting, blocking the top of the borehole reduces radiated pressures	10-19 dB 6-7 dB	+Peak -Peak	Negligible	Ν
EX9	Cutting Tools	Alternative to blasting for decommissioning	Large Reductions	Peak pressure	~\$800k - \$1,400k for 4 and 8 leg	Ν
			Elimination	Impulse	structures	

(EX1) Shaped Charges

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Shaped charges are alternatives to conventional bulk charges that use significantly less explosive material. They accomplish this by creating a focused explosive blast in a desired direction. Saint-Arnaud (2004) states:

The penetration capability of the shaped charge comes from the formation of a concentrated jet of material from the liner. The high pressure developed by the explosive reaction produces a jet traveling at very high velocity, typically 3 to 15 km/s (10000 to 50000 ft/s). Ductile materials, such as pure metals, are used to produce shaped charge because the formed jet can extend more before breaking and produce more penetration at high stand-offs. Denser materials produce higher penetration because the jet material is less eroded by the target.

The focused charge requires less explosive material for a given application relative to conventional bulk charges. Material reductions of over 90% are possible while accomplishing the same goal of object removal/cutting. Saint-Arnaud (2004) provides data on measured differences between shaped charges and C4 explosives used to cut test piles. The results from this study are scattered; large differences in pressure are seen even when comparing results from bulk charges on two different test piles. However, there is a general trend in the data showing lower sound levels with shaped charges. Reductions in peak overpressure (calculated by NCE using the provided data) varied between -3/+12 dB with the average being +4 dB (positive value indicating a reduction in peak pressure). Reductions in impulse and energy flux density (also calculated by NCE) ranged between +1/+20 dB and -1/+16 dB, with average values of 13 dB and 10 dB, respectively. These effectiveness ranges were not due to multiple test conditions, rather differences in pressure level at different measurement locations for the same blasts. (It is noted that the above calculations were performed using a 20*log approach for peak pressure and impulse and a 10*log approach for Energy Flux Density.)

Examples of shaped charges are provided below. Twachtman (2000) states, "the cut made by a properly designed and placed shaped charge is clean and looks somewhat like a torch cut." Additional details on various types of shaped charges are also provided. Shaped charges usually require a "stand-off" distance from the object being cut, and thus a casing or locating device must be designed. When severing piles, the shaped charge will typically surround the pile from the outside or will be placed adjacent to the pile's inner wall. Explosive material is located along the full 360 degrees around the pile.



FIGURE EX1: Examples of Shaped Charge (Saint-Arnaud, 2004)

The image on the left side shows a shaped charge, consisting of explosive material in a metal lining. The image on the right shows the shaped charge in a casing that provides the appropriate stand-off distance. When severing piles, shaped charges will be completely surround the pile from the outside or inside pile wall.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Saint-Arnaud (2004) provides the only data that was found regarding the effectiveness of this approach. Additional studies are necessary. Qinetiq's website (www.qinetiq.com) indicates that shaped charges can be used to reduce underwater sound levels, but does not quantify this reduction.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Shaped charges cost approximately \$150 \$500 per pound. This is compared to \$4 \$8 per pound for bulk charges. Engineering costs are also assumed to be higher than those incurred with bulk charges.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Stand-off distance of explosive requires special mounting arrangement. A casing is required to protect explosive from water. Casing must be able to withstand pressures at deployed water depths. Proper design can be difficult, and requires knowledge of target specifications. Manufacturing time can be on order of weeks.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Twachtman (2000), Saint-Arnaud (2004), QinetiQ (www.qinetiq.com)
- <u>Vendors</u>: Dynawell (www.dynawell.de), Accurate Energetics (www.aesys.biz), EBA&D (www.ebco-aerospace.com)

(EX2) Radial Hollow Charges

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: This is a special application of Shaped Charges (Item EX1). A concept diagram is provided in Figure EX2 below. When using this approach to sever a pile, the specially shaped charges are located in intervals around the pile (as compared to standard shaped charges where the explosive material would completely surround the pile over a 360 degree angle). This results in a reduction of required explosive material and a potential for reduced sound generation.

It is indicated in Continental (2004) and Committee (1996) that this technique can reduce the amount of required charge, although the acoustic reduction is not specified. Given the configuration seen below, it is assumed that material reductions are greater than those for the shaped charges seen in Item EX1. The approach is described in Continental (2004) as "short, linear-shaped charges bent into an arc with the explosives initiated simultaneously at the central axis. The detonation front runs radially outward, detonating the explosive simultaneously on both sides of an inverted v-shaped liner. The liner collapses, producing a flowing radial cutting jet. Because of this diverging flow, a relatively long cut can be produced in a flat or curved steel plate. By joining a number of these types of charges together, it is possible to cut along plates and around pipes using relatively low explosive weights."



When using this approach to sever a pile, the specially shaped radial charges are located in intervals around the pile. This is slightly different from standard shaped charges where the explosive material would completely surround the pile over a 360 degree angle. This results in a reduction of required explosive material and a potential for reduced sound generation.

No studies were found that measure sound level reductions using this approach. Given the similarity to shaped charges, it is assumed that the effectiveness would be similar or improved since there would be less explosive material used.

- *Limitations / Need for Future Research*: Amount of material and sound reduction are not known.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: See EX1.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased complexity, particularly regarding mounting arrangement and stand-off distances.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Committee (1996), Continental (2004).

(EX3) Shock-Wave Focusing

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: This is another approach that is in development that would be a replacement for bulk explosives. In this approach explosives are used with waveguides that focus the shock wave to a particular region of the structure to be demolished. Stresses in the material at the focal point of the explosion are large enough to cause failure, and are lower elsewhere. Because of this focusing technique, the amount of material required is significantly reduced. Reductions in explosive material are estimated to be 90% relative to standard shaped charges (which already use upwards of 90% less material than bulk charges).

No studies were found that measure the sound generated using this method. However, given the large reduction in required explosive material, it is possible that this approach would provide sound reductions similar to if not greater than shaped charges (see EX1). A concept diagram is provided below. A detailed study on the use of this technique is provided in Reverse (2004).

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: There has been limited success so far in underwater applications. Grout-backed surfaces are not effectively severed by shock-wave focusing methods. The target must be backed by air or water. Optimal waveguide geometry and charge parameters are still in development. Measurements of underwater pressures resulting from this technique are currently not available.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are not known at this time. Explosives required for this technique are expected to be similar to those used for shaped charges (Item EX1). Additional costs may be related to manufacture of waveguides and up-front engineering.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Reverse (2004), Continental (2004).



FIGURE EX3: Concept of Shock Wave Focusing Charge (Committee, 1996)

Two rings of explosive material are detonated simultaneously. The blast wavefronts from each ring are oriented using a waveguide such that the combination of the two blasts is enough to produce a failure in the structure at a focal point.

(EX4) Slow Burn Rate Explosives

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Slow burn rate explosives, also called 'low explosives', are explosives that have a slower detonation velocities as compared with dynamite and TNT (on the order of 0.1 to 1 ft/s). Black powder is an example of a slow burn rate explosive. Black powder produces a pressure waveform that is dissimilar to other conventional explosives, in that it has a much longer impulse time with a relatively slow rise-time. Peak pressures have been seen to exceed those of other explosives (dynamite, for example), but it is indicated that even in these cases fewer fish have been killed when black power is used (Richardson, 1995; Keevin 1997; Gunderboom, Workshop).
- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Additional studies on the effects to marine life and identification of acoustic metrics are needed. Low detonation velocity may have an impact on effectiveness for object removal and cutting. May not be appropriate in all situations.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs are estimated at \$10 per pound. Engineering costs are expected to be similar to other projects using explosives.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Unknown. Assumed similar to conventional explosives.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Urick (1967), Richardson (1995), Keevin (1997), Gunderboom (Workshop).

(EX5a) Bubble Curtains and Bubble Trees

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: See Pile Driving Treatments, Item PD1a. Keevin (1997) presents additional data of bubble curtain use with explosives. Effectiveness at reducing peak pressure, impulse, and energy flux density were all greater than 90% on average. Reduced fish kills were also noted.
- Additional References: Keevin (1997), Langefors (1978).

(EX5b) Constrained Bubble Curtains

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: See Pile Driving Treatments, Item PD1b.

(EX6) Physical Barrier

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A solid, physical barrier is used to block and contain sound from the sound source (explosion). The barrier must completely surround the sound source and must extend through the entire water column. Physical barriers can be made from metal or other solid composite materials. A foam or other internal lining may be beneficial as described in Item PD4. In some cases, the water contained within the barrier can be removed ('dewatered cofferdam' – See item PD5), and can lead to (theoretically) very large sound reductions. This would require additional equipment and time. Physical barriers also can be used to prevent structural damage to nearby objects.

Data showing the effectiveness of barriers with explosives could not be found. Keevin (1997) states that one application of a barrier "was successful in reducing peak pressures below the 100 psi (690 kPa) maximum limit." Furthermore, good results have been seen in applications of barriers to pile driving (see Items PD4 and PD5).

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Barriers are limited to shallow waters and coastal areas for practical and economic reasons (Continental, 2004). No measurements of treatment effectiveness with explosives have been found to date.
- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs are not known, but may be similar to those identified in PD4. Note that the required barrier size may be larger than what is required for pile driving to prevent damage to the barrier.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Barriers will likely be heavy and will require special lifting equipment. Locating and construction of the barrier on-site will require special efforts.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Keevin (1997), Continental (2004).

(EX7) Blasting Mats

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Blasting mats are currently used in land-based applications primarily to help mitigate flying debris, but also can reduce noise. Similar applications of the same mats may be possible for underwater use. Blasting mats are typically made from recycled rubber tires that are tied together with steel cables. They are placed directly over the charges. Vendors of the products say that they can be used underwater and have done so in a few cases.

Blasting mats may also provide an opportunity for noise mitigation in deep water applications. Blasting mats can also be used as an alternative or augmentation of blast stemming (see Item EX8). This is particularly true in sandy soils where stemming may not be an option.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: While blast mats have been used in underwater blasting projects, the effectiveness in reducing underwater sound is not known and would need to be tested. Positioning of blasting mats may be cumbersome and require special machinery and methods. It is likely that a diver would be needed to assist with installation; however it is common for divers to be used with installation of explosives.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Material costs are \$10-\$15 per square foot. One vendor quoted a 10 x 19 ft mat at \$2550. Additional costs may be associated with installation and removal.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Some parts of the mat may separate during explosion that would not be recoverable.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Mats are heavy. A 10 x 19 ft mat weighs 9600 lbs (4400 kg). Special machinery / vessels will be necessary in order to install mats.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Discussions at the Workshop.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Four Star Blasting Mats (www.blastingmats.com), Dynamat (www.dynamat.qc.ca/english/index.html), Nu-Roads Environmental (www.nu-roads.com/products.html), D&L Thomas Equipment (www.driller.com/driller/blasting/mats.html).

(EX8) Borehole Stemming

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: When using a borehole to remove obstacles, 'stemming' or 'capping' the borehole has been shown to significantly reduce the pressures that are radiated into the water. This technique consists of inserting an inert material such as crushed rock in the top of a borehole. An example of this concept is shown below. This technique is performed in practice primarily to increase the effectiveness of the blast, and Keevin (1997) indicates that 50% of the explosive energy is lost if the

borehole is not stemmed. Keevin discusses the differences between various capping materials, and indicates that the optimum crushed rock particle size should be approximately 1/12 of the borehole diameter.

Keevin also indicates that peak pressures are reduced by an order of magnitude (i.e. 90%) when the borehole is capped or 'stemmed'. Hempen (2007) provides positive and negative peak pressure data for capped borehole blasts as well as a "less confined" blast. Data for the first two peaks are provided. When comparing measurements taken at similar distances, the data shows that the first and second positive peaks are reduced by 88% and 69%, respectively (19 and 12 dB), while the first and second negative peaks are reduced by 63% and 64%, respectively (6 and 7 dB).

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Incomplete or insufficient capping can lead to reduced effectiveness. Blasting mats, used instead of or in addition to the methods described above, may be an option to help ensure proper capping (see Item EX7). Nedwell (1992) indicates that part of the received impulse may be due to transmission through the rock. If this is true then the total reduction possible will be limited by the energy passing through this path. Attempts to isolate or decouple part of the rock from the water may be effective (again, possibly through the use of blasting mats) but large areas may need to be covered for significant improvements to be detected.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are minimal since capping material is readily available. Installation costs are also expected to be minimal.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Nedwell (1992), Keevin (1997), Hempen (2007), Jordan (No Date).



FIGURE EX8: Borehole Capping Concept (Jordan, no date)

Crushed rock is inserted into the top of a borehole to 'cap' or 'stem' the blast. This is a low cost method of reducing the underwater sound that is generated while also increasing the effectiveness of the blast.

(EX9) Cutting Tools

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: As an alternative to using explosives, it is possible to use various cutting tools to remove offshore structures. These tools include diamond wire cutters, abrasive cutters, mechanical cutters, and torch cutters. A brief summary of each of these is provided below. Additional details can be found in Twachtman (2000 & 2004).

Diamond wire cutting systems are automated tools that work by running a diamond wire across the object to be cut. The cutting wire is ¹/₄-inch steel containing steel rings embedded with diamonds. The wire is mounted on a frame which can be clamped on the object to be cut. The system somewhat resembles a bandsaw when in operation. Cutting is performed from the outside of the pile. Examples of these systems are provided below. These systems can be used by a diver or mounted to an ROV, and can be

used in deep or shallow waters. Of the systems reviewed, this is clearly the most feasible, reliable, and has the greatest potential to replace explosives for decommissioning offshore structures.

Abrasive cutting methods use water jets injected with concentrations of sand, slag, garnet, or other abrasive materials. Internal and external abrasive cutting methods are available. This method must be implemented by a diver, so some depth restrictions exist. Mechanical cutters use specialized blades to mill though structures. These are typically used inside of circular piles. An example is provided below. Regarding torch cutting, Twachtman (2004) states, "In underwater arc cutting, an outside jet of oxygen and compressed air is needed to keep the water from the vicinity of the metal being cut.... In shallow water and for simple structures such as caissons, diving is sometimes the preferred method. In deep water, because of the physical limitations associated with diving, an ROV or ADS system is commonly used in conjunction with a cutting torch. Diver cuts usually cost far more than other cutting technology and the risk involved to the diver – especially in deep water – makes torch cutting generally less attractive than other removal options."

Measured underwater noise levels for these systems were not found, although Nedwell (1993) provides some data for hand-held cutting tools (i.e. grinders). It is seen that the overall (RMS) level from these tools is well below the peak levels produced by explosives by some 80 dB or more; comparisons of peak vs. peak are expected to be similarly large. Non-explosive methods clearly produce noise more continuously than explosives, but they do not produce the same over/underpressure, rise time, and similar characteristics seen with impulsive sounds which may be of concern when considering fish mortality or other similar impacts on animals.

- <u>Limitations / Need for Future Research</u>: Abrasive and mechanical cutters are not as reliable as explosives to sever piles. Twachtman (2000) indicates that there are a number of operational issues that need to be resolved before these methods can be used in deep waters. There are more delays with these systems if they fail, and a complete cut during the first pass is less likely to occur than if explosives are used. Some issues may be associated with the detection of a fully severed pile, as the current detection methods are not as sensitive to abrasive and mechanical cutting as they are to explosives. These issues do not necessarily apply to diamond wire cutting methods.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Twachtman (2004) provides a detailed analysis of costs associated with non-explosive removal of offshore structures. It is shown that the average cost of removal of platforms in the Gulf of Mexico from 1991 2000 was \$885,000 for 4-leg structures and \$1,344,000 for 8-leg structures. It is also noted that the cost of removal significantly increases for water depths below 200 feet (60 meters).



FIGURE EX9(1): Examples of Diamond Wire Cutters (Twachtman, 2000)

Diamond wire cutting systems can be used to sever piles without the need for explosives. The image on the left shows the wire mounted to a clamp which is then attached to a pile. The wire is moved in towards the pile as the cut progresses. These systems can be mounted to ROVs, as seen in the image on the right.



FIGURE EX9(2): Example of Mechanical Cutter (Twachtman, 2000)

Mechanical cutters are located inside of piles, and cut along the circumference until severed.

- Environmental Impacts: Twachtman (2004) states that no environmental issues have been found relating to these methods.
- Other Non-acoustic Impacts: Decommissioning operations using cutting tools are slower than the use of explosives. Examples of cutting times for diamond wire systems are 20 and 2.5 hours for an 82" and 48" caisson, respectively (Twachtman, 2000). It is noted by Twachtman that advances are underway that will speed-up the cutting time. Mechanical cutters are slower than diamond wheel methods.

If piles need to be cut below the mudline, a hole must be dug (or "jetted") around the pile to provide access. This process may be a cause of significant increase in the total time required on-site, depending on the method used. Bill Streever of BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc. has indicated to NCE by that this removal of material at the base of the pile to gain access below the mudline has historically been the largest cause of delay during mechanical removal of offshore structures.

Abrasive cutting sometimes results in uneven cutting and clogged hoses. Abrasive cutting also has water depth limitations, and the current (as of 2000) minimum tube inside diameter that can be accessed is 7 inches. Abrasive cuts may be poor in water depths greater than 200-250 feet, although abrasive cutters have been mounted on ROVs and deployed to depths over 1100 feet. Mechanical cutting methods can produce uneven cuts from lateral movement of un-cemented strings, and require replacement of worn blades. Larger lifting equipment is needed for mechanical cutters.

• <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Twachtman (2000), Twachtman (2004).

	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
REF #			Reduction	Frequency Range	COST ESTIMATE	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
PT1a	Low Noise Propeller Design	Propellers can be designed to have reduced noise relative to conventional designs without the need for additional treatments	3-10+ dB	All	No Additional Material Cost. Machining costs may be increased	Ν
PT1b	Low Noise Thruster Design	Thrusters can be designed to have reduced noise relative to conventional designs without the need for additional treatments	3-10+ dB	All	No Additional Material Cost. Machining costs may be increased	Ν
PT2a	Ducted Propellers	A duct is located around the propeller to potentially reduce noise and increase efficiency	Varies depending on implementation	All	Increased costs associated with manufacture of duct	Ν
PT2b	Forward-skew Blade	Propeller and thruster blades incorporate a forward skew instead of a conventional backwards skew	3-20+ dB	All	No Additional Material Cost. Machining costs may be increased	Ν
PT2c	Ring Propellers	A full or partial ring is used around the edge of the propeller. Leads to reduced noise	N/A	N/A	Assumed increased cost relative to open propeller	Ν
PT3	Drop Thruster	A retractable thruster is used in place of a conventional tunnel thruster	5-15+ dB	All	2-6x tunnel thruster designs	Ν
PT4	Z-Drives and Podded Systems	Systems that locate the propeller in an area with improved flow characteristics	5-10+ dB	All	Approx \$200,000 - \$300,000 per unit	Ν
PT5	Waterjets	Alternative to conventional propeller systems for high speed vessels	5-20+ dB estimated	All	Higher than conventional propulsion systems	Ν
PT6	Rim Drive Propulsion	New thruster design that can reduce noise	5-10 dB	O/A	Approx \$150,000 per unit	N/F
PT7	Voith Schneider Propulsion	Alternative to trainable propeller systems for maneuvering – used on minesweepers.	N/A	N/A	Higher than conventional propulsion systems	Ν

SECTION PT: PROPELLER AND THRUSTER TREATMENTS

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

Treatments for Reducing Underwater Sounds from Oil and Gas Industry Activities

PT8	Propac Rudder	Rudder design with claimed increase in efficiency	N/A	N/A	Increased cost is likely	Ν
PT9	Foul Release Coatings	By applying this coating to a propeller some beneficial effects on noise are seen.	0-10 dB 0-10 dB increase in sound for some conditions.	50-10,000 Hz >1000 Hz	N/A	F/FF
PT10	Composite Material Propeller	Propellers made from composite materials	N/A	N/A	N/A	F
PT11a	Propeller Bubble Emission	Air bubbles are emitted from the propeller blades into the water	>10 dB 0-10 dB Increase	>500 Hz 20-80 Hz	High	Ν
PT11b	Thruster Bubble Emission	Air bubbles are emitted into the stream of an operating tunnel thruster	0-20 dB Possible increase	>100 Hz <100 Hz	Est \$20,000 - \$50,000	Ν
PT12	Air Bubble Masker	An air bubble layer is emitted at or near the vessel hull and is used to block sound radiation from propellers	>10 dB 0-10 dB Increase	>500 20-80	Est \$30,000 - \$75,000	Ν
PT13	Anti-singing Edge	A special design is used for the trailing edge of the propeller blade to reduce or prevent singing propellers	Removal of singing tone when problem exists	Frequency of tone	No Additional Material Cost	Ν
PT14	Regular Maintenance	Growth and damage to propellers can significantly increase underwater radiated noise. Regular maintenance can reduce this impact	Varies. Large reductions are possible for highly fouled or damaged propellers / thrusters	All	Small when performed with other scheduled maintenance	Ν

(PT1a) Low Noise Propeller Design

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Propellers can be designed to delay cavitation inception and reduce cavitation growth. This will reduce the underwater noise levels produced by the propeller. General design guidelines for quiet propellers are provided below.
 - a) Propeller tip speed should be kept as low as possible by increasing propeller diameter and reducing shaft RPM. As a rule of thumb, cavitation will begin when tip speed reaches 18 m/s.
 - b) A skewed impeller shape has significantly better low frequency performance than one with a radial leading edge. Note that the blade must be designed to handle larger stresses than a non-skewed blade.
 - c) For ducted impellers, consider trade-off between increased tip clearance, which reduces unsteady load at tips that operate in the fin wake, and effect on tip vortex cavitation and thrust performance.
 - d) Adjust blade pitch distribution to unload tip.
 - e) Consider odd number of blades which respond to lower amplitude wake harmonics, and therefore generate lower unsteady hydrodynamic forces.
 - f) Increased impeller pitch may produce the same thrust but at a lower rotation rate, which is equivalent to a lower tip speed. Note that this can also increase the loading of the blade, causing other cavitation effects.
 - g) The chord length near blade tip should be maximized.
 - h) The angle at the propeller between the shaft line and the overhead buttock lines should not exceed 10 degrees for preliminary design to ensure that the tangential and radial wake components are suitably small. At the conclusion of the feasibility design stage, a detailed examination of the cavitation performance of the propeller should be performed, using the wake field of a similar ship. At the conclusion of model tests, the cavitation performance should be examined using the actual wake. Additional recommendations on hull/wake/propeller interaction are described in Holden (1980).

In general, twin screw designs can reduce noise relative to single screw designs since two lightly loaded propellers are better for noise than one heavily loaded propeller. This also provides propulsion redundancy which can be useful in emergency situations. Counter-rotating propellers have been shown to be lower in noise than propellers rotating in the same direction for vessels with two propellers (Nishiyama, 1990; Zhu, 1997). Naturally, two propellers will be more expensive than one.

When implemented properly, controllable-pitch propeller designs (CPP) can result in lower noise than fixed pitch designs. In a proper design the pitch of the propeller is be changed with engine RPM to best match inflow conditions. This technique can also result in increased propulsion performance. However, it is common for vessels to use CPP designs with engines that operate at a fixed speed; vessel speed is then controlled solely through blade pitch. This approach can lead to very high noise levels, as cavitation is possible (and likely in practice) even at 0 pitch since tip speed is constant (and high). It is strongly suggested that

when CPP designs are used, the propulsion engine or motor should be allowed to vary in speed, and an optimal configuration of RPM and blade pitch should be identified for each speed to keep noise levels as low as possible.

Modifications to the ship hull can also be analyzed and implemented into the vessel design at the design stage. Such modifications would be performed with the intention of improving the flow into the propeller thus reducing cavitation noise. This approach generally requires extensive model testing.

It is recommended that any propeller design be evaluated by a qualified analyst. Analysis methods range from conventional methods using lifting lines and lifting surfaces to computerized CFD and BEM analyses.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Engineering costs for improved propeller designs can be on the order of \$50-200k. Additional material costs for improved propellers are small. Machining costs may be higher for some propeller designs; some modifications to manufacturing processes may be required.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Increases and decreases in efficiency can result depending on the specifics of the original and new designs.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Model testing is often required in order to fine-tune the design.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Brown (1976a), Holden (1980), Greeley (1982), Asmussen (1986), Bruggeman (1988), Pylkkanen (1991), Fischer (2001), Kinnas (2002), Jebsen (2005), BAHAM (No Date).
- <u>Vendors (Designers)</u>: NAB & Associates (nab@nabassociates.net), Sistemar (www.sistemar.com), Groningen Propeller Technology, Rolls Royce Naval Marine (marine.rolls-royce.com)

(PT1b) Low Noise Thruster Design

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Similar to propellers, thrusters can be designed so that cavitation is delayed until higher thrusts are generated and cavitation growth is reduced. This will reduce the underwater noise levels produced by the thruster. Several of the notes provided in PT1a are applicable here. Further design guidance from Fischer (2006) is provided below.
 - a) The centerline of the tunnel should be a minimum of one duct diameter above the baseline to minimize the inflow gradient between the top and bottom of the tunnel.
 - b) The centerline of the tunnel should be a minimum of one duct diameter below the lightest water line.

- c) The minimum distance from the lower opening edge to the impeller is one duct diameter.
- d) The minimum length of the tunnel at centerline is two duct diameters. Otherwise there is potential for turbulent flow, which also reduces thrust.
- e) The hull should be dished or flared downstream of the tunnel opening. The major axis of the dish should be approximately 15 degrees below the horizontal (or follow flow lines) and the angle from the tunnel opening to the edge of the un-dished hull should not exceed 15 degrees.
- f) The radius of the inlet along the hull interface should be at least 0.05 times the duct diameter.
- g) If a grill is used the grill should follow the water streamlines, typically 15 to 20 degrees off the horizontal.
- h) The grill itself should not be made of flat bar but should be aerodynamically shaped with rounded leading edges. Grills should take up as little free area as possible. Maximum opening blockage should be 10% to 15%.
- i) Struts holding the impeller should be faired as much as possible to reduce wake turbulence, especially for thrust generated in a direction where the flow hits the struts before the impeller.
- j) Reduce strut cross sectional area as possible.
- k) Place generous fillets between strut and tunnel wall to reduce vortices.
- 1) For multiple tunnel thruster arrangements, distance between tunnel centerlines should be at least two duct diameters for controllable pitch impellers, and 1.5 diameters for fixed pitch impellers (FP).
- m) Increased impeller pitch may produce the same thrust but at a lower rotation rate, which is equivalent to a lower tip speed. Note that this can also increase the loading of the blade, causing other cavitation effects.
- n) Impeller tip speed should be as low as possible over as much of the operating range as possible.
- o) A skewed impeller shape has significantly better low frequency performance than one with a radial leading edge. Skew for thrust in one direction should not harm thrust in the other direction; requires careful hydro-acoustic design.
- p) Consider trade-off between increased tip clearance, which reduces unsteady load at tips that operate in the strut wake, and effect on tip vortex cavitation and thrust performance. Adjust blade pitch distribution to unload tip

It is recommended that any thruster design be evaluated by a qualified analyst.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Engineering costs for improved propeller designs can be on the order of \$50-200k. Additional material costs for improved propellers are small. Machining costs may be higher for some propeller designs; some modifications to manufacturing processes may be required.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Increases and decreases in efficiency can result depending on the specifics of the original and new designs.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: See Item PT1a, Brown (1974), Brown (1977), Fischer (2006).
- <u>Vendors (Designers)</u>: See PT1a.

(PT2a) Ducted Propellers

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A ducted propeller uses a duct around the perimeter of the propeller to modify the propulsion performance and noise characteristics of the propeller. An example is shown in Figure PT2a below. The duct commonly employs an airfoil shape to either accelerate (Kort Nozzle) or decelerate (pump jet) the flow into the propeller. This is done to enhance propulsion performance, cavitation performance, or both. A Kort Nozzle can increase propulsion efficiency by as much as 20% for heavily loaded propulsors by generating thrust over an airfoil duct shape. These configurations are commonly found on low speed vessels such as tug boats.

Vanes can also be outfitted on forward or aft sides of ducts to help make the inflow to the propeller more uniform (a.k.a. pre-swirl and post-swirl vanes); this can lead to reduced noise (DOD, 2002; BAHAM, no date). Depending on the dimensions of the duct, noise radiated by a ducted propeller will be directional (Brown, 1976a). Beaming will occur in the fore/aft directions and will be frequency dependent (high directionality at high frequencies, low directionality at low frequencies).

Furthermore, the duct itself can be lined or filled with an acoustically absorbent material (Brown, 1976a). Depending on the design, reductions can be significant (see Item MV6) although some increase in noise at low frequencies should also be expected. Protection of these absorbent materials from cavitation and other marine effects is another challenge.

It is indicated by BAHAM (no date) that noise levels may be higher in off-design conditions such as sharp turns than for nonducted propellers. Erosion of the interior of the duct due to cavitation may also be an issue that needs consideration.



FIGURE PT2a: Example of Ducted Propeller (www.marinepropulsion.net)

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs will naturally be higher compared to open propeller designs. However, overall efficiency may be increased depending on the specific design, thereby reducing fuel costs.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases and decreases in efficiency relative to conventional open propeller designs are possible.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased complexity of design, particularly in way of supporting structures. There is slightly reduced maneuverability with ducted propellers.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Brown (1976a), Brown (1999), DOD (2002), Brown (2007), BAHAM (no date).
- <u>Vendors(Designers)</u>: See PT1a.

(PT2b) Forward-Skew Blades

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Unconventional, forward skew propellers have been implemented in ducted propeller designs and thrusters to significantly improve noise and thrust performance (Brown, 1999; Brown, 2007; Brown, Workshop). A visual comparison of conventional and forward-skew designs is provided below. Note that the rotation direction is clockwise for both propellers. Brown (Workshop) states that "the forward-skewed blade-tip region suffers less change in load (lift) per unit change of incidence than a straight-edged blade – and a lot less than a back-skewed blade." This makes it less susceptible to variations in inflow and vessel speed.

Brown presented measured data at the Workshop showing the results of a design modification to the bow thruster on the R/V ROGER REVELLE. The forward-skew blade design reduced underwater noise by 5-18 dB at the 1000 Hz third-octave band over much of the thruster's operating range. In addition, NCE has recently been in contact with the operator of the survey vessel NORTHERN RESOLUTION, where the original propeller was replaced with a forward-skew design due to poor acoustical performance. The vessel could not perform its normal functions which included the use of sonar at 12 kHz due to interference from noise created by the propeller. After the new forward-skew blade was implemented the noise reportedly dropped by 20 dB at this frequency and the vessel can now perform surveys at full speed (11.5 knots) (NCE, 2007). This same technology has also been applied to pumps with good results (Brown, Workshop).

Forward-skew blade designs must be implemented in tunnels or nozzles to prevent fouling or physical damage to marine life; the design also benefits from the existence of the duct. Other advantages and treatments applicable to ducted propeller and thruster designs are also applicable here (see Item PT2a).

FIGURE PT2b: Comparison of Conventional (Left) and Forward-Skew (Right) Propeller Blades (Provided by Neal Brown, NAB Associates)



Image on the left shows the original, conventional propeller and the image on the right shows the new forward skew propeller (both installed on the same vessel, one after the other). Both propellers are clockwise turning. The sharp tip or 'bird beak' on the forward skew blade is on the leading edge.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: There are no additional material costs associated with the design of a forward-skew blade as compared to a conventional blade. Machining costs may be increased due to added complexity or unfamiliarity with design.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases and decreases in efficiency relative to conventional designs are possible.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Brown (1974), Brown (1976b), Brown (1999), Brown (2007), Brown (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors(Designers)</u>: NAB & Associates (nab@nabassociates.net).

(PT2c) Ring Propellers

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: BAHAM (no date) discusses the use of a ring propeller. This is a propeller that has a continuous ring attached to the blade tips (as opposed to using a duct). Because the tip clearance is effectively zero there is no loss of efficiency due to tip clearance effects. BAHAM shows that the open water efficiency is greater than for open propellers, although it is less than for ducted propellers. This approach removes the need to manufacture and install a separate duct and can have higher reliability. It is indicated that this design can have lower underwater noise, although measured data was not identified.

A second option is to use a "Tip vortex free" propeller or tip vortex fence. This is essentially the same as the ring propeller but the sections of the ring between the propeller are removed. The potential advantages of this design are similar to the ring propeller, although BAHAM indicates that this design can be used with or without a duct. Again, no noise data is provided for this design, although Anonymous (2001 a-c) suggest it can help reduce noise (and on-board vibration).



FIGURE PT2c: Diagram of Ring Propeller (Church, 1989)

Propeller blades are attached to the outer ring. This ring rotates with the blades.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs will be somewhat higher than with open propeller designs, but potentially less than ducted designs. Overall efficiency may be increased depending on the specific design, thereby reducing fuel costs.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in efficiency relative to conventional open propeller designs are possible. Efficiency is expected to be less than for a ducted design.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: A rotating ring increases moment of inertia (i.e. increases the mass that is moving at a distance from the center of rotation, and is more resistant to changes in RPM). The ring therefore requires a light material.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Church (1989), Anonymous (2001a-c), BAHAM (no date).

(PT3) Drop Thruster

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A 'drop thruster' is a thruster that can be lowered below the vessel. Drop thrusters have better inflow and outflow characteristics since they are separated from the vessel and supporting structures that can cause flow non-uniformities. Lower underwater noise will result from the improved flow characteristics, as well as improved thrust. Drop thrusters also allow for azimuthing, increasing the control capabilities of the vessel.

Drop thrusters have some limitations with regards to water depth; for obvious reasons, they can not be used in very shallow waters. One solution for this issue is a combined retractable / tunnel thruster, as seen in Figure PT3 below. This design has the same capabilities as any drop thruster, and can be used as a tunnel thruster for shallow water operation.

FIGURE PT3: Combination Drop / Tunnel Thruster (www.brunvoll.no)



This image shows a retractable drop thruster. The thruster can be positioned below the vessel, allowing for better flow and reduced noise. When not in use or operating in shallow water, the thruster can be pulled into the vessel and used like a conventional thruister.

• <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Drop thruster designs can cost 2-6 times more than conventional tunnel thruster designs. Engineering and installation costs are also higher than costs associated with conventional designs.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in efficiency may result, yielding reduced environmental impacts relative to 'standard' designs.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Use in very shallow waters may be limited for some designs. Fouling may occur in shallow waters when thruster operates near bottom. Installation of a drop-down thruster is more complicated than in tunnel designs. Sufficient internal height/depth requirements are needed to accommodate thruster.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Bekker (2005), Fischer (2006).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Thrustmaster (www.thrustmastertexas.com), Brunvoll (www.brunvoll.no)

(PT4) Z-Drives and Podded Systems

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Z-Drives and podded propulsion systems (also called 'azipods') use special gearing and machinery arrangements to locate the propeller further from the vessel / structure. This is done to achieve better inflow and outflow characteristics. These systems see less hull-wake deficit, reducing underwater noise. Furthermore, these systems can allow for steerable thrust, often covering a full 360 degree arc. Z-Drives also have the ability to be located in the middle or forward portions of the vessel (Baniela, 2005).

Z-drives use a double-gear system to locate the propeller away from ship structures, as seen in Figure PT4(1) below. In these systems, the prime mover is located on the vessel and is attached to the upper gear. The lower gear is located in the water and is then connected to the propeller. As a result of this arrangement, increased levels at gear mesh frequencies (100 - 5000 Hz range) may result, and can be significant if gear tolerance is poor.

Podded systems have a submerged electric motor directly coupled to the propeller, without gearing. See Figure PT4(2). Podded propulsors are often operated with the propeller forward in a 'puller' configuration; this can provide a minimum of disturbed flow into the propeller. It is important to note that because the motor is in direct contact with the seawater this design may not necessarily result in lower underwater noise at all frequencies. High noise levels at low frequencies (due to the motor) are evident in podded systems tested to date. Isolation mounted motors may partially overcome this problem (Brungart, 2002). This noise may also be a result of a "dirty" electrical drive signal; cleaning up this signal may also help to reduce this noise (Workshop).

In either case, the design of a Z-drive or podded propulsion system should be analyzed to ensure that noise reductions will be achieved.



FIGURE PT4(1): Z-Drive Propulsion System

In a Z-drive system, the propeller is attached to a steerable pod that is located farther from the hull than in a conventional design. This positioning of the propeller can lead to reduced underwater noise. The propeller is driven through two gears, one located inside the vessel and one located in the pod.
FIGURE PT4(2): Azipod Propulsion System (http://www.uscg.mil/d9/glib/images/launch/Mack%20Launch%20010.jpg)



An azipod system is similar to a Z-drive system in that the propeller is moved away from the ship, potentially providing lower radiated noise. However, the driving motor is located within the pod, removing the need for gears. Noise from the motor has proven to be significant in recent designs, but solutions are possible.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Absolute costs for "standard" Z-drives are on the order of \$200,000. It is noted though that shafting complexities (including balancing) are significantly reduced in these designs. Quiet, high quality Z-drives with low noise gears can cost roughly 40% more than standard Z-drives.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Some decrease in efficiency may result due to the removal of the hull wake deficit (see Section 4.4.1).
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Requires different design for propulsion system.
- <u>Additional Information</u>: Baniela (2005), Brungart (2002).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Schottell, Aquamaster, Niigata, Rolls Royce, Duckpeller, Steerprop.

(PT5) Waterjets

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Waterjets operate by sucking water from the ocean and accelerating it out of the aft of the vessel, thereby creating thrust. Waterjets should only be used on high speed craft – waterjets have significantly improved propulsion efficiency relative to conventional propulsion systems at speeds of 30 and 45 knots (normal transit loads). Below this speed waterjets are less efficient than propellers and may not be appropriate. Anonymous (1994) and Kallman (2001) state that water jets typically have lower radiated noise than equivalent open screw propellers. These studies focus on airborne noise reductions on-board the vessel, however similar reductions should be expected in underwater radiated noise.

Waterjet impellers with an unorthodox forward-skew of the leading edge toward the blade tips have been shown to greatly increase inception speed and tolerance to inflow non-uniformity (Lanni, 2000; Brown, Workshop) – see Item PT2b. Brown indicated at the Workshop that cavitation in an impeller using this design was not significant at 30 knots. This delay in inception speed will help to reduce underwater noise.

Waterjets are becoming more common in many marine sectors such as ferries and shipping, and may also be appropriate for use in the oil and gas industry. Waterjets also do not require appendages similar to conventional propulsion systems, and therefore can reduce vessel drag. Similarly, vessels outfitted with waterjets can be used in shallower waters than those using propellers. Waterjets are also lighter than conventional propulsion systems.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: The overall costs of waterjet systems may actually be similar to conventional propulsion systems. This is due in part to the fact that waterjets are typically modularized, and so there is reduced effort in installation, including shaft balancing.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Improvements to propulsion efficiency are likely for higher speeds (30-45 knots) over open propeller designs. This can result in reduced environmental impacts. Waterjet systems are also lighter than conventional systems, thereby reducing the load on the vessel.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Anonymous, 1994; Kallman, 2001, Lanni (2000), Brown (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Rolls Royce Naval Marine (marine.rolls-royce.com), Wartsila (www.wartsila.com), HamiltonJet (www.hamjet.co.nz), UltraJet (www.ultradynamics.com).

(PT6) Rim Drive Propulsion

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A relatively new technology that is being pursued is called "rim drive". An example is the "EPS Thruster" created by Van der Velden Marine Systems. An image of this thruster is provided below. The thruster is unique in that the blades are driven from the perimeter as opposed to the center. A permanent magnet electric motor is integrated into the outer ring. As a result this system does not require shafting, gears, or a separate electric motor or diesel engine. The system is designed in such a way that there is no mechanical contact between the rotor and stator. Water is allowed to flow freely between the rotor and stator, which are individually sealed.

Testing of the EPS thruster currently indicates that overall noise reductions of 5-10 dB are possible relative to conventional designs. Slight improvements in thrust efficiency have also been indicated (Maat, 2006). Maat indicates that the thruster can be resiliently mounted to the vessel to reduce on-board noise and vibration.

The EPS thruster currently has a size limitation. This limitation is due to the journal bearing needs to be usable at high speeds while also resisting corrosion and other marine effects. EPS currently makes this thruster in powers up to 160 kW and is developing a 340 kW unit for primary propulsion.



FIGURE PT6: EPS Thruster (Maat, 2006)

A 'rim drive' thruster uses a motor that is integrated into the perimeter of the thruster. The blades are also attached along the perimeter. The system is compact and has been shown to have reduced underwater noise levels.

Rolls-Royce and Brunvoll are also developing their own versions of this technology (Tinsley, 2006). It is indicated that one of these units can provide 800 kW of thrust (as a stern thruster). It is also indicated that these companies are planning on using the technology for primary propulsion, and Brunvoll is developing a similar system for its drop thrusters (see Item PT3). No indications of underwater sound levels were provided.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: System costs are on the order of \$150,000 based on a rough quotation provided by one manufacturer. Some system simplification is apparent since no gears or separate prime mover is necessary, potentially leading to reduced installation costs.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in efficiency may result, yielding reduced environmental impacts relative to 'standard' designs. The unit will also be lighter than conventional systems.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Reduced weight. There is no need for a separate prime mover since it is integral to the system.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Maat (2006), Tinsley (2006).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Van der Velden Marine Systems (www.vdvelden.nl), Rolls Royce Naval Marine (marine.rolls-royce.com), Brunvoll (www.brunvoll.com).

(PT7) Voith Schneider Systems

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Voith Schneider systems operate in a very unique manner that is unlike almost any other propulsion system. The system is made up of several long blades that extend vertically downwards from the vessel, as seen in the image below. The operation of the system is described on the Voith Schneider website as follows:

... a rotor casing which ends flush with the ship's bottom is fitted with a number of axially parallel blades and rotates about a vertical axis. To generate thrust, each of the propeller blades performs an oscillating motion about its own axis. This is superimposed on the uniform rotary motion. Blade excursion determines the amount of thrust, while the phase angle of between 0° and 360° determines its direction. As a result, the same amount of thrust can be generated in any direction...



FIGURE PT7: Voith Schneider Propulsion System (www.voithturbo.de)

An animation of how this system works can be seen at www.voithturbo.de

Voith Schneider systems can generate thrust in any direction, and have the ability to quickly change the direction of thrust. Such systems have been employed on many tug designs. These vessels can literally spin 360 degrees without any lateral motion.

Voith Schneider systems are being used on European mine sweepers, and are therefore assumed to have some reduced noise levels relative to conventional systems. Additional details are not known.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs of installing Voith Schneider propulsion systems were not identified but are expected to be significantly higher than conventional systems due to increased complexity and uniqueness.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Changes to efficiency relative to conventional designs are not known.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased draft. Vessel must be designed specifically to accommodate this propulsion system which may involve very different layouts and construction methods.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Voith Schneider (www.voithturbo.de/vt_en_pua_marine_vspropeller.htm)

(PT8) PropacRudder

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: The PropacRudder is a rudder system available from Wartsila that claims increased propulsion efficiency and lower noise over conventional designs. The manufacturer claims the following:

PropacRudder is characterized by a streamlined "torpedo"-shaped bulb on the rudder horn immediately abaft and coaxial with the propeller hub. The bulb ensures a more homogeneous water flow both in front of the propeller and in the propeller slipstream. The bulb increases propulsion efficiency by the "wake gain" effect, which means that it reduces the water speed into the propeller so that less power is needed to produce the same propeller thrust. The bulb also reduces propeller-induced hull noise and vibration by eliminating hub vortices and separation, and cavitation behind the propeller hub collapsing on the propeller.

Underwater noise data is not available for PropacRudder systems. Additional study would be necessary in order to quantify any reduction in noise.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs of PropacRudder systems were not identified but are expected to be higher than conventional rudder designs. Engineering and installation costs are also expected to be higher than costs associated with conventional designs.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in efficiency are claimed, and would yield reduced environmental impacts relative to 'standard' designs.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Wartsila (www.wartsila.com)

(PT9) Foul Release Coating

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A foul release material has been applied to several propellers by Mutton (2006). The effects on underwater noise were investigated, and some reduction was found. The noise reduction varied with frequency and specific operating condition. Amplification was found at some frequencies under some conditions. The actual mechanisms causing the change in sound are not clear.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs are not known at this time.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Unknown. Coating would require approval from regulatory agencies.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Coating may need re-application after some period of time (years).
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Anderson (2003), Mutton (2006).

(PT10) Composite Material Propeller

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: QuinetiQ (2007) reports improved cavitation performance of a propeller made from composite materials. No underwater noise data is available; however the improved cavitation performance is expected to reduce underwater noise. The article states the following regarding this approach:

Theoretical models give a cavitation inception speed of 30% higher for the composite propeller design, compared with the original nickel aluminum bronze (NiBrAl) propeller. This was found to be a result of the improved shape, rather than the use of new materials - though the combination provides a number of benefits, explains Colin Podmore, Project Manager. 'The use of the lighter composite materials meant that the blades could be thicker without significantly adding to the weight of the propeller. Thicker blades offer the potential for improved cavitation performance, so reducing vibration and underwater signatures. Propeller also has improved lift expectancy.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs are not known at this time.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: QuinetiQ (2007).

(PT11a) Propeller Bubble Emission

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Air bubbles are emitted into the water through small holes located in the propeller blades. An example diagram is provided below, and is also see Figure PT12 ("PRAIRIE"). The presence of the air bubbles changes the local acoustic impedance of the water, thereby modifying the characteristics of the cavitation noise. Effectively there is a "cushioning" of the collapsing of the cavitation bubbles.

Noise reductions are believed to be on the order of 10 dB or more at frequencies above 500 Hz. Some increase in noise may result at frequencies below 80 Hz. It is noted that much of the data showing the effectiveness of these systems is classified.

Noise reduction may be compromised due to increased cavitation effects. These systems are prone to marine growth, and holes can clog requiring regular cleaning.



FIGURE PT11: Diagram of Propeller Bubble Emission (DND, 1979)

Small holes are drilled in the propeller blade where air bubbles are emitted. Air is supplied via a compressor and piping which runs down the propeller shaft. Hole location, size, and spacing for one design are shown here.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs of implementation are expected to be very high. Furthermore, maintenance costs to keep holes clean can also be significant. System may need to be run constantly to avoid fouling.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: System is complex. Air lines must pass through propeller shaft to a manifold for distribution. System must account for rotation of propeller.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: DND (1979), DTNSRDC (1981)

(PT11b) Tunnel Bubble Emission

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Air bubbles are emitted into the water through small holes located in the inlet and outlet of a thruster's tunnel wall. The physics of this approach is based on the same principle as what is described for the propeller bubble emission system (Item PT11a). The effectiveness of the system will be dependent on the amount of air injected into the tunnel. It is believed that too much air will cause decreased thrust and noise performance. Brown (1975) indicates that holes should be drilled 2-3mm apart at 1.5 mm in diameter, although these parameters will vary depending on desired airflow and available pressure from a compressor.

These systems have been installed on naval vessels. It is noted that much of the data showing the effectiveness of these systems is classified. Reductions are estimated to be on the order of 0-20 dB above 100 Hz, with some increase in level being possible below this frequency.

These systems are prone to marine growth. Holes can clog requiring regular cleaning.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs of implementation are not known, but are estimated at \$20-50k. Maintenance costs to keep holes clean can also be significant.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Brown (1975).

(PT12) Air Bubble Masker

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: This treatment is similar to that described in Item MV5. Air bubbles are emitted into the water through small holes located on a structure offset from the hull, upstream of the propeller. An example is shown in the diagram below ("standoff"). The bubbles are designed to pass below the propeller, and provide an acoustic impedance which effectively blocks sound transmission. Air bubbles are typically created via an air compressor.

The effectiveness of this approach is similar to that described in PD1, although some increase in noise at frequencies below 80 Hz is possible. Locating the curtain below the propeller may prove to be difficult for commercial vessels. Increased noise and reduced propulsion performance may result if bubbles enter the propeller's inflow.

The air injection holes used to create bubble layers are prone to fouling. Significant costs can be expected for regular maintenance and inspection.

It has been estimated that such a system can require upwards of 600 HP on a vessel moving at 20 knots.



FIGURE PT12: Diagram of Various Bubble Emission Systems (DTNSRDC, 1981)

This diagram shows the implementation of several masker systems based on air bubble emission into the water. The 'standoff' system emits a bubble sheet that passes below the propeller, shielding the ocean surroundings from propeller induced noise. The 'PRARIE' system is described in Item PT11a. The 'hull' system is similar to the standoff system except the bubbles travel along the hull with the purpose of blocking noise generated by machinery (see Item MV5).

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Engineering and installation costs could not be determined, but are estimated to be in the range of \$30,000-\$75,000 or more depending on the system and configuration. The system may need to be run constantly to avoid fouling.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Some impact is expected due to operation of air compressors.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: See Item MV5.

(PT13) Anti-singing Edge

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: When singing propellers are encountered, an effective method of reducing the associated tone is to modify the propeller's trailing edge. An example of such a modification is provided below. The objective in making this modification is to break up, alter, or otherwise weaken the naturally occurring vortex shedding phenomenon that leads to the singing tone creation. This modification can be applied to existing propellers, and thus can be used only when necessary.

FIGURE PT13: Anti-Singing Edge



The above diagram shows a possible profile of a propeller's trailing edge in order to eliminate the effects of a singing propeller.

It is also possible to 'de-tune' the propeller to move shedding frequencies out of the range of blade natural frequencies, and vice versa. If, for example, blades are made thicker, the resonant frequencies of the water-loaded blades are typically increased while the vortex shedding frequencies tend to be reduced.

• *Description of Estimated Costs*: Engineering and modification costs (for an existing propeller) are estimated to be on the order of several thousand dollars.

(PT14) Regular Maintenance

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Propellers that are subjected to marine growth, even in low amounts, are more likely to cavitate at lower speeds than 'clean' propellers and will exhibit greater amounts of cavitation at higher speeds. Regular maintenance can also help identify propellers that have been damaged, which can lead to significantly higher levels of underwater noise.



FIGURE PT14: Example of Fouled Thruster

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs of maintenance will vary, however propeller maintenance should be part of any regular maintenance routine used for the rest of the vessel.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in propulsion efficiency can result from cleaning and repairing propellers and thrusters.

REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS*			AVAILABILITY
			Reduction	Frequency Range	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
MV1	Resilient Isolation of Equipment	Reduction of vibration by mechanically isolating machinery from supporting structure	0-20+ dB 10-25+ dB	20-100 Hz >100 Hz	\$20-\$2000 Per mount Add'1 for other connections	Ν
MV2	Isolated Deck / Larger Structure	Isolation of deck or larger area containing multiple equipment items that require isolation mounting	0-20+ dB 10-25+ dB	20-100 Hz >100 Hz	\$20-\$2000 Per mount Add'l for deck	Ν
MV3a	Damping Tiles	Reduces vibration energy in structures. Used on stiffened plating near machinery sources, plating adjacent to water, and locations in-between.	5-10+ dB Depending on type, amount, and location	>30 Hz	Material: \$5-\$15 / sq ft Additional costs apply	Ν
MV3b	Spray-on Damping	Reduces vibration energy in structures. Used on stiffened plating near machinery sources, plating adjacent to water, and locations in-between.	3-8+ dB Depending on type, amount, and location	>30 Hz	\$15 - \$30 per square foot Additional costs apply	Ν
MV4	Ballast-Crete	Used in lieu of conventional liquid ballast. Provides additional damping.	N/A 5+ dB estimated	>30 Hz (est)	Varies See Details	Ν
MV5	Air Masking System	Air bubble curtain is used to shield vessel hull from rest of ocean	>10 dB 0-10 dB Increase	>500 Hz 20-80 Hz	Est. \$20,000 - \$50,000+	Ν
MV6	Decoupling Materials	A decoupling material is applied to the exterior (wet side) plating in order to reduce the radiation efficiency of the structure.	>10 dB 0-10 dB Increase	>500 Hz 20-80 Hz	Est \$25-\$100 per square foot	Ν
MV7	Low Noise Equipment	Equipment that creates low vibration levels is selected	Varies, 5 dB is common	All	Est. 1-5x noisier equipment	Ν

SECTION MV: MACHINERY VIBRATION TREATMENTS

*Effectiveness is for treated item / path only. If other sources are significant or dominate the underwater noise signature, total noise reduction will be less than what is quoted here.

(MV1) Resilient Isolation of Equipment

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Resilient mounts are effectively springs that react to the motions of the mounted machinery. They work by reducing the vibration and forces imparted by machinery to the supporting structure (i.e. vessel, platform, etc.). Vibration in the structure can travel to areas in contact with water and create underwater noise. Pictures of typical isolation mounts are provided below.

FIGURE MV1a(1): Examples of Resilient Mounts for Machinery



These are two examples of typical resilient mounts. The mount on the left uses rubber as the isolation material (rubber not seen here) and the mount on the right uses a spring. Different mount types will have different effectivenesses. The effectiveness will be frequency dependent.

Isolators are located between the equipment and primary structure. Equipment feet are mounted to a frame or "subbase" (typically steel). The resilient mount is connected between the subbase and foundation. A minimum of 4 mounts per equipment item are generally required, although it is typically desired to use as few mounts as possible. The number of mounts required will depend on the rated load of the selected mounts and the desired natural frequencies of the mounted system. A diagram showing the locations of resilient mounts, subbase, and foundation is provided below.

FIGURE MV1a(2): Diagram of Mounting Concept



This image shows a typical single stage isolation system for a diesel generator. The mounts are located between the engine and the supporting structure (ship, platform, etc). The mounted equipment will typically be supported by a 'subbase', which should have high dynamic stiffness in order for the mounts to work effectively. Similarly, the foundation (i.e. below mount structure) should also have high dynamic stiffness. Increasing these stiffnesses can result in better mount performance.

Resilient mounts come in three types: elastomeric (rubber), spring, or combined elastomer-spring mounts. Typically, elastomeric and combined elastomer-spring mounts are preferred because they have better overall isolation performance ands work well over a greater frequency range. For spring mounts, there is typically some frequency range near 500-2000 Hz where performance is

poor; this is due to undamped modes in the spring itself. Elastomeric and combined elastomer-spring mounts do not have this problem. Conversely, it is easier to get better low frequency (<100 Hz) performance from a spring isolator since they can allow for greater displacements.

Mounting systems can be arranged in varying degrees of complexity. The simplest mounting system is a 'single stage' system where one set of mounts is used (as seen in Figure MV1a(2)). Double stage mounting systems can be employed when vibration isolation is highly critical, such as on submarines and fisheries research vessels. These systems use two sets of resilient mounts, separated by a 'blocking mass'. Other configurations are also possible.

When resilient mounts are used, the mass of the machinery and the mounting system will combine to create a system that has several natural modes of vibration (a.k.a. resonances). For a single stage system there are six of these modes. These modes correspond to rigid body translations and rotations in the three primary axes, although some coupling between modes often occurs. It is typically desired to design the system so that these modes are below 1/3 to $\frac{1}{2}$ of the lowest forcing frequency for the mounted item (e.g. rotation rate of the machinery). A system with a lower set of natural frequencies will generally have softer mounts, which results in better vibration isolation.

Special attention should be given to the design of the subbase and foundation of any resiliently mounted machinery item. Both should be dynamically stiff structures with resonant frequencies well outside of the range of the mounting system natural frequencies. These resonance frequencies should also be well above the lowest forcing frequencies of the mounted equipment. Local stiffening of the subbase and foundation at the resilient mounts is recommended ("gusseting"). The specific design of the subbase and foundation can have a significant impact on the performance of the isolation system. Differences of 5 to 25 dB (depending on frequency) have been reported by Odegaard (2005) for the same isolation system using different subbase and foundation arrangements, with better performance resulting from the use of highly stiffened structures.

When isolation mounting a propulsion engine, special isolation mounts may be necessary if thrust forces are seen by the machinery. Some resilient mount types can accept thrust forces. Alternatively, a thrust bearing can be used (separate from the mounted machinery) with a flexible or "torsional" coupling to allow transfer power from the engine to the shaft while limiting vibration transmission and transfer of thrust to the engine and mounts. Note that low speed direct drive diesel engines should not be resiliently mounted as the effectiveness is minimal and may result in increases in vibration / underwater noise levels (Southall, 2004).

Use of resilient mounts will result in larger machinery motions than for a conventional hard-mounted installation (due to sea motion). Limit stops are recommended to prevent excessive motion that would damage the mounts. These are often integrated

into the mount design. In addition, all connections to a resiliently mounted machinery item such as piping, exhaust, etc., will need to use resilient elements. This can be accomplished through the use of flexible hose, resilient arch pieces, bellows, and other flexible joints. Use of these flexible joints will reduce or eliminate vibration flanking paths, and will allow the equipment to move freely.

Additional considerations and guidelines should be followed when designing a resilient mounting system, as discussed in Fischer (1983).

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Resilient mounts typically cost on the order of \$20 \$2000 per mount, depending on the mount and quantity. Installation and engineering will be extra. Some vendors will provide engineering services to determine appropriate mount models and locations. It is also important to point out that other resilient connections will be necessary such as piping, exhaust, etc. These items are often low cost but some engineering effort will be required. Total costs incorporating all design factors and installation will be on the order of several thousand dollars. Mounts should be replaced every 10 years (or according to manufacturer's recommendations).
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased space requirement mounts will either increase the height or width of installation, depending on the design. Increases are on the order of the mount and subbase size, roughly 0.3 meters. Increased weight installation requires a subbase which may not have otherwise been installed. Mount weight is negligible. Mounts should be inspected for creep on a regular schedule (~1x per year). All piping or other connections to mounted equipment or structure will need to be resilient. See Item FB1.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fischer (1983), Southall (2004), Fischer (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Barry Controls (www.barrycontrols.com), Christie & Grey (www.christiegrey.com), Kinetics Noise Control (www.kineticsnoise.com), Lord Corporation (www.lordmpd.com), Trelleborg (www.trelleborg.com).

(MV2) Resilient Isolation of Deck or Larger Structure

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: This treatment works in a similar fashion to individual equipment isolation by reducing the vibration imparted by machinery to the supporting structure (i.e. vessel, platform, etc.). In this arrangement, a floating or 'false' deck structure is made where many equipment items are hard mounted. Resilient isolators are located between the floating deck and primary structure. The advantage of this system is multiple equipment items can be resiliently mounted on one floating deck. This allows for direct, hard connections (piping, for example) between equipment items located on the floating floor. Connections to structure and equipment located off the floating deck will still require resilient connections.

This approach is useful when multiple equipment items need resilient mounting, such as a multiple, adjacent gensets or pump systems. Equipment items that may be hard to mount individually, such as pumps that operate with an imbalance, can be hard mounted to the larger floating deck which will will locally simulate a hard mounting while still providing isolation to the vessel.

Floating deck structures must be designed to have high dynamic stiffness. The first natural frequency is generally desired to be at least 100 Hz or above, and should be at least 25% greater than the highest equipment rotation rate. Mounts should be located at points of high stiffness, i.e. at large stiffeners, on both the floating deck and foundation (this is similar to resilient mounting of individual equipment items).

It is noted that while the primary purpose of using a floating deck is to reduce noise from the FSB path, SSB noise resulting from excitation of the deck will also be reduced since the real deck is shielded from airborne noise.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Resilient mounts typically cost on the order of \$20-\$2000, depending on the mount and quantity. Additional costs apply regarding the design and construction of the floating deck. Mounts should be replaced every 10 years (or according to manufacturer's recommendations).
- Other Non-acoustic Impacts: See MV1.
- <u>Vendors</u>: See MV1 for mounts. Floating deck structure typically can be made by the shipyard.

(MV3a) Damping Tiles

Notes on Treatment: Damping treatments work by absorbing vibration energy through shear motion. Damping is effective when applied to thin plates; application to stiffeners or beam-only structures has a reduced effect. Damping tiles are applied to the middle 70% of plating between stiffeners. Tiles are glued in place. Application usually takes place during vessel construction, prior to equipment installation. Damping tiles are usually applied in thicknesses from 0.5 – 1.5 times the local plating thickness. Effectiveness will depend on several factors such as the ratio of tile to plating thickness, damping properties of the tile, tile stiffness, location of application, plating material, and use of a constraining layer (see below). Overall reductions of 5-10+ dB can be seen for properly designed installations. Note that some increase in radiation efficiency can result from the use of damping tiles, resulting in lower than expected effectiveness based on reduction in vibration level alone.

Damping treatments are generally of two varieties: constrained and unconstrained. Unconstrained damping consists only of the damping material that is directly attached to plate structures. Constrained damping uses an additional steel or aluminum plate on top of the damping material. The constraining plate thickness is typically 0.5x the thickness of the structural base material.

Constrained (a.k.a. "constrained layer") damping can be more effective at reducing vibration levels than unconstrained damping, at the cost of additional weight. Not all damping materials are appropriate for constrained damping installations.

Appropriate locations for application will vary depending on the specific situation. For single hull vessels (including drillships), application of tiles to the side shell and areas around significant machinery items will likely be most effective (some locations are restricted, see 'Other Impacts' below). For semisubmersibles, damping may be appropriate in legs above water line, and possibly near major machinery items.

It is noted that damping treatments are effective at reducing noise from FSB paths, although some reduction for AB and SSB paths are possible as well.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Material costs are on the order of \$5 \$15 per square foot, depending on tile thickness. Additional costs will be incurred for installation and engineering, as well as additional material costs for constrained layer damping.
- *Environmental Impacts*: When burned, tiles produce toxic fumes. For vessels, increased weight may reduce fuel efficiency.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased weight Tiles are roughly 96 lb/ft³ (1540 kg/m³), or 2.7 lb/ft² (13 kg/m²) for a 0.35" (8.9 mm) thick tile. Depending on coverage, the weight increase can be significant. Some restrictions exist regarding possible locations of damping tiles. Damping tiles can not be located in living spaces, fuel oil tanks, or potable water tanks. Tiles will disintegrate over time if in direct contact with petroleum products.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Beranek (1988), Nashif (1995), Jones (2001).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Primary vendor of damping tiles for US Navy vessels is EAR Specialty Composites. Other vendors include American Acoustical Products, BRD Noise and Vibration Control, DB Engineering, MSC, PPG, Sorbothane, Soundcoat, Technicon.

(MV3b) Spray-on Damping

 <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: See notes for MV3a. Spray-on treatments are provided by several vendors, each with varying effectivensses. Spray-on treatments have several advantages over damping tiles, in that they are generally lighter (for the same application), easier to apply, and often can be applied even after machinery has been installed or as a retro-fit. Many spray-on materials are also non-toxic. The effectiveness of spray-on treatments will vary, but it can be expected that such treatments will have similar or lower performance to damping tiles. Spray-on thicknesses vary, as do application methods, but it is common for spray-on damping treatments to be applied in more than one stage (i.e. a fraction of final thickness per application).

Similar to damping tiles, spray-on damping treatments have limitations as to where they can be applied. Typically, they can not be immersed in water, and exposure to oil should be limited. It is possible to add a polyurethane, latex or epoxy layer to protect against oils and greases. Application typically requires a cleaning of the application surface with a solvent such as diluted vinegar and water.

It is possible to use constrained layer damping (See MV3a) with spray on treatments, however this is far less common.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Material costs are estimated at \$10-30 per square foot. Actual costs will depend on coverage area, applied thickness, and quantity pricing. Additional costs will be incurred for application.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Surface cleaning preparation typically involves use of a solvent.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Increased weight Spray-on damping treatments can add significant weight, although increases are less than what would be found for damping tiles (MV3a). Some restrictions exist for possible damping locations.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: See MV3a.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Mascoat (http://www.mascoat.com), Quiet Solution (http://www.quietsolution.com).

(MV4) Ballast-Crete

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Ballast-Crete is a thixotropic ballast material (is capable of being pumped) that is used in lieu of conventional liquid ballast. The material provides greatly enhanced damping of structures in contact with the material. When used in appropriate locations, such as in wing tanks or other areas between machinery and the ocean, damping effects have the potential to significantly reduce underwater noise.

It is noted that underwater noise reductions have not been directly measured. However measured reductions in vibration level are indicative of reduced underwater noise potential. Further study would be needed to better quantify reductions.

Ballast-Crete is available in densities from 200-450 pcf. Higher density material generally provides better damping.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Cost varies depending on density and quantity. The following pricing was provided by the vendor:
 - 100 tons of 200 pcf : \$150,000
 - 1000 tons of 200 pcf : \$250,000
 - 5000 tons of 200 pcf : \$900,000
 - 1500 tons of 300 pcf : \$1.6m
 - At higher densities the price increases significantly because of the cost of raw materials.
- *Environmental Impacts*: When necessary, material should be properly disposed. Material is inorganic and contains no toxic compounds. pH is approximately 12.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: May not be appropriate for all situations. Analysis is recommended to determine suitability. Material is heavy. Can not be dumped into ocean.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fischer (Workshop).
- <u>Vendors</u>: BC Technical, Inc. (Contact: Robert Chester, bchester.bct@verizon.net)

(MV5) Air Masking System

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A layer of small bubbles is produced that extends along some portion of the vessel's hull, creating an acoustical impedance mismatch that blocks sound transmission into the open ocean. The concept of bubble curtains is provided in Item PD1a in Pile Driving Treatments. A belt is applied to the hull of the ship with small holes for bubble emission, as seen in Figure PT12. Additional construction information is given in (DND, 1979). The bubble curtain must begin forward of any major machinery or noise producing items so that the bubbles can extend towards the rear of the vessel. Coverage of the entire vessel may not be necessary in all cases. Large vessels may need only partial coverage closer to machinery sources because influence far from sources is minimal. Small vessels may require nearly full hull coverage to avoid flanking paths. Multiple air curtain 'stages' or sets of injection points may be necessary for some vessels in order to ensure uniform coverage.

The effectiveness is seen to be good at higher frequencies, with noise reductions of 10 dB or more being possible. Increases in level at frequencies below 80 Hz are also possible. It is noted that the effectiveness of this treatment is derived from measurements of airborne noise on-board vessels over or near the propeller; in these situations air emission systems have been implemented over the propeller to reduce on-board noise. These results are also applicable to transmission from the vessel to the

water, assuming proper design of the masker system. Underwater measurements of vessels using masker systems were not identified.

Bubbles are sometimes produced from a compressor and/or blower located on-board. Gray (1979) suggests an alternate, natural emitter of air bubbles using a special structure that protrudes from the hull. NCE has had similar experience with natural emission systems; these systems require vessels speeds of 20 knots or more. Mechanical delivery systems are needed for slower speeds.

Bubbles should not enter the inflow of the propeller; cavitation and added noise, as well as decreases in propulsion efficiency, will result. The vessel must be underway to allow bubbles to sweep along the vessel's hull. Sonar transducers must be mounted forward of the bubble sheet or else sonar operation during bubble usage will be compromised.

Matveev (2004) discusses an alternative arrangement where the vessel is designed with a large cavity in the vessel's bottom into which a large volume of air can be pumped ("Air Cavity Ships" or ACS). The air layer can reduce noise transmitted into the water from the hull, and has the added beneficial effect of reducing drag by 15-30%. Power consumption of the air injection system is estimated at 3% of total propulsion power. The low frequency performance of this system may be improved relative to conventional masker systems due to the (potential) increased thickness of the air layer. It is noted that some portion of the hull remains in contact with ACS systems; location and extent of the air cavity must be carefully selected to balance drag reductions with acoustical performance.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Material costs for conventional masker systems include air compressors, blowers, piping, injectors, etc. Engineering and installation costs are estimated to be in the range of \$20,000-\$50,000 or more depending on the system and configuration. Cleaning and maintenance costs can also be significant (see below). ACS systems need to be integrated in the vessel design, and therefore may not add significantly to the total cost of the vessel.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Holes for bubbles have been shown to be subject to fouling. Regular cleaning is absolutely necessary in order to keep system functioning. ACS may be less susceptible to fouling.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Gray (1979), DND (1979), DTNSRDC (1981), Matveev (2004), Matveev (2005).

(MV6) Decoupling Materials

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Decoupling materials are treatments that are applied to the exterior surface of the vessel's hull and decrease its radiation efficiency (i.e. less sound is radiated for the same vibration level). Effectiveness is similar to air bubble masker systems since the fundamental mechanisms at work are similar. The decoupling material is typically a foam rubber, polyethylene

foam, or other similar compliant material. The material as a whole creates an acoustic impedance mismatch, blocking sound transmission.

These treatments do not necessarily increase damping effects; in such cases changes to vibration level will be minimal. The coating should be compliant, thus acting to isolate the water from the vibrating surface. However, compression of the material under static water loads should be considered when selecting a material. Thicker coatings will generally produce larger reductions in sound.

Brown (1974) suggests using a layer of closed cell neoprene foam cemented directly to the hull. A layer of solid neoprene can be applied over the foam layer for protection. Hamm (1996) presents data from tests performed in a laboratory where a 3/8" (9.5 mm) sheet of decoupling material was applied to a 3/8" thick steel plate. The data show effectiveness between 10 and 30 dB at frequencies above 800 Hz, with 0-10 dB reductions from roughly 100-800 Hz. Some increase in sound is seen below this frequency.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Material costs are on the order of \$25-\$100 per square foot. Additional costs will be incurred for installation and engineering.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Treatment must remain fixed to vessel's hull.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Treatments will add some weight to the vessel. Maintenance has been cited as an issue. Tiles may be prone to falling off, and therefore regular maintenance and inspection is required.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Brown (1974), Sandman (1995), Hamm (1996), Fischer (Workshop)
- <u>Vendors</u>: Many are possible, e.g. DOW, Rubatex.

(MV7) Low Noise Machinery

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Often, machinery that has lower vibration levels can be selected from certain manufacturers. The reasons for lower noise machinery vary, but often have to do with manufacturing quality, tolerances, and overall design. Differences in machinery source levels will vary, but differences of 5 dB are common (for machinery of the same type). Differences of 10 dB or more are also found, particularly when a machinery item is poorly made. Larger differences can be seen for machinery of different types. For example, reciprocating pumps are generally much louder and more vibroactive than screw pumps. Selecting machinery with low noise levels does not have any additional impacts on space or weight.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Higher quality machinery will often cost more, but not always. Costs of 1-5x can be expected.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fischer (1983), Fischer (2001), Fischer (Workshop)

AVAILABILITY (N) Now **EFFECTIVENESS*** (F) Future COST PER **REF #** TREATMENT NAME **BRIEF DESCRIPTION** UNIT (FF) Far Future Frequency Reduction Range 30 – 125 Hz \$100-5-20 dB **Exhaust Silencers** Reduces noise from exhaust stacks. Ν MA1 10-30 dB >125 Hz \$20,000+ When applied to boundaries of machinery -3 - 3 + dB<125 Hz Fiberglass / Mineral Wool / \$0.75 - \$4 per MA2 space, noise from AB and SSB paths are 0 - 25 + dB125 - 1000 HzΝ "HTL" Cladding square foot reduced 15 – 35 dB >1000 Hz An enclosure is used to surround the -3 – 5 dB <125 Hz \$20-\$50k+ MA3 Machinery Enclosures machinery item to block and absorb 5 - 30 dB125 - 500 HzDepending on Ν airborne noise 25 - 35 dB>500 Hz size 5-20+ dB, Low – can be Blocks airborne transmission into the Barriers All constructed MA4 depending on Ν water implementation on-site >500 Hz >10 dB Air bubble curtain is used to shield vessel Est. \$20.000 -MA5 Air Masking System Ν hull from rest of ocean. See MV5 0-10 dB Increase 20-80 Hz \$50,000+ Est 1-5x Equipment that creates low vibration Varies, 5 dB is MA6 Low Noise Equipment All noisier Ν levels is selected common equipment

SECTION MA: MACHINERY AIRBORNE AND SECONDARY STRUCTUREBORNE TREATMENTS

*Effectiveness is for treated item / path only. If other sources are significant or dominate the underwater noise signature, total noise reduction will be less than what is quoted here.

(MA1) Exhaust Silencers

 <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Silencers are used to reduce airborne noise which can be transferred to the water. Silencers are located inline with diesel and turbine exhaust ducting. Silencers are passive devices that absorb sound, and can reduce airborne levels by 10-30 dB above 125 Hz (smaller reductions are also seen below this frequency. Spark arresting silencers are generally required for marine and offshore applications. A picture of a typical silencer is provided below.

FIGURE MA1: Typical Exhaust Silencer (www.silex.com)



- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs will vary from \$100-\$20,000+ depending on size and manufacturer.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increased pressure loss may have an impact on fuel efficiency.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Exhaust system will have increased pressure drop. Pressure drop will depend on the specific silencer but can be expected to be on order of 2-16 inches of water. Acoustic effectiveness is often directly related to pressure drop. Silencers generally have larger diameters than the attached ducting, so sufficient clearances will need to be provided.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Kinetics Noise Control (www.kineticsnoise.com), Industrial Acoustics (www.industrialacoustics.com), Silex (www.silex.com), Stoddard Silencers (www.stoddardsilencersinc.com), Universal Silencers (www.universal-silencer.com), Vibro-Acoustics (www.vibro-acoustics.com).

(MA2) Cladding Materials

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Cladding materials are used to 'block' and absorb sound to prevent airborne transmission into the water and secondary structureborne excitation of nearby structures. Cladding materials include fiberglass and mineral wool treatments in densities ranging from 3 pcf to 7 pcf or more. High Transmission Loss or "HTL" treatments consist of a 'mass layer', typically a sheet of 1.5 mm barium sulfate, which is located between two layers of fiberglass insulation.

The approximate effectiveness of these treatments vs. frequency is given in the table above. In general, effectiveness increases with increasing frequency. Thicker treatments will have more effectiveness than thinner treatments, as will denser treatments (for this reason, mineral wool is generally more effective than fiberglass). HTL treatments have a slight acoustical performance increase compared to mineral wool with the same overall thickness. This improvement is a few dB in the 1000-4000 Hz range. However, this additional effectiveness comes at a price of increased mass and installation complexity.

Cladding treatments can have very good overall effectiveness in reducing AB and SSB paths. SSB noise reduction may be compromised since cladding treatments can not be used on the deck. Damping or other treatments such as floating decks may be necessary in order to minimize this flanking path.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Fiberglass and mineral wool material costs range from \$0.75-\$4.00 per square foot. HTL materials costs are higher. Installation and engineering costs will also be incurred.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Insulation materials can be hazardous if inhaled. Direct contact with skin should be avoided.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Some increase in mass will result, depending on the extent of treatment application and thickness. Use of cladding treatments will reduce effective size of space. This is typically a minimal issue in machinery spaces.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Johns Manville (www.jm.com), Owens Corning (www.owenscorning.com), Reilly Benton International (www.reillybenton.com), Rockwool (www.rockwool-marine.com).

(MA3) Machinery Enclosures

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Enclosures are structures that are made to surround a specific machinery item for the purpose of blocking and absorbing airborne noise. Enclosures must completely surround the machinery and can not contain holes or gaps where sound can 'leak' though. Penetrations in the enclosure must be properly gasketed, sealed, or otherwise treated. The interior of the enclosure should be lined with fiberglass or mineral wool insulation to provide additional acoustical absorption. The enclosure should be isolated from the machinery to prevent structureborne transmission and reduction of enclosure effectiveness. Openings for intake or exhaust of cooling air should be fitted with silencers with transmission losses equal to or greater than that of the enclosure partitions. Enclosure partitions should be as far as possible from the machinery itself (preferred minimum distance on the order of 1 meter).

While enclosures are an effective method at reducing airborne noise (and subsequently SSB noise) at frequencies above 125 Hz, they are often cumbersome to implement in marine applications. As noted above, all penetrations must be properly sealed so the enclosure's effectiveness is not compromised. This can sometimes be problematic for issues relating to air flow and cooling.

Similarly, the enclosure must be designed to allow for regular maintenance access, and panels must be replaced after maintenance is complete (this often does not occur in practice).

When compared to cladding materials (fiberglass and mineral wool – see MA2) enclosures have slightly increased effectiveness and reduced weight impacts. However, the location of enclosures is usually more difficult to accommodate than cladding treatments, and installation and maintenance are more difficult.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs will vary depending n the size of the enclosure. For a typical diesel generator, costs can be in the \$20-\$50k+ range.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: A significant engineering effort is required to properly design and install a machinery enclosure. Enclosures require a significant amount of space, which may be problematic for small machinery rooms on vessels or other locations.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fischer (1983).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Industrial Acoustics Company (www.industrialacoustics.com), Acoustical Surfaces Inc. (www.acousticalsurfaces.com)

(MA4) Barriers

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A barrier is essentially a wall or other solid surface that blocks noise traveling in a direct path from a source to receiver. In this case, the receiver would be the water, and would thus only be applicable for sources located outdoors with a line-of-sight path to the ocean. Furthermore, the angle of incidence (i.e. angle between the direction of the propagating sound wave and the ocean surface) must be less than ~13 degrees. See Figure 9 in Section 3.2.10 for additional details. This arrangement may occur for offshore platforms where machinery is located close to the platform edge or if there is an open grating below the machinery with a line-of-sight to the ocean.

The effectiveness of a barrier is largely dependent on its physical extents and proximity to the machinery. Larger barriers will provide greater effectiveness. See Figure MA4 below. Also, See Fischer (1983) for additional design information.

Barriers are generally made out of materials similar to those used for other parts of the structure – stiffened steel plating is common for marine and offshore applications. The only acoustical constraint on the material is its transmission loss should not be less than the effectiveness of the barrier (effectiveness here would be computed as if the barrier were infinitely stiff and massive). If penetrations in the barrier are needed for piping, etc., such penetrations will need to be properly sealed.

FIGURE MA4: Barrier Effectiveness



OCEAN

This is a sketch showing the implementation of a barrier. The barrier is placed between the acoustic source (machinery) and the receiver (ocean, within a 13 degree incident angle 'cone'). The majority of the sound is blocked by the barrier, although some sound does still travel to the receiver due to refraction around the barrier edges. Larger barriers will result in greater effectiveness.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Costs will vary, but no special materials are needed to construct a barrier. Cost is estimated to be low for most installations. Some engineering costs apply.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Barrier will take up space. However, in some cases this impact can be minimized. Some additional weight will be seen.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Fischer (1983).

(MA5) Air Masker

• *Notes on Treatment*: See MV5. Note that extent of coverage for AB paths is less than what would be required for FSB and SSB paths.

(MA6) Low Noise Equipment

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: See MV6.

SECTION FB: FLUIDBORNE TREATMENTS

REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
			Reduction	Frequency Range	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
FB1	Resilient Piping Connections	Resilient in-line piping connections	0-20 dB 30-50 dB (dogleg)	<200 Hz >200 Hz	\$100 - \$2000 Depending on Size and qty	Ν
FB2a	Pulsation Dampers – In-Line	An air bladder connected in-line with pipe to absorb acoustic energy	~10+ dB	>180 Hz	Approx \$600+ per unit	Ν
FB2b	Pulsation Dampers – Parallel	An air bladder connected in-line with pipe to absorb acoustic energy	20-30+ dB	Single 'tuned' Frequency	\$800 - \$2500	Ν

(FB1) Resilient Piping Connections

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Flexible piping connections can reduce underwater noise in sea connected systems by reducing the in-pipe sound levels. The flexible piping creates an impedance mismatch which can be effective at reducing both fluidborne levels and flanking vibrations that may be present in the pipe. Flexible piping is generally soft in the lateral directions but stiff in the longitudinal direction. Because of this, flexible connections should be assembled in a dogleg configuration. Flexible piping can be made from simple (or wire mesh reinforced) rubber hose, or 'single arch' or 'double arch' pieces. Examples are provided in Figures FB1(1) and FB1(2).





For a 'dogleg' configuration, two flexible pipe sections are oriented 90 degrees to each other. This allows for maximum flexibility in all directions, and reduces fluidborne and vibration transmission. Flexible pipe can be straight tube (as seen above), double arch couplings (as seen in Figure FB1(2)), or other similar items.

FIGURE FB1(2): Example of Double Arch Piece (www.flexhose.com)



Typical flexible connections will significantly reduce high frequency underwater radiated noise. Insertion losses vary depending on the specific arrangement, materials used, static pressure, and whether acoustic or mechanical excitation is dominant. Dogleg configurations can have noise reductions up to double those seen for single element installations, and increases in noise can be seen at low frequencies for straight element arrangements (White, 1973). Straight flexible tubing in a dogleg configuration generally performs best at higher pressures, although this takes the most space. Arch piece connectors perform well overall, however special attention should be paid to the control rods – these can provide flanking paths for vibration and should be sufficiently isolated from the rest of the connection.

The following design guidance is provided when using flexible connections, based on NAVSHIPS (1974):

For a flexible hose dogleg system, the free length (that length of hose unconstrained by clamps, fittings, nipples, spigggots, etc.) should be at least equal to 18.0 cm plus 4 hose diameters for each leg. While dogleg configurations are preferred, double arch hose are generally acceptable. Single right angle hose configurations are permissible provided they are at least equal in length to the dog leg configuration and the hose manufacturer's minimum bend ratio is not exceeded.

Flex hose installations should have a heavy rigid pipe hanger support at the equipment end of the configuration attached to the equipment sub-base. A similar support should be attached to the opposite side of the hose and firmly attached to a structural frame. If needed, a resilient pipe support can be used at the 90 degree bend of the dogleg.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: Flexible connectors range from \$100 to \$2000 depending on size, type, and quantity.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Flexible hose dogleg configurations can require a large amount of space depending on pipe sizes.
- <u>References and Additional Information</u>: Purshouse (1986), White (1973), NAVSHIPS (1974).
- <u>Vendors</u>: Unaflex (www.unaflex.com), Flexicraft Industries (www.flexicraft.com), Straub (www.straub-couplings.com), Flexhose Co. Inc. (www.flexhose.com)

(FB2a) Pulsation Dampers – In-Line

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: In-line pulsation dampers are acoustical absorbers that are located in-line with a fluid filled pipe. In-line dampers typically use an air filled bladder that reacts to pulsations in the fluid. A picture of an in-line damper is provided below:



FIGURE FB2a: In-line Pulsation Damper (Wilkes and McLean)

Data from the manufacturer indicates that pulsation amplitudes, such as those created by pump blade rate, can be reduced by as much as 20 dB, although other sources cite lower effectiveness (Jamieson, 1996). In-line dampers have been shown to reduce pulsations at frequencies above 180 Hz, and it is assumed that higher frequencies will show better attenuation.

• *Description of Estimated Costs*: Material costs are approximately \$600 per unit.

NCE Report 07-001 Noise Control Engineering, Inc.

• <u>Vendors</u>: Wilkes and McLean, Ltd. (www.wilkesandmclean.com), CoorsTek (www.coorstek.com)

(FB2b) Pulsation Dampers – Parallel

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Parallel pulsation dampers are similar to in-line dampers in function, except they are attached to the pipe as a 'branch'. Parallel dampers are tuned to have a resonant frequency, and thus work only at that one frequency. This frequency can be selected to be the rotation rate or blade rate of a pump, for example. Their effectiveness at this frequency can be large. Parallel dampers also have the potential to operate effectively at lower frequencies than in-line dampers. A picture of a parallel damper is provided below. Note that there is a minimal pressure drop associated with this type of pulsation damper.



FIGURE FB2b: Parallel Pulsation Damper (Flexicraft Industries)

• *Description of Estimated Costs*: Material costs are \$800 - \$2500 per unit.

- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Some engineering analysis will be required to identify the proper location, size, and design of the damper.
- <u>Vendors</u>: Flexicraft Industries (www.flexicraft.com)
SECTION HC: HOVERCRAFT TREATMENTS

REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
			Reduction	Frequency Range	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
HC1	Optimization of Airflow	Attempt to make airflow into and out of propulsion and lift fans uniform	Est 0-10+ dB	O/A	Engineering costs dominant. Some additional manufacturing costs may result	Ν
HC2	Modified Blade Profiles	Fan blade profile can be contoured for better performance in a given airflow field	Est 0-10+ dB	O/A	Engineering costs dominant. Some additional manufacturing costs may result	Ν

(HC1) Optimization of Airflow

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Airflow into and out of the propulsion and lift fans should be as uniform as possible. This is often not 100% possible given the existence of other structures in the path of the airflow, particularly for propulsion fan intakes. Through detailed airflow analysis, such obstructions can be moved or contoured to allow for better airflow characteristics resulting in improved fan performance and lower noise.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: No additional material costs are likely. Engineering costs will be incurred due to additional analysis, however this can be performed for an entire class of vessels. Some manufacturing costs may increase due to specialized design requirements.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in fan performance may result thereby lowering environmental impacts.
- <u>Vendors (Designers)</u>: NAB & Associates (nab@nabassociates.net)

(HC2) Modified Blade Profiles

- <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Similar to ship propellers, fan blade profiles can be contoured to better match air inflow and outflow characteristics. Alternative blade designs can reduce airborne noise which would in turn reduce underwater noise. Improved fan performance may also result, depending on the specific design.
- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: No additional material costs are likely, although some modified manufacturing techniques may be necessary for some extreme blade geometries. Engineering costs will be incurred due to additional analysis, however this can be performed for an entire class of vessels. Some manufacturing costs may increase due to specialized design requirements.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Increases in fan performance may result thereby reducing environmental impacts. Reductions in efficiency are also possible.
- <u>Vendors (Designers)</u>: NAB & Associates (nab@nabassociates.net)

SECTION AC: AIRCRAFT TREATMENTS

REF #	TREATMENT NAME	BRIEF DESCRIPTION	EFFECTIVENESS			AVAILABILITY
			Reduction	Frequency Range	COST PER UNIT	(N) Now (F) Future (FF) Far Future
AC1	Hush Kit	A silencer used for quieting jet engine noise	7-10 dB	O/A**	\$2,000,000 per engine	Ν
AC2	New Aircraft	Replacement of older aircraft for new, quiet aircraft	Possible reductions of 10+ dB	O/A	Cost of new airplane	Ν
AC3	Modified Blade Design	Design of reduced noise propellers and rotors for prop planes and helicopters	Possible reductions of 3 to 10+ dB	O/A	Minimal Material Cost	Ν

** See details below

(AC1) Hush Kit

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: A 'hush kit' is a silencer that is outfitted to the exhaust, and sometimes the intake, of a jet engine. Many models simply bolt onto the engine housing, although some installations may require the removal of thrust reversers (typically replacements are integrated into the system). An example of a hush kit installation is provided in Figure AC1 below.

Hush Kits require relatively low maintenance. Inspections and minor 'tune ups' such as greasing of bearings can be performed under normal turbine maintenance schedules.

FIGURE AC1: Hush Kit Example (www.qtaerospace.com)



The hush kit is seen on the rear (left) portion of the engine. It is seen that hush kits can be designed to work with thrust reversers.

Noise reductions cited in table above were taken from Stage III Technologies (http://www.stageiii.com/). Note that while these levels are listed as being "overall" reductions, they may in fact be dB(A) level reductions. This is based on the fact that these kits are used primarily to reduce noise disturbances in humans. Actual reductions vs. frequency were not found.

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Material costs are roughly \$2M per kit.
- *Environmental Impacts*: Some loss in efficiency of engine will result. 0 1.5% increase in fuel requirement is reported.
- <u>Other Non-acoustic Impacts</u>: Minor addition to weight of aircraft. Associated reduction in cargo capacity.

• <u>Vendors</u>: Quiet Technology Aerospace (http://www.qtaerospace.com/), Stage III Technologies (http://www.stageiii.com/)

(AC2) New Aircraft

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Newer aircraft are being designed to radiate lower airborne noise levels. This is due to implementations of new noise regulations from international government authorities over the past 20 years. These regulations call-out specific noise criteria based various factors such as type of craft, size, number of engines, etc. Details on US regulations are published in FAA (2001). Under these rules, many aircraft had to meet the strictest ("Stage 3") requirements by the year 2000.

Furthermore, there has been a significant effort to analyze and reduce noise from jet engines by NASA. Huff (2005) provides an overview of the modeling and measurements along with techniques for making jet engines inherently quieter. Reductions of 10 dB are stared as goals.

It is noted that these reductions are focused on reducing levels found to be annoying to humans, and may be only partially applicable to frequencies of concern for marine life. (Human hearing is most sensitive between 500 and 8000 Hz).

- *Description of Estimated Costs*: Costs primarily include those associated with buying a new airplane.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Huff (2005) indicates further work is needed to apply noise control without reducing jet velocity. There is also a potential for enhanced performance when replacing old aircraft, reducing environmental impacts.
- <u>*References and Additional Information*</u>: Kearsey (1992), FAA (2001), Huff (2005), http://www.nasa.gov/centers/glenn/about/fs03grc.html

(AC3) Modified Blade Design

• <u>Notes on Treatment</u>: Similar to ship propellers, propeller blade and rotor profiles can be contoured to better match air inflow and outflow characteristics. Alternative blade designs can reduce airborne noise which would in turn reduce underwater noise. Specifically for helicopters, incorporating features in the main rotor such as different tip geometries, blade twist, advanced airfoils, increased chord lengths, and lowering the tip Mach number, have been suggested (Nagaraja, 1992). Such modifications can result in 0-5 dB improvements. NOTAR (NO TAil Rotor) and 'Fan-In-Fin' designs which use a ducted fan to replace the tail rotor have also been suggested by JanakiRam (1992); 0-7 dB improvements have been shown for the NOTAR design. A diagram showing the NoTAR concept is provided below. Modifications to rotor blade spacing have been shown to reduce noise levels at blade rate and harmonics, although this noise reduction comes at a price of reduced fuel efficiency.



FIGURE AC3: Diagram of NoTAR Concept (JanakiRam, 1992)

In the NoTAR helicopter design, the tail rotor is completely removed and is replaced with an internal fan which blows air down the tail. This air can then be directed in various ways to provide stability and control of the craft.

- <u>Description of Estimated Costs</u>: No additional material costs are likely for propeller and rotor modifications, although some modified manufacturing techniques may be necessary for some extreme blade geometries. Engineering costs will be incurred due to additional analysis; however this can be performed once for an entire class of aircraft. Costs are not known for NoTAR implementation.
- <u>Environmental Impacts</u>: Some decrease in fuel efficiency is possible for some designs. Other designs may increase efficiency and performance.
- <u>Additional Information</u>: Nagaraja (1992), JanakiRam (1992)

APPENDIX B – Workshop Announcement



Workshop and Review of Noise Reduction Technologies Capable of Reducing Underwater Acoustical Footprints

Boston Marriott Burlington

June 4-5, 2007

Focusing on technologies capable of reducing underwater sound from oil and gas industry activities



Organized by Noise Control Engineering, Inc. Funded by the International Association of Oil and Gas Producers



Noise Control Engineering welcomes you to participate in a discussion of the various sound reduction techniques that are currently being used to reduce underwater noise, and potential technologies for the future. The workshop will review various options for reducing noise from all facets of oil and gas industry activities, including noise generated by vessels, seismic exploration, pile driving, platforms, and more. Discussions of these treatments will be aimed at identifying the most effective methods of noise reduction that are feasible with a minimum of non-acoustical drawbacks.

Boston Marriott Burlington One Mall Road (Rt 128 & 3A) Burlington, Massachusetts 01803 USA http://marriott.com/property/propertypage/BOSBU

The Marriott is located 22 miles northwest of Boston's Logan Airport. Special room rates of \$159.00 per night have been reserved for attendees of this workshop. When booking a room at the Marriott, be sure to use code "NSLNSLA" to receive the reduced rate. The reduced rate is guaranteed only until May 16th so please make your reservation soon. You can book online at **www.burlingtonmarriott.com**

For questions and to reserve your seat at this workshop, please e-mail Jesse Spence, jesse@noise-control.com

		SCHEDULE				
Day 1 —	08:00 A/	Continental Breakfast				
	09:00 AN	Introductory Remarks and Overview Bill Streever (BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc.), Jesse Spence (Noise Control Engineering)				
	09:30 AM	Seismic Exploration Presenters include Jeremy Nedwell (Subacoustech), Rune Tenghamn (Petroleum Geo-Services), Bjorn Askeland (University of Bergen, Norway), and Tom McGee (University of Mississippi Center for Marine Resources and Environmental Technology)				
	10:30 AM	Break (Coffee and refreshments)				
	10:45 AM	Continuation of Seismic Exploration				
		Lunch Buffet				
	01:30 PM	Pile Driving Presenters include Klaus Lucke (Forschungs- und Technologiezentrum Westkueste), William Ellison (Marine Acoustics, Inc.), John Micketts (Gunderboom), Michael Carter (Giken)				
03:00 PM		Break (Coffee and refreshments)				
	03:30 PM	Continuation of Pile Driving				
	04:15 PM	Explosives				
		Reception (Light fare with open bar)				
	06:00 PM	ose of Day 1				
Day 2 —						
•	08:00 AM	Continental Breakfast				
	09:00 AM	Vessels (Tankers, Icebreakers, OSVs, PSVs, Work Boats, Crew Boats) Presenters include Brandon Southall (NOAA), Neal Brown (NAB Associates), and Ray Fischer (Noise Control Engineering)				
	10:30 AM	Break (Coffee and refreshments)				
	11:00 AM	Continuation of Vessels				
	11:30 AM	Dredges and Post Jetting / Trenching				
	12:30 PM	Lunch Buffet				
	01:30 PM	Production and Drilling Platforms, including fixed platforms, semisubmersibles, drillships, FSPOs, deep water floating platforms, caissons, and gravel islands.				
	03:00 PM	Break (Coffee and refreshments)				
	03:30 PM	Continuation of Production and Drilling Platforms				
	04:30 PM	Aircraft and Hovercraft				
	04:45 PM	A Closing Remarks Bill Streever (BP Exploration (Alaska) Inc.)				
	05:00 1	PM Close of Day 2				
		Schedule and presenters subject to change.				

APPENDIX C – Descriptions of Various Metrics

The following is a brief description of the various metrics that are mentioned in this report.

Energy Flux Density – This is essentially the same as Sound Exposure Level (SEL), although it is sometimes presented in non-decibel format. The equation for calculation would then be

$$EFD = \int_{T_1}^{T_2} p^2(t) dt$$

Impulse (See Saint-Arnaud, 2004) – This metric is calculated using the following formula:

$$I = \int_{T_1}^{T_2} p(t) dt$$

The integral is commonly taken over the initial positive pressure peak only. It is noted that underpressures (i.e. pressures less than 0) would reduce this value, while overpressures would increase it. This is in contrast to Energy Flux Density or SEL where the pressure is squared, and so any perturbation would cause an increase in level.

Overall RMS Level – The root mean squared pressure level of a signal. This level accounts for all frequency components that may be present. RMS levels are converted to decibels using the formula $20*log(|p_{RMS}|/p_{ref})$ where p_{ref} is the reference pressure, 1 µPa for water. P_{RMS} can be calculated using the formula

$$p_{RMS} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{T_2 - T_1} \int_{T_1}^{T_2} p^2(t) dt}$$

Peak Level – The absolute maximum or minimum level seen for a given sound event. Peak levels are converted to decibels using the formula $20*log(|p_{peak}|/p_{ref})$ where p_{ref} is the reference pressure, 1 µPa for water.

Pulse Length – The time it takes for an impulse to accumulate 90% of its total energy.

Rise Time – The time it takes an impulsive signal to go from background levels to absolute peak level. An example is given below (Laughlin, 2005a).



Sound Exposure Level (SEL) – The summation of acoustic pressure squared produced by a single event. It is calculated using the formula

$$SEL = 10 * \log \left(\int_{T_1}^{T_2} \left(\frac{p(t)}{p_{ref}} \right)^2 dt \right)$$

This metric is used as an indication of total energy. This is also sometimes referred to as the Sound Energy Accumulation. In practice, it is common to select the beginning and end times T_1 and T_2 to encompass the middle 90% of the acoustic energy, thereby removing the first and last 5%.

Sound Pressure Level (SPL) – Calculated as SPL = 20 log ($|p|/p_{ref}$), where p_{ref} is the reference pressure, 1 µPa for water. This can be used to calculate overall RMS levels and levels at specific frequencies or in defined frequency bands.